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OraSure Technologies’ global
headguariers, in Bethlehem,
Pennsylvania, is home to our
corporate offices, research and
development, sales and marketing,
and manufacturing functions.
Approximately 250 employees
work in our Bethlehem facilities,
doing their part to help us make
a difference in the fives of so
marny people.
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Special thanks for participation in the preparation of this annual report go to:
Kristen Bium, Debra Chung, Mima DiPano, Gary Feiss, Joe Gunderlack, Priti Karnik,
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In The Lives Of So Mény People

Letter to Stockholders

Itis a pleasure to inform you that 2006 was another good year for
our Company. However, before reporting on our accomplishments
and detailing the progress we have made toward the achievement
of our long-terra strategic objectives, | would like first to express rny
heartfelt thanks to every one of our employees for their hard n{ork
and dedication!

Every new tecl/rnology we develop and product we Iaunch could not //
* happen wrthout the hard work and day-to-day commrtrnent ofour -
' employees | am proud that our organization consrstently addresses
" thesei rmportant responsrbrlrtres with boundless determination and
- energy. Each of our employees has my respect and admiration, for it
"is their efforts that help us make a drfference in the lives of so many
people every da’y

When | think at}out the number of people we are helping, and the
many more we have the potential to help, | am driven to continue
making our life-changing products more accessible, each day, to more
people everywhere. Healthcare providers, organizations, cities, and
even countries, are embracing our vision for widespread rapid oral fluid
testing, and it is our mission to see that vision fully realized by

the continued p'ursuit of our three key strategc objectives.

First, we seek to build upon our base of strength by centinuing to grow
our businesses iln the markets we currently serve, and successfully launch
our current products into new markets, both domestically and abroad.
Second, we will continue to leverage our unique and proprietary oral
fluid technologies — and develop or acquire new technologies —

in point-of-care testing for infectious diseases and substance abuse.

And finally, we will devote significant effort and resources to areate an
over-the-counter (OTC) or consumer diagnostics business.
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rowth of our exrstrng business

Durrng 2006 we experienced continued strong growth in our infectious
disease and substance abuse testing businesses. This growth substantially
offset th[e disappointing performance of our cryosurgrcai products and the
flat sales in our insurance risk assessment husrr;ess

Sales of the OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid HIV- 172 antrbody test were
partrcularly robust in both the direct public healith an‘d’hosprtal markets,
‘as demand for this product increased significantly, Qur sales team
successfully expanded our customer hase and helped to launch several
broad-based HiV testing mrtratwes in the Unrted States We believe
these efforts, combined wrth the iew HIV testrng quidelines issued by
the Centers for Dlsease Control and Preventron (CDC) will form the
foundation for contmued growth in these maﬂcelts in 2007 and beyond.

Growth in our suhstance abuse busrness was also a hightlight in 2006.
Sales of our Intercept® oral fjurd drug testing products increased in all
markets as we continued to successfully convert customers from urine
drug testing to oral fluid. To maintain the competitiveness of our products
and help fuel future growth we entered into a relatronshrp with a major
diagnostics company to develop and commerclalrze new fully-automated
oral fluid drug assays for use with our Intercept" device.

Apart from our growth in :the United States, we ,continued to build our
business overseas. This was achieved in various countries by securing
numerous additional foreign registrations for Ol.Lr products and by
contracting with a number of new distributors. We also made substantial
progress toward obtainind requlatory approval o sell our OraQuick
ADVANCE? test in the European Union. We expect our growthto
accelerate in international markets in 2007 and beyond

Expanded point-of-care infectious disease testing

An important priority for the Campany has been to improve our
research and development capability and expand the pipeline of
products under development. During 2006, we successfully reorganized
the R&D Department and instituted an improv:ed product development
process. We recruited several additional scientists and program
management personnel and, as a result, now have several new
significant development prolects underway. At the same time, we

are providing substantrally improved technrcal support for our

existing products. .’
I

One very visible outcome from these efforts has been the outstanding
progress made in developrng a rapid Hepatrtrs C or HCV, test using our
OraQuick® platform. An advanced prototype test has been developed
which has shown performance comparable to Iab based HCV
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immunoassays currently on the market. Development of this
test is nearing completion, and we wil! initiate our dlinical trials soon.
We believe we will be the first to market with a state-of-the-ant r\apid
HCV test in the U.S. professional market.

AN .
Expanding our.consumer business
We are convinced that healthcare can improve dramatically if
rapid infectious disease testing is made widely and readily available.
The sooner that people learn their health status, the sooner they can
access the treatment needed for longer and healthier lives.

N,

Doug Michels,

OraSure Technologies’ President and
CEQ, is proud of the work OraSure
is doing to support the efforts

of healthcare professionals and

organizations committed to faster and

more accurate diagnosis and treatment
of illnesses araund the world.

We believe that our OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid HIV test, if made
available to consumers, will become an even more important weapon
in the fight against HIV/AIDS, Ir'\: ~2\006, we launched our efforts to
obtain FDA approval of our OraQuick ADVANCE® test for use in the
United States OTC market. This id a\.r:ignificant project that will rot
only provide substantial public health benefits, but also transform our
Company. We intend to devote the resources required for success.

During 2006, we also grew our OTC cryosurgery business, p}imarily .
in international markets and we expect that growth to continue. In
addition, we expect to stabilize our Umted S‘tates and Canadian OTC
cryosurgery businesses and successfully resolve our pendmg disputes
in this area.

A note of thanks ......

Before | close, | would also like to express my appreciation to our many
su\pponers, including in particular the agencies and officials that are
helping us expand hroad-scale HIV testiﬁg, to the many healthcare
professionals who believe in empoweriné as many peo\ple as possible
to know their health status, and to the mény organizations that
recognize the urgency and need for expanded rapid testing. | especially
want to thank each of our customers for their continued trust in our
org\anization and oar products. Achieving ouﬂr strategic goals would be
impo\s§ible without ouF‘supporters and customers who share our vision
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and work with us to change the way healthcare is delivered.

Finally, | want to thank our stockholders for their continued conftdence
and support, especially given the complex, regulated environment
and at times uncertain commercial markets in which we aperate.

. Your support is critical and very much Sppreciated.

On the pages that follow, we detail many aspects of OraSure
Technologies” performance, from financial results in 2006 to our
successes in executing our key strategic objectives. | believe you will be
pleased with our accomplishments and excited by the opportunities we
have identified to develop and deliver new products and technologies.
We are proud that our proucts are making such a difference in the U.S.
and around the world.

0

Douglas A. Michels
President and Chief Executive Officer

Statements set forth above and in this Annual Repart regarding future events or
perfarmance are "forward-looking statements,” and the Company's actual results could
be quite different from those expressed or implied by those statements. Factors that
could affect results are discussed more fully in Item 1A, entitled, “Risk Factars,” in the
accompanying Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

————






MAKINGIA

In Qur Communities Every Day

OraSure Presldent and 'CED Doug Michels, with
Pennsylvama Senator Vincent Hughes and

Health Commissioner Casmen Paris, announcing
;

the city of Philadelphia’s expanded RIV/AIDS
testing and treatment efforts wtilizing the
OraQuick ADYANCE® Rapid HIV-1/2 Antibody Test
as the centerpiece of the program. Senator Vincent
Hughes spearheaded a $1.5 million funding
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increase for the city's HIV/AIDS programs te make
this initiative possible.

\Mayors offlces in major metropalitan areés. encouraged rapld HIV

Making a world of difference starts at the community level where our
employees work diligently to ensure that individuals are empowered
to take care of their health. Whether it is launching broad scale and
widespread HIV testing initiatives o screening for drugs of abuse in
the workplace to ensure a safe e‘nwronment our employees are serving
communities around the world.

This was evident last year when we announced partnerships with

a number of major U.S. cities to promote rapid HIV testing with
OraQuick ADVANCE® as the centerplece\ln Washington, D.C. a program
goal was established to ensure that all regldents of the District leam
their HIV status. In Philadelphia, wnth the support of a $1.5 million
infusion from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvama a program was
established to expand local HIV testlng to populahons both underserved
and without access to routine meducal care. And in New York City,

rapid HIV testing initiatives were expanded as the City's Department

of Mental Health and Hygiene entered into an approxlmate $6 millicn
multi-year agreement to use our Oranck ADVANCE® test.

In 2006 we were also proud to join Wlth the Natlonal Association
of People with AIDS {NAPWA) to launch the second annual Mavyor's
Campaign Against HIVT™. This national effort, which |nc!uded 18

testing with' OraQuick® and promoted the benefits of individuals ’
knowing their HIV status.

These programs and \initiatives contributed to a strong 2006 for i
OraSure The Company realized revenues of 568 2 million in 2006, with {
a gross profit of $43.4 million compared to 2005 revenues of \ ;
$69.4 million and a gross profnt of $41.4 million. The Company's gross N
margin was 64% in 2006, up 3 from 60% in 2005. At the end of 2006 we
had $91 million in cash and short term investments and $96.0 mllho‘n
in working capital, compared with $77.6 miltion and $90.7 million,
respectively, at the end of 2005. - )

_Despite a lower than expected top line performance, largely due to
unexpectedly lower sales of our domestic OTC cryosurgical product
and the absence of new bulk government orders for OraQuick® we
achieved net income of $5.3 million and a record $16.9 million in cash
flow from operations,

The performance of our infectious disease and substance abuse testing
businesses were clearly the highlights of 2006 with revenue growth

of 12% and 17%, respectively, compared to 2005. Revenues were up
19% for OraQuick® and up 15% for Intercept® compared to 2005. In
particular, we witnessed very strong growth in direct OraQuick® sales to
public health, which increased 84%, and in the hospital market where
sales to Abbott Laboratories increased 40%, compared to 2005.

Our success is driven in large part by our commitment to a clear
corporate growth strategy focused on three specific objectives:

Market Expansion — Grow our existing product lines in the
markets we currently serve, and successfully launch these product
lines into new markets domestically and abroad.

Expand Point-of-Care Business - Expand point-of-care testing
for infectious diseases and our drug testing business by leveraging
our oral fluid technologies and by developing andior acquiring new
technologies to improve patient care domestically and abroad.

Grow OTC Business — Create an OTC diagnostics business and
launch new products both domestically and abroad.

It's our strategic focus on high growth opportunities that is making a
world of difference, every day.




Washington, D.C. to know
their HIV status

More than 9,000 residents

are believed to be living with
HIV in Washington, D.C., with
approximately 25% unaware
they are infacted. In 2006,

the city launched a testing and
prevention initiative with the
OraQuick ADVANCE® Rapid HIV-1/2
Antibody Test at the heart of
the campaign.
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We plan to continue to expand sales of OraQuick® outside of the

traditional public health market, and are focusing on doctors’ offices,

clinics, corrections facilities, student health centers, and faith-based
o 0\ )

organizations. We have also exp\a\nded our public health sales force to

provide increased support to this diverse and expanding market.

Building a Global Business

We received notification from regulatory authorities that our
OraQuick ADVANCE® test will be recom\mended to receive European
regulatory approval (CE mark}, contingent upon the successful

E ) completion of facility inspections. Tnis is a-\major milestone needed to
=XPANDING Em expand our infectious disease testing business in the European Union,

: , - -
A WORLD OF DIFFERENCE IN HIV TESTING \ VYe are worl.(lng to grow |nternatmna‘l eales b;: signing new ‘
More and more professionals are utilizing our oral fluid diagnosuc distributors in severat European countries and c\ompletmg the required

products, providing them with a way to test mare patients, deliver country-speciic registrations for our OraQuick ADVANCE® test. o

results faster, and connect patients to the care they need sooner, We have-also ob-tamed OraQu!ckﬂ registrations in several cduntnes in

Demand for our infectious disease oral fluid diagnostic products Asia, 'jat'" America and the Middle East and expect to obtain many

continued 10 grow through 2006, increasing revenues by 19% morg in 2007. .

compared to 2005: A WORLD OF DIFFERENCE FOR SUBSTANCE ABUSE TESTING

Growing public demand By offering s:mpllf'ed collection, faster results. and cost savmgs

In 2006, the Centers for\Dlsease Control and Prevention (CDC) revised \Wh'IE ehmmagng the risk of adulteration, oral Fluid dlagnostlcs are
changing the way substance abuse testlng is performed and leading

its recommendations for HIV testmg to include routine screening of 0 o N
patients in healthcare settlngs We are workmg with the CBC, cities, that charge is Intercep ur Intercept® product is now the Industry
standard in oral flmd drug testing in the workplace, drug treatment,

hospitals, community organlzatlons and othe__rs to promote widespread

adoption of these guidelines throuigh regional workshops across the and crminaljusice testing markets, ‘ \
country. We believe adoption of the rewsed guidelines will lead to In the substance abuse testing market, revenues grew 17% in 2006
increased demand for OraQuick ADVANCE"" in 2007 and beyond compared with 2005. Total Intercept® revenues were up 15% versus

2005, reflecting a 17% increase in workplace testing, a 6% increase
in criminat justice, an 18% increase in international sales, and a 29%
, increase in direct sales.

N New c1tywude HIV. prevention and testing initiatives are bemg
' planned for several major metropolitan areas in 2007Iand the CDC,
the Substanc\e Abuse and MentaF Health Services Admrmstr‘atlon K
(SAMHSA), and other government agen‘mes have ar‘;nounced publicly A WORLD OF DIFFERENCE WITH CRYOSURGERY
. that HIV prevention and 'fESImQFIS Gre:af their h'gg%% P"P"t'es Through our cryosurgery products, we enable primary care physicians,
for 2007 We be"heve_g%jg\er Iar%eweployment ‘of rapid HIV pediatricians, OB/GYNs, urologists, podiatrists, and consumers to cost
tests is tlearly stpported by thelelevated demafid oy {esting in the effectively treat a wide variety of superficial benign skin lesions.
nities served by;these agencies!

/7 .
Histojreezen the No. 1"product in the professiogal cryosurgery market,
has'been used to treat more than 65 million skin lesions since 1990.

<

It is FDA- cleared to treat 9 types of common skin conditions.
ompoundW Freeze Off**; our U. oise cryosurgical wart removal
system, is gstrrbuted thrgugh a wide base of retailers, including
, Wal-Mart,CVS, and Rite-Aid.

was a year in which we developed new agreements and
ress in brlngmg new.OTC cryosurgery products to market,
our, cwosurgery ysales did not meet our expectations. Cryosurgery sales
were down«2:4% for thefygar primiarily as a result of lower revenues in
market A bright spot was seen in the international market
e N
whereprofessional and OTC cryosurgery revenues increased 13% and
(65Yrespectively, compared to 2005.

: nn W?® and freeze Off® are trademarks of Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc.




B < 0raQuick ADVANCE® Rapid
HIV point-of-care testing
The only FDA approved test that
can be used on oral fluid, plasma,
finger stick, and venipungture
whole blood specimens.

fluid collection device used

with Iabma:oryJ:ased enzyme
immunoassay (BIA) screening
tests to detect dyugs of abuse.

< HistoFreezer® Pointts,
Compound W Freeze Off®
Scholl Freeze
The number one professional
portable cryosurgical wart

_ removal system.
i

OraSure® HIV-1 |C)ral
Specimen Collection Device
The only FDA-apprpved oral fluid
collection device ubed with a
lab-based EIA screpning test for
HIV-1 antibody detectio 7




"Manuiacturing innovation
is‘at the heart of ensuring
tfl‘ag our Company is able
to continue to meet the

h@b@m@m

A second objective for our Companylls to exp}snd our rapid point of
care testing business with a focus on meC‘tIDUS\dISEESES and substance
abuse by leveraging our oral fluid technologles and by developing
andlor acquiring new technologies to n"nprove patlent care

3.4\#1:: demands of the marketplace.

dornestlcally and abroad.

OraQulck"’ HCV

Atop pnonty is to develop a rapid antlbody test for the Hepatitis C
wrus or HCV, It is estimated that 170 mllllon people are Infected with
HCV and there are 3 to 4 million new HCV infections each year, The
prevalence of Hepatms C infection is estlm\ated to be four umes that
of HIV Itis believed that as many as 50% of persons mfected with
HOV are undlagnosed and up to 80% who have HCV show no signs
or symptoms New infections in the U.S. are esnmated at 30, 000 \

50,000 per year. N ‘ .

Hepatitis C is a major cause of acute hepatitis and chronic liver disease
and, if left undiagnosed, can lead to cirrhesis of the liver, liver cancer,
liver failure and death. It is estimated that 85% of those infected

with HCV will develop chronic liver disease and about 10-20% will
eventually develop cirrhosis of the liver. HCV is a significant domestic
and global health issue.

Fortunately, in most cases HCV is a curable disease. The key is
indentifying infected individuals and connecting them to care. Like HIV,
we believe public health will be improved by early diagnosis through
widespread rapid testing.

Our research indicates a potential opportunity for rapid HCV testing
in the U.S. professional market of approximately $200 to $250 miilion,
with a potential worldwide market of even greater magnitude.

To help secure our success in this marketplace, we have entered into an
agreement with Schering-Plough to collaborate on the development of
a rapid HCV test on the OraQuick® platform and to promote the test in
the U.S. physician's office market.

geanaRioligh

OraSure recently entered into a collaboration agreement

with Schering-Plough for the development of a rapid HCV
iest on the OraQuick® platform and promotion of the test
in the U.S. physician's office market.

The Schering-Plough® name and S-P Logo® are registered trademarks of
Schering Corparation, used with permission.
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INVESTINGIINIO URIEUTURE

On the Horizon: OraQuick® HIV OTC
An exciting opportunity is our effort to gain FDA approval to sell the
OraQuick ADVANCE® HIV test in the retail or over-the-counter market.
Our research indicates the potential market for an OTC OraQuick® HIV
test in the U.5. alone could be in excess of $500 million. Capturing

a significant portion of this epportunity will depend on a number of
factors, including securing FDA approval, gaining access to critical
distribution chanﬁel\s, and our ability to quickly bring the product to
market. We are aggressively.working to complete all studies required
to submit an FDA OTC application and be the first to market with a
home use rapid HIV test.

We believe OraSure is well posmoned to capitalize on this opportunity.

First, OraQuick ADVANCE® is the only rapid V- 172 test approved by

the FDA for use with oral fluid and our research indicates that an oral

fluid claim will help maximize our success in the OTC market. Second,

being first to market should give us the opportunity to bU|Id 5|gn|f|cam
_ brand recognition and brand loyalty with consumers, "

“Over the past year, we have significantly
enhanced our research and development
capabilities - specifically in the areas
of materials, product development and
program support - establishing a world-
class department that each year brings
new and innovative products to market.”

— Stephen R. Lee, Ph.D.,
Executive Vice President and
Chief Science Officer

Or. Lee joined OraSure in September 2005,
bringing with him extensive diagnostic
experience having led the development
of more than 40 major diagnostic assays
in areas including infectious disease,
cardiology and oncology.

i \
Building Momentum for Our Cryosurgic\al Products
In the cryosurgical systems OTC mark@.:t, our fou\:s in 2007 will be to
reinvigorate growth with a number of initiatives:

* We plan on leveraging our proprietary cryosurgery technology

to expand our OTC product fine by developing and launching
products with indications other thén common of plantar warts,
We\are also seeking FDA approval for an extensmn of our
existing OTC wart product by combmmg our ongmal cryosurgical

treatment with salicylic acid. ‘\

» We will contmue to work with 55L In\t!ernatlonal our O\TC
distributor in Europe Australia, and New Zealand, to increase
sales and expand, the number of countries in which the Scholl
Freeze product is offered : \‘

5
i

* We will work closely W|tI3 our distributor in Mexico to increase
sales of our OTC cryosurgical product, sold under the POINTTS
tradename, while aggressively expanding distribution in Latin

America and elsewhere,

i

* In 2007, we are expecting resolution of our pending dispute
with Prestige Brands concerning our domestic over-the-counter
cryosurgical product offering.

Partnerships for Qur Future

In 2006, we signed a letter of intent with Roche Diagnostics for the
joint development and commercialization of homogeneous fully
automated oral fluid drugs of abuse assays for our Intercept® oral
specimen collection device. The oral fluid assays will be designed to
run on various automated analyzers and to allow oral fluid samples
to be processed with the same efficiency as current urine-based tests.
These high throughput assays will enable our laboratory partners to
reduce their costs through increased efficiency and quicker tumaround
times. These new assays will allow us to compete more effectively
with the urine drug-testing products that currently dominate the
drug-testing market. In the U.S., we estimate the total drug testing
market to be approximately $400 million in revenues per year, and
about 95% is urine drug testing, We look forward to capturing an
even greater share of this large market.
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NN
{In thousands, except per share data, ratios, and number of employees)\

2002 2003
Operating Results for the Year Ended:

Total re\%m{es S?Z,QTO $40,451
$(3,342) ${1,136)
$(0.09) $(0.03)

37,583 39,794

Net incorrkl(lbss)
. NN
Earnings (loss) per diluted share
Shares used in computing earnings (loss)
per diluted share \

Decembl,r 3n, \

2004 2005

$54,008 569,369
$(560), $27,448
5(0.01)\ $0.59

44,464 \ 46,147

b
4

2006

68455
$5968
g

Financial Position as o\f:\ \\ \ 5 |
: . \ N : :
Working capital N . $18931  $67,171° $68910  $90,670
Total assets N N §35737  $86,151 .$88,064 $130,747
Long-term debt less current portidn. . . $3400 ©  $2,456 $1.334 5884
> Total liabilities A h $9,718 - $12,642 $12,487  $11,828
Total stockholders’ equity -$26,019  $7350%  $75577 $118,919 E$129Y
Current ratio 410 A A 7.2 9.4:1 . G
Total liabilities to equity : 0.4:1 0.2:1 021 011 @L&'i]
Other data:
Capital expenditures §1,649 $994 $912  $2,048 |
Full-time employees . y 187 17 194 233 RS0
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This Report contains certain “forward-looking statements,” within the meaning of the Federal securities
laws. These may include statements about our .expected revenues, earnings, expenses or other financial
performance, future product performance or development, expected regulatory filings and approvals, planned
business iransactions, views of future industry, competitive or market conditions, and other factors that could
affect our future operations, results of operations or financial position. These statements often include words,

LI

such as “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates, intends,
“could,” or similar expressions. '
) .

[LET

plans,” “estimates,’

“may,” “will,” “should”

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance or results. Known and unknown
factors could cause actual performance or results to be materially different from those expressed or implied in
these statements. Factors that could affect our results are discussed more fully under Item 1A., entitled “Risk
Factors,” and elsewhere in this Annual Report. Although forward-looking statements help to provide complete
information about us, readers should keep in mind that forward-looking statements may not be reliable. Readers
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements
are made as of the date of this Report and we undertake no duty to update these statements.

o

PART I

ITEM 1. Business.

Our business principally involves the development, manufacture, marketing and sale of oral fluid specimen
collection devices using our proprietary oral fluid technologies, as well as other diagnostic products including
immunoassays and other in vitro diagnostic tests that are used on other specimen types, and other medical
devices. Our diagnostic products include tests which are processed ina laboratory and tests which are performed
on a rapid basis at the point of care. These products are sold in the United States and internationally to various
clinical laboratories, hospitals, clinics, community-based organizations and other public health organizations,
distributors, government agencies, physicians’ offices, and commercial and industrial entities. One of our
products is also sold in the over-the-counter (“OTC"”) or consumer retail market in the United States, Canada,
Europe, Australia and certain other foreign countries.

In virro diagnostic testing is the process of analyzing oral fluid, blood, urine and other bodily fluids or tissue
for the presence of specific substances or markers for infectious diseases, drugs of abuse or other conditions. In
vitro diagnostic tests are performed outside the body, in contrast to in vivo tests, which are performed directly on
or within the body. The substance or marker that a diagnostic test is intended to detect is generally referred 1o as
an analyte.

Immimodiagnostic testing is the leading method of in vitro testing for antigens and antibodies. When an
infectious disease is caused by pathogens, such as bacteria, viruses and fungi, or other substances are present, the
body responds by producing an antibody. Substances that stimulate production of antibodies are generally
referred to as antigens. An antibody binds specifically with an antigen in a lock-and-key fashion that initiates a
biochemical reaction 1o attempt to neutralize and, ultimately, eliminate the antigen. The ability of an antibody 10
bind with a specific antigen provides the basis for immunodiagnostic testing.

Qur Company was formed in May 2000 under Delaware law solely for the purposes of combining two
companies, STC Technologies, Inc. (“STC” or “STC Technologies™) and Epitope, Inc. (“Epitope”), and changing
the state of incorporation of Epitope from Oregon to Delaware. STC Technologies and Epitope were merged into
our Company on September 29, 2000. Qur principal offices are located at 220 East First Street, Bethlehem,
Pennsylvania 18015, and our telephone number is (610) 882-1820.

Additional information about us can be found on our website. Our website address is www.orasure.com. We
make available free of charge through a link provided at such website our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our




Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and our Current Reports on Form 8-K, as well as any amendments to those
Reports. These Reports are made available as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed or furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission. Our Internet website and the information contained in or connected to

that website are not intended to be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report.

Products
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The following is a summary of our principal products and their regulatory and commercial status:

. - Product

Description

Regulatory Status

Commercial
Status

OraQuick
ADVANCE® HIV-1/2

OraQuick ADVANCE® orc’
OraQuick® HCV

OraSure®

Intercept®

MICRO-PLATE DOA Assays

A rapid, point-of-care test for *
antibodies to the Human
Immuncdeficiency Virus Type

§ (“HIV-1") and Type 2 )
(“HIV-2" and together with
HIV-1, “HIV-1/2") that can be
visually read at the point of care
in approximately 20 minutes.

.

A rapid, point-of-care test for

antibedies to the hepatitis C
virus (*HCV™} -

Oral fluid collection device for

the detection of antibodies to
HIV-1 in an oral fluid sample in
a laboratory setting.

Oral fluid collection device,
along with nine related

*immunoassays, for oral fluid

drugs of abuse (“DOA") testing
in a laboratory setting. |

Used to detect the following
drugs in an oral fluid sample:
marijuana, cocaine, opiates,
amphetamines,
methamphetamines, PCF,
benzodiazepines, barbiturates
and methadone.

Premarket approval (“PMA™ *°
approved by the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration (“FDA™)
{March 2004—June 2004) for use

" with oral fluid. finger-stick and

venous whole blood. and plasma.
CLIA (Clinical Laboratory
Improvement Amendmenis of
1988) waived for use with oral
fluid, finger-stick and venous
whole blood {June 2004).

CE mark application filed.
Registered in Mexico.

In development.

En development.

a

PMA approved by FDA in
December 1994, T

Also FDA 510(k) cleared for use
in detecting cocaine and cotinine
(an indicator of nicotine} in oral
fluid. ‘

CE marked and registered in the
United Kingdom. Also registered
in Mexico, Canada, Columbia, -
South Africa, Afghanistan,
Argentina, Brazil and Trinidad.

Collection device—FDA 510(k}
cleared in 2000,

Nine drug assays—FDA 510(k)
cleared during 2000-2001.

Intercept® device CE marked and
registered in the United
Kingdom. Various assays are CE
marked and registered in the
United Kingdom, Austria, ]
Belgium. Denmark, Finland,
France, Germany, Ireland, Italy,
Luxembourg, Mexico.
Netherlands, Portugat, Spain,
Sweden, Korea, Canada,
Afghanistan and Brazil. -

Marketed °

Pending
Marketed

Marketed '

Marketed

Marketed

Marketed l

Marketed.

Marketed




Commercial

Product . Description - Regulatory Status ' Status
Homogeneous DOA Assays .Hbmogeneous fully-automated In development.
’ oral fluid DOA assays. )
Cryosurgical Systems— . Cryosurgical system for the ,Nine indications—FDA 510(k) " Marketed
Professtonal ' " removal of warts and other . clearéd during 1991-—1999,
benign skin lesions, marketed CE marked and registered in Marketed
under the Hls_iofre.ezer@ Europe, Venezuela, Thailand,
tradename primarily to the New Zealand, Hong Kong,
physicians’ office market. Brazil, Mexico, Canada and .
LN Afghanistan. . S s
Cryosurgical Systems—OTC Cryosurgical (freezing) system FDA 510(k) cleared for two . Marketed

for the removal of common and  Freeze Off® indications in
plantar warts, sold in the OTC Febrvary 2003.
markets in the United States and

. Canada under the Compound W Freeze Off® registered in Canada. . Marketed
Freeze Off® tradename by Scholl Freeze Spray CE marked , Marketed
b Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc., and registered in severa] o
in Europe, Australia'and New European cuunmes ] L R ' .
. y -~ Zealand under the Scholl and : N

. Dr. Scholl Freeze Spray . POIN T TS reglslered mn Mexlco Marketed

" tradenames by SSL
International ple. and in Mexico
under the POINTTS tradename .

by Genomma Labs.
Cryds_urgicil.l Systems—OTC . Cryosurgical systeEn for aTn In dévclopment.
Product Line Extensions indication other than common  *

warts or plantar warts. . L . .

Cryosurgical system combined In development.
- with salicylic acid.

In addition to the above products, we also sell certain immuncassay tests and reagents for insurance risk
assessmen!, substance abuse testing and forensic toxicology applications; an oral fluid Western blot HIV-1
confirmatory test approved by the FDA for confirming positive HIV-1 test results obtained from the use of our
OraSure® collection device; and the FDA 510(k) cleared Q.E.D.® point-of-care saliva-alcohol test.

[

. OraQuick® Rapid Test Platform - ) o

OraQuick® is our rapid test plaiform des:gned to test oral fluid, whole blood (i.e., both finger-stick and
venous) and plasma samples for the presence of various antibodies or analytes. The device uses a porous flat pad
to collect an oral fluid specimen. After coliection, the pad is inserted into a vial comammg a pre-measured
amount of developer solution and allowed to develop. When whole blood or plasma is to be tested, a loop
collection device is used to collect a drop of blood or plasma and mix it in the developer solution, after which the
collection pad is_inserted into the solution and allowed to develop. In all cases, the specimen and developer
solution then flow through the testing device where test results are observable in approximately 20 minutes. The
OraQuick® device is a screening test and requires a confirmation test where an initial positive result is obtained.

We have commercialized this technology in the form of our OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid HIV-1/2 antibody
test. This is a rapid, point-of-care test which has received FDA approvat for the detection of antibodies to both
HIV-1 and HIV-2 in oral fluid, finger-stick and venous whole blood and plasma. This test is available for use by
the nearly 40,000 -locations in the United States certified under the Clinical. Laboratory, Improvements
Amendment of 1988 (“CLIA™) to perform moderately complex tests. We have also received a CLIA waiver for
use of the DraQuick ADVANCE® test with oral fluid and finger-stick and venous whole blood. As a résult, the
test can be used by approximately 140,000 additional sites in the United States not certified under CLIA 10
perform moderately complex tests, such as outreach clinics, community-based orgamzatlons and physwlans
offices. : : .




On the international front, we are in the process of obtaining a CE mark for our OraQuick ADVANCE® test
so that we will be able to sell this product in Europe. We have a distributor in place for the United Kingdom and
are pursuing distribution arrangements in several additional European countries. We are selling OraQuick® in
Mexico and Africa and are completing registrations of our OraQuick® test in several countries in Latin America,
Asia, the Middle East and Russia. We are aggressively seeking to expand our distribution network for this
product throughout the world. ' " '

We believe that the OraQuick ADVANCE® device, because it.is approved for detecting antibodies to both
HIV-1 and HIV-2 in finger-stick and’'venous whole blood, oral fluid and plasma samples, provides a significant
competitive advantage in the market for rapid HIV testing in the United States and elsewhere around the world.
Demand for OraQuick ADVANCE® has quickly grown since the launch of that product in late 2004,

OraSure®/intercept® Collection Devices

Our OraSure® oral fluid collection device is used in conjunction with screening and confirmatory tests for
HIV-I antibodiés and other analytes. This device consists of a small, treated cotton-fiber pad on a handle that is
placed in a person’s mouth for two to five minutes. The device collects oral mucosal transudate (“OMT"), a
serum-derived fluid that contains higher concentrations of certain antibodies and analytes than saliva. As a result,
OMT testing is a highly accurate method for detecting HIV-1 infection and-other analytes.

We believe that oral fluid testing has several significant advantages over blood or urine-based systems for
infectious disecase testing, for both health care professionals and the individuals being tested. These advantages
include eliminating the risk of needle-stick accidents, providing a non-invasive collection technique, requiring
minimal training to administer, providing rapid and efficient collection in almost any setting, and reducing the
cost of administration by a trained health care professional. . 1

We have received premarket approval from the FDA to sell the OraSure® collection device for use with a
laboratory-based enzyme immunoassay (“EIA”) screening test for HIV-1 antibody detection. This EIA screening
test has been approved by the FDA for use with our OraSure® device and is manufactured..and sold by
bioMerieux, Inc. (“BMX").

HIV-1 antibody detection using the OraSure® collection device involves three steps:
»  Collection of an oral fluid specimen using the OraSure® device;

*  Screening of the specimen for HIV-1 antibodies at a laboratory with an EIA screening test approved by
the FDA for use with the OraSure® device; and S :

* Laboratory confirmation of any positive scieening test results with our oral fluid Westem blot HIV- l

: conﬁrmatory test (described below). o I’ R

A trained health care proféssional then conveys test results' and provides appropriate couhse]ing to' the
individual who was tested. We have also feceived FDA*510(k) clearance for use of the OraSure® collection
device with EIAs to test for cocaine and cotinine (a mctabollte of nicotine) in oral fluid spec1mens primarily for
insurance risk assessment purposes. -

In late 2006, BMX announced that it will discontinue manufacturing the' HIV-1 EIA screening test during
2007 and that, due to quality problems, it may have difficulty supplying this séreening test prior to the time it
ceases manufacturing. As a result, we are working with BMX, the FDA and Centers for Dlsease Control and

_Prevéntion (*CDC”), our major laboratory customers and other potential suppliers to ‘find or deveiop an

alternative HIV- l EIA screening test that can be used-with oral fluid samplcs collected with our OraSure®
dewce i

L . . i e .
- “A collection device that is-substantially similar to the QraSure® device is sold under the name Intercept®,

and is used to collect OMT for oral fluid drug testing. We have received FDA 510(k) clearance to use the
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Intercept® collection device with laboratory-based EIAs to test for drugs of abuse commonly identified by the
National Institute for Drug Abuse (“NIDA”) as the NIDA-5 (i.e., cannabinoids (marijuana), cocaine, opiates,
amphetamines/methamphetamines and phencyclidine (“PCP™)), and for barbiturates, methadone and
benzodiazepines. Each of these EIAs is also FDA 510(k) cleared for use with the Intercept® device.

We have received a CE mark for the Intercept® and OraSure® devices and both are distributed in Canada,
the United Kingdom and Mexico. The OraSure® device and our oral flmd drugs of abuse assays are a]so sold in
several other foreign counlnes

- . t oy

We believé that the Intercept® device has several advantages over competing urine and other drugs-of-abuse
testing products, including its lower total testing cost, its non-invasive nature, mobility and accuracy, the ease of
maintaining a chain-of-custody, the treatment of test subjects with greater dignity, no requirement for specially-
prepared collection facilities and difficulty of sample adulteration. The availability of an oral fluid test is
intended to allow our customers to test for drug impairment, eliminate scheduling costs and inconvenience, and
thereby sireamline the testing process.

i
[} ' . . Cor <.
* b

Cryosurgical Systems (Skin Lesion Removal Products). - ' e

The Histofreezer® cryosurgicat removal ‘system is a low-cost alternative to liquid nitrogen and other
methods for removal of warts and other benign skin lesions by physicians. The Histofreezer® product mixes two
environmentally friendly cryogenic gases in a small aerosol canister. When released, these gases are delwered to
a specially designed foam bud, cooling the bud to a maximum of =50°C to ~55°C. The frozen bud is then applied
10 the wart or lesion for 15 to 40 seconds (depending on the type of lesion) creating localized destruction of the

target area by freezing. We have. received 510(k) cleafance for use of the Histofreezer® product to remove
~ common warts and eight other types of benign skin lesions, and this product has been CE marked and registered
for distribution throughout Europe. .

We have also received FDA 510(k) clearance to market and sell a cryosurgical product similar to the
Histofreezer® product in the OTC or retail,market for the removal of common and plantar warts on]y This
product is being distributed in the United States and Canadian OTC markets under the name Freeze Off® by
Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. (“Prestige”), the owner of the Compound W® line of wart removal products.
Prestige is the owner of both the Freeze Off® and Compound W® tradenames. In September 2006, Prestige
announced that it had acquired the Wartner® cryosurgical wart removal product line, which competes with the
Freeze Off® product in-the U.S. and Canadian OTC markets. Because we believe that the Wartner acquisition
constitutes a breach of our.agreement with Prestige, we have initiated an arbitration proceeding against Prestige.
As a result, it is uncertain whether Prestige will continue to distribute the Freeze Off® product after 2007. For a
more detailed description of our dispute with Prestige, see Item 3, “Legal Proceedings;” in this Annual Report.

Internationally, we distribute a similar CE marked cryosurgical wart removal product into the OTC footcare
market in Europe, Australia and New Zealand through our distributor, SSL International plc (“SSL™), under the
Scholl and Dr. Scholl trademarks. SSL is the owner of the Scholl and Dr.’ Scholl trademarks ‘in countries outside
North and South America. We have also launched  an OTC “cryosurgical product in Mexico through our
distributor Genomma Labs, under the POINTTS tradename.

Immunoassay Tests and Reagents

We develop and sell immunoassay tests in two formats known as MICRO- PLATE and AUTO-LYTE®, to
meet the specific needs of our Customers. . :
Ina MICRO-PLATE kit, the sample to be tested is placed inte a small plastic receptacle, called a microwell;
along with the reagents. The result of the test is determined by the color of the microwell upon completion.of the
reaction. Controlling the reaction involves the use of a variety of reagents by laboratory personnel.Test results
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are analyzed by any of a variety of commercially available taboratory instruments, which we may also provide to
our laboratory customers. MICRO-PLATE tests can be performed of commonly used.instruments and can detect
drugs in urine, serum and sweat specimens. MICRO-PLATE tests are also-used as part of the Intercept® product
line to detect drugs of abuse in-oral fluid specimens. '

-AUTO-LYTE® tests are sold in .the form of bottles of liquid reagents. These.reagents are run on
commercially available laboratory-based automated analytical instruments, which are manufactured by a variety
of third parties, AUTO-LYTE® is typically used in high volume, automated, commercial reference insurance
laboratories to detect certain drugs or chemicals in urine. Test results are produced quickly, allowing for high
throughput. In recent years, sales of gur AUTO-LYTE® tests have been substantially reduced largely because of
competition from cheaper “home-brew” tests used by our laboratory customers. As a result, we eventually expect
to stop selling our AUTO-LYTE® tests. . . Lo

Western blot HIV-1 Confirmatory Test

We sell an oral fluid Western blot HIV-1 confirmatory test that received premarket approval from the FDA
in 1996. This test uses the original specimen collected with the OraSure® oral fluid collection device to confirm
positive results of initial oral fluid HIV-1 EIA screening tests. The oral fluid Western blot HIV-1 confirmatory
test is currently marketed under an exclusive arrangement with BMX.

In March 2007, BMX notified us that it will not renew the agreement under which it supplies the HIV-1
antigen used to manufacture our oral fluid Western blot HIV-1 confirmatory test or the agreement under which it
distributes that product on an exclusive, world-wide basis.” As a result, these agreements will terminate on
December 31, 2007. Pursuant to the terms of the antigen supply agreement, we have the right to purchase an
additional two-year supply of the antigen féllowing termination so that we can continue to manufacture and sell .
our oral fluid Western blot test. When this additional two-year supply is combined with our existing inventory of
the HIV-1 antigen, we believe we will have a sufficient supply of HIV-1 antigen to meet the demand for our
Western blot test for three to four years after the agreement terminates. We also intend to pursue a long-term
supply agreement directly with the vendor (a'former affiliate of BMX) used by BMX to manufacture the HIV-1
antigen. During 2006, sales of our oral fluid ‘Western blot HIV-1. conﬁrmatory test totaled approxnmately
$330,000. L

]

»

QED. ® Saliva Alcohol Test
Our Q.E.D® saliva alcohol test is a pomt-of—care test device that is a cost—effecuve altematlve to breath or
biood alcohol testing. The test is a quantitative,- saliva-based method for the detection of ethanol, has been
cleared for sale by the FDA and has received a CLIA waiver. The U.S. Depanment of Transportation (“DOT”)
has also approved the test for purchase. - -

1, : '

. Each-Q.E.D.® test kit contains a collection stick that is used to collect a sample of saliva and a disposable
detection device that displays results in a format similar to a thermometer. Thé Q.E.D.® device is easy to operate
and instrumentatiop is not required to read the result. The product has a testing range of 0 to 0.145% blood
alcohol and produces results in appr0x1mate]y two minutes.

Products Under Development
OraQuick® Platform

~We believe that. OraQuick® has.significant potential as a point-of-care testing platform for clinics and other
public health entities, hospitals, physicians’ offices and other markets. Because the OraQuick® platform is simple
to use and can operale in a non-invasive manner with oral fluid, we believe it witl be suitable for uvse by
consumers without the assistance of a doctor or other medical professional. We also believe that OraQuick®
provides a platform technology that can be modified for detection of a variety of infectious diseases in addition to
HIV, such as viral hepatitis and certain sexually transmitted diseases.
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We are currently devoting significant resources to obtaining FDA approval to sell our OraQuick
ADVANCE® HIV:1/2 test in the United States OTC market. We have completed several laboratory-based
operational studies and -have initiated and will continue to perform-additional clinical studies, including label
comprehension studies, in support of our application for FDA approval. We are also developing a counseling and
referral system and product packaging and labeling suitable for the OTC market, all of which will be key
components of our clinical studies. We expect this clinical work to continue during 2007 and early 2008, after
which we intend to submit an application for FDA approval.

I

During 2005, ‘we obtained a license from Ortho-Clinical Diagnostics and Chiron Corporation to patents
relating to thé Hepatitis C virus, or HCV, and we have made substantial progress in developmg a rapid HCV test
using the OraQuick® platform. In addition, in late 2006 we entered into an agreement with Schering-Plough
Corporation (“Schering-Plough”) to collaborate on the development and promotion of our OraQuick® HCV test
for use with oral fluid. Under the terms of our agreement, we will be reimbursed by Schering-Plough for a
pomon of our costs to deve]op the test, and Schering- -Plough will provide detailing and other promotional
support for the test in the U.S. physicians’ office market, once the test is approved by the FDA We are also in
negotiations to obtain rights to a rapid HCV test manufactured by a third party that we intend to distribute into
international markets. . Co

OraSure®/Intercept® Applications

Oral mucosal transudate, or OMT, contains many constituents found in blood and serum, although in lower
concentralions. We believe the OraSure® and Intercept® devices are a platform technology with a wide variety of
potential applications, where laboratory testing is available. For example, the OraSure® device may be useful for
the collection of a variety of antibodies or markers for infectious diseases or conditions in addition to HIV-1,
such as antibodies to viral hepatitis. :

In 2004, the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration {(“SAMHSA") issued proposed
regulations for oral fluid drug testing for federal workers. When issued in final form, these regulations may
require certain modifications to our Intercept® product in order to permit its use by federal workers. As a result,
we are deve}opmo modifications to the Intercept® collection device that we anticipate will be required by these
regulatton, or are otherwnse likely to be desired by our customerq

We are also currently developing additional drugs of abuse assays for use with-our Intercept® collection
device. In October 2006, we signed a letter of intent with Roche Diagnostics to negotiate a joint development and
commercialization agreement for homogeneous fully-automated oral fluid drugs of abuse assays that can be run
on random access chemistry analyzers. The oral fluid assays will be developed for use with our Intercept®
collection device and Roche's KIMS (kinetic information of microparticles in solution) technology The assays
will be designed to run on various automated analyzers and to allow oral fluid samples to be processed with the
same efficiency currently achieved with urine-based drug tests. The parties are in the process of negotiating a
definitive joint development and commercialization agreement. - \

In light of BMX's announced decision to cease production of the HIV-1 EIA screening assay used with our
OraSure® device, we are working with BMX, the FDA and CDC, our major laboratory customers and other
potential suppliers to find or develop an alternative HIV-1 EIA screemng test that can be used with our OraSure®
device. ' . . " : :

oT1C Cryosurgtca! Systems Products - L o

We currently sell our Histofreezer® cryosurgtcal systems product in the physicians’ ofﬁce or professional
market. This product has been approved by the FDA for the treatment of a total of nine different types of benign
skin lesions. Our OTC cryosurgical product has been approved by the FDA for two types of skm lesions—
common warts and plantar warts, . - ' .




We believe that one or more of the seven remaining Histofreezer® indications may be attractive to the OTC
market. We are developing an OTC cryosurgical product for one of these indications, and we intend to seek FDA
510(k} clearance of that product during 2007. In addition, we are developing an extension of our existing OTC
cryosurgical wart removal product in order to sell that product in combination with salicylic acid for the
treatment of common and plantar warts. We also intend to seek FDA clearance of this preduct extension in 2007.

3 1

Business Strategy

We have adopted a multi-part growth strategy, pursuant to. which we .intend to leverage our extensive
diagnostic experience in order to maximize the available opportunities from our existing products and
technologies, and supplement our existing product pipeline by accessing other technologies and products. We
intend to follow a disciplined approach to maximize the value of our business for the benefit of our stockholders.

Our overall vision is to become a recognized global leader focused on providing innovative diagnostic
solutions that add substantial value to existing and emerging healthcare needs. In order to achieve this vision, our
business strategy includes the following key elements:

*  Extension of Base Businesses. 'We intend to maximize the sales potential of our existing product lines
and technologies in the markets where they are currently sold, with a focus on expanding, where
possible, the number of our oral fluid product offerings. Under this part of the strategy, we intend to
fully capitalize on the potential market reach of our OraQuick®, OraSure®, Intercept®, Histofreezer®
and Freeze Off® products by investing in our sales and marketing efforts where appropriate, making
product improvements and enhancements, and optimizing our distribution channels. We also intend to
expand the reach of our existing products and technology platforms into new markets and will focus
specifically on expanding into international markets,

* Infectious Disease Testing. We will pursue new products and technology platforms in the infectious
disease, point-of-care testing business to supplement our existing product pipeline. This may include
either the development of new infectious disease products or the acquisition of new technologies or
products. One new product we are pursumg is the development of a rapid HCV test on our OraQuick®
platform.

*  OTC Opportunities. We intend to identify or develop products that can be sold in the OTC or retail
marketplace. A significant opportunity that we are pursuing under this part of our strategy is to seek
FDA approval to sell our OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid HIV-1/2 antibody test in the United States OTC
market. We are also working to expand the distribution of our OTC cryosurgical product internationally
beyond Europe, Australia, New Zealand and Mexico where the product is currently distributed.

*  Operational Improvements. We intend to remain focused on the continuous improvement of our
operations. These improvements will include, but not be limited to, expanding the use of automated
manufacturing for our product lines as demand increases, expanding the global sourcing of components
and assemblies to achieve efficiencies and cost improvements, making infrastructure and information
technology investments as needed to improve effectiveness and productivity, and modifying our
processes in order to continuously improve quality and the effectiveness of our operations.

Research and Development

In 2006, our research and development activities focused primarily on the development of a rapid HCV test
using our OraQuick® technology platform, clinical and regulatory activities related to obtaining a CE mark for
the OraQuick ADVANCE® test, preliminary work to obtain FDA approval for use of OraQuick ADVANCE® in
the United States OTC market, and development of certain improvements to cxtsung products in both the
Intercept® and cryosurgical wart removal product lines.

From time to time, we supplement our own research and development activities by funding external
research at universities and certain other entities. We may continue to fund external research.
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Research and development expenses totaled $8.6 million in 2006, $5.3 million in 2005 and $6.1 million in
2004. These expenses include the costs associated with research and development regulatory affairs, clinical
trials and procluct support. . " S l

Sales and Marketmg ) W

We attempt to reach our major target markets through a combination of direct sales, strategic partnershlps
and independent distributors. Qur marketing strategy is to raise awareness through a full array of marketing
activities, which include trade shows, print advertising, special programs and dlsmbutor promotions, (o support
sales in each target market.

We market our products in the United States and internationally. Revenues aitributable to customers in the
United States were $56.8 million, $59.9 million and $47.8 million in 2006, 2003 and 2004, respectively.
Revenues attributable to mternanonal customers amounted to $11.4 million, $9.5 million and $6.2 million, or
]7% 1495 and 11% of our total revenues, m 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Infectious Disease Testing y

We market the OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid HIV-1/2 antibody test directly to customers in the public health
market for HIV testing. This market consists of a broad range of clinics and laboratories and includes states,
counties, the CDC, SAMHSA and other governmental agencies, family planning clinics, colleges and
universities, correctional facilities and the military. There are also a number of organizations in the public health
market, such as AIDS service organizations and various community-based orgamzanons set up primarily for the
purpose of encouragmg and enabling HIV testing. )

Abbott Laboratones (“Abbon“) was appointed.as our excluswe dlstnbutor in the U.S. hospital market and as
a non-exclusive distributor in the U.S. physicians’ office marketplace. As our exclusive distributor to hospitals,
Abbott sclls OraQuick ADVANCE® to federal hospitals under the terms. of our Federal Supply Schedule on file
with the General Services Administration. Under our agreement with Abbott, we have retained exclusive rights
for all other markets, including sales to the public health and criminal justice markets, the military, the CDC,
SAMHSA and other governmental agencies. We have a small sales force that supports Abbott in order to
maximize the penetration of OraQuick ADVANCE® in the hospital market. -

Abbott recently announced that it will sell part of ns dlagnosncs busmess 1ncludmg its nghts to dlstnbute
OraQuick ADVANCE®, to General Electric (“GE”). This transaction is expected to close during the first half of

2007. We intend to meet with executives from GE to discuss their plans for the OraQuick ADVANCE® product.

We currently distribute our Oranc:lc® test in several forelgn countries. We expect the number of countries
to increase as we find new d1slr1butors complete reglstranons in addmonal countries and obtam a CE mark for
this product. ' . ,

. N 1

We also market the OraSure® oral fluid' collection device for HIV-1 testing, separately and as a kit ‘in
combination with laboratory testing services. To better serve our public health customers, we have entered into
agreements with two commercial laboratories to provide prepackaged OraSure® test kits, with prepaid laboratory
testing and specimen shlppmg costs mcluded We also sell the OraSure® device i in the international public health
market. )

" Substance Abuse Testing .

Our substance abuse testing products are marketed to laboratones serving the workplace testing, forensic
toxicology, criminal justice and drug rehabilitation markets.

. . .. . ] Je t

We have entered into agreements. for the distribution of Intercept® collection devices and associated

MICRO-PLATE assays for drugs-of-abuse testing in the workplace testing market in the United States and
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Canada through several laboratory distributors, including Quest Diagnostics (“Quest”) and Clinical Reference
Laboratory, and internationally for workplace, criminal justice and forensic toxicology testing through Bio-Rad
Laboratories, Concateno (which recently acquired Altrix HealthCare, plc) and other distributors. In some cases,
we assist our laboratory customers in customizing their testing services by selling them equipment required to
test oral fluid specimens collected with the Intercept® device.

The forensic' toxicology market in the United States for our substance abuse testing products cons‘i'sts of
250300 laboratories including federal, state and county crime laboratones medical examiner laboratories and
reference laboratories. The criminal justice market consists of a wide variety of entities in the criminal justice
system that require drug screening, such as pre-trial services, parole and probation officials, police forces, drug
courts, prisons, drug treatment programs and community/family service programs.

. We also distribute our Q.E.D.® saliva alcohol test primarily through various distributors in the United States
and internationally. The markets for alcohol testing are relatively small and fragmented with a broad range of
legal and procedural barriers to entry. Markets range from law enforcement testing to workplace testing of
employees in safety sensitive occupations. Typical usage situations include pre-employment, random, post-
accident, reasonable-cause and return-to-duty testing.

Cryosurgical Systems

+ Most of our Histofreezer® sales occur in the United States to distributors that, in turn, resell the product to
primary care physicians and podiatrists in the United States, Major U.S. distributors include Cardinal Healthcare,
McKesson HBOC, Physicians Sales & Service, AmerisourceBergen Corporation, and Henry Schein.
Internationally, we established a sales office in Reeuwijk, The Netherlands, and we are selling the Hlstofreezer®
product through a network of distributors in more than 20 countries worldw1de

We sell Freeze Off®, a product similar to Histofreezer®, in the OTC market in the U.S. and Canada pursuant
to a distribution agreement with Prestige Brands, the owner of the Compound W® line of wart removal products.
Additionally, we distribute cryosurgical wart removal products in the OTC footcare market in Europe, Australia
and New Zealand through our distributor, SSL, under its Scholl and Dr. Schoil tradenames, and in the OTC
market in Mexico under the POINTTS tradename through our distributor, Genomma Labs. For a description of
our pending dispute with Prestige Brands, see Item 3, “Legal Proceedings,” in this Annual Report.

s

- r

Insurance Risk Assessment | - e .

We currently market the OraSure® oral fluid collection device for use in screening life insurance applicants
in the United States and internationally to test for three of the most important underwriting risk factors: HIV-1,
cocaine and cotinine’(a metabolite of nicotine). Devices are sold to insurance testing laboratories, including
Quest Diagnostics, Heritage Labs and Clinical Reference Laboratory. These laboratories in turn provide the
devices to insurance companies, usually in combination with testing services.

We also maintain a direct sales force that promotes use of the OraSure® devnce directly to insurance
companies for life insurance risk assessment. Insurance companies then make their own decision regarding
which laboratory to use to supply their collection devices and testing services. Our OraSure® Western blot
confirmatory test is distributed through BMX to laboratories and is used to confirm oral fluid specimens
collected with our OraSure® device that initially test positive for HIV-1. For a description of BMX’s recent
election not to renew the Western blot agreements after December 31, 2007, sce the Section entitled, “Western
blot HIV-1 Confirrnatory Test,” in this Annual Report.

Because insurance companies are in various stages of their adoption of the OraSure® device, there exists a
wide range of policy limits where the product is'being applied. Some insurance companies have chosen to extend

their testing to lower policy limits where they did not test at all-before, while others have used QraSure® o
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replace some of their blood-and urine-based testing. In general, most of our insurance company customers use the
OraSure® device in connection with life insurance policies having face amounts of up to $250,000, with some
customers using the device for policies of up to $500,000 in amount.

In recent years, we have experienced a decline in sales of OraSure® and related assays for.insurance testing,
primarily due to a reduction in the number of applications for life insurance policies and changes in underwriting
requirements, as well as some consolidation in the industry leading to a reevaluation of testing methods.
However, our sales force continues to encourage additional insurance companies to use OraSure® and to extend
the use of the product by existing customers. We believe there are several factors which could help expand the
use of our device, including increasing acceptance of the reliability of oral fluid testing, the high quality of test
results, the low cost of oral fluid testing relative to blood tests and the ease of use of the OraSure® device.

We also sell our AUTO-LYTE® assays and reagents in the insurance testing market dlrectly to laboratories,
including Heritage Labs and Clinical Reference Laboratory.

'- * -
International Markets }
& i
We sell most of our products into mtematlonal markets primarily through dlsmbutors with knowledge of
their local markets. Principal markets include physicians’ offices, insurance risk assessment, substance abuse,

public health and laboratory testing.

We assist our international distributors"in registering the products and obtaining required regulatory
approvals in each country; and we provide training and support materials. Qur international marketing program
includes direct assistance to distributots. in arranging for laboratory services, cooperation from screening test
manufacturers and performance of Western blot confirmatory tests when-necessary. '

Slgnlficant Products and Customers

Several different’ products have contributed sngmﬁcantly to our financial performance, accounting for 10%
or more of total revenues during the past three years. The OraSure® and Intercept® oral fluid collection devices,
cryosurgical systems products, and OraQuick® rapid HIV test accounted for total revenues of $15.1 million;
$17.3 million and $25.6 million in 2006, $15.9 million, $22.7 million.and $21.6 million- in 2005, and
$14.6 million, $20.2 million and $10.2 million in 2004, respectively. ‘As new products are developed and
commercialized, we expect 1o receive a greater portion of our revenues from these new products.

We currently have two customers, Quest and Abbott, which accounted for 14% and '10% of our totat
revenues, respectively, during 2006. The loss of Quest or Abbott, or a significant decrease”in the volume of
products purchased by either customer, could have a material adverse effect on our results. !

_ S i

Supply and Manufacturing

We manufacture our OraQuick ADVANCE® test in our Bethlehem Pennsylvania facnlny In addition, we
have entered into a supply agreement for the assembly of the OraQuick® device in Thailand, in order to supply
certain international markets. This supply agreement had an initial term of one year, and automatically renews for
additional annual periods unless either party provides a timely notice of termination prior to the end of an annual
period.-We believe that other firms would be able to manufacture the OraQuick® test on terms no less favorable
than those set forth in the agreement if the Thailand contractor would be unable or unwilling to continue
manufacturmg this product. o . " -

. I

We can purchase the HIV antigen and the nitrocellulose required for the Orancl(® test only from a lnmlted
number of sources. The antigen is currently purchased from a single contract supplier under a long-term
agreement with an initial term ending in January 2010 and one-year automatic renewal terms théreafter. The

1




nitrocellulose used in the test is also provided by a single contract supplier, under a supply agreement with a five-
year term ending in 2009. If for any reason these suppliers are unwilling or no longer able to supply our antigen
or nitrocellulose needs, we believe that alternative supplies could be obtained at a competitive cost. However, a
change in the antigen or nitrocellulose would require FDA approval and some additional development work. This
in turn would require significant time to comp]ete and could disrupt our ability to manufacture and sell the
OraQuick® device. _ . . .

We manufacture both the OraSure® and Intercept® collection devices in our Bethlehem,- Pennsylvania
facility, and we expect to continue to do so for the foreseeable future.

The oral fluid Western blot HIV-1 confirmatory test is currently manufactured in. our Bethlehem,
Pennsylvania facitity. The HIV antigen needed to manufacture the Western blot test is currently available from
only a limited number of sources. For many years, we have purchased the antigen for this product from BMX on
an exclusive basis. BMX is also the exclusive distributor of the Western blot test kits. Our agreements with BMX
provide for the supply by BMX of the HIV-1 antigen and distribution of the oral fluid Western blot product by
BMX on an exclusive worldwide basis. In March 2007, BMX notified us that it will not renew the agreements
under which it supplies the HIV-1 antigen and distributes that product on an exclusive, world-wide basis, beyond
December 31, 2007. For a further description of BMX’s election not to renew the Western blot agreements, see
the Section entitled, “Western blot HIV-1 Confirmatory Test,” in this Annual Report. K

Histofreezer® is assembled in The Netherlands by Koninklijke, Utérmﬁhlen, N.V. (“Uterméhlen™), the
company from which we acquired the product in 1998. We purchase the product pursuant to an exclusive
production agreement. Utermdhlen also supplies Freeze Off®, the OTC cryosurgical product for the U.S. and
Canadian markets., Assurning minimum purchase requirements are met, our agreement with Uterméhlen will
terminate at the end of 2008 with respect to the Histofreezer® product. The Uterméhlen agreement was scheduled
to terminate at the end of 2006 with respect to the Freeze Off® product, subject to a minimum purchase
requirement. However, we did not meet that requirement by the end of 2006 due to unexpectedly low purchases
of the product by our distributor, Prestige. As a result, we expect to continue to purchase product for the U.S.
OTC market from Utermohlen for the foreseeable future. The cryosurgical wart removal products distributed in
international OTC markets are supp]led by vendors located in-the United States.

We believe that additional suppliers of all of our»cryosurgical products are available on terms no less
favorable than the terms of our existing supply agreements in the event that our current suppliers would be
unable or unwilling to continue imanufacturing these products. : : '

Our AUTO-LYTE® and MICRO-PLATE assays are manufactured in our Bethlehem, Pennsylvania facility,
These. tests require the production of highly specific and sensitive antibodies corresponding to the antigen of
interest. Substantially all our antibody requirements are provided by contract suppliers. We believe that we have
adequate reserves of antibody supplies and that we have access to sufficient raw materials for these products.

The Q.E.D.® saliva alcohol test is manufactured and packaged for shipment in our Bethlehem, Pennsylvania
© facility.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had 250 full-time employees, including 66 in sales, marketing and client
services; 26 _in research and development; 105 in operations, manufacturing, quality control, information
systems, purchasing and shipping; 19 in regulatory affairs and quality assurance, and 34 in administration and
finance. This compares to 233 employees as of December 31, 2005. Our employees are not currently represented
by a collective bargaining agreement. . o ' -
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Competition - ‘ . ) . "

The dlagnosuc industry i is 2 multi- bllllon dollar 1ntcrnauonal industry and is 1nlcnsely competmve Many of
our competitors are substantmlly larger than we are, and they have greater financial, research, manufactunng and
marketing resources )

lmponant compctmve deIOl‘S for our products include product quallty, prlce ease of usc customer service
and reputatlon Induslry competltlon 1s based on the followmg

i}
. Voo '

“a .

¢ Scientific and technological capabrhty, ; o

*' Proprictary know-how; ' . o )

Fl

« The ability to develop and market products and processes;

»  The ability to obtain FDA or other rcgulatory‘approvals;

+ -

 The ability to manufacture products that meét applicable FDA requirements (i. e., good manufacturmg
practices);

= Access to adequate capital;

' - A e, '

»  The ability to attract and retain qualified personnel; and’

« The availability of patent protection.

A fow large corporations produce a wide variety of diagnostic tests and other medical devices and
equipment. A larger number of mid-size companies generally compete only in the diagnostic industry and a
significant number of small companies produce only a few diagnostic products As aresult, thc diagnostic test
industry is highly fragmented and segmented. . e Co

The future markct for dmgnosuc tests is expected to be.characterized by consohdanon grealer cost
consciousness and .tlghtcr reimbursement policies. The purchasers of diagnostic products are expected to place
increased emphasis on lowering costs, reducing inventory levels, automation, service and volume discounts. The
increased complexity of the market is expected to force many competitors tg enter into joint ventures or license

certain products or technologies. o o -y

We expect competition to intensify as technological advances are made and become more widely known,
and as new products reach the market. Furthermore, new testing methodologies could be developed in the future
that-render our products impractical, uneconomical or obsolete. There can be no assurance that our competitors
will not succeed in developing or marketing technologies and products that are more effective than those we
develop or that would render.our technologies and products obsolete or otherwise commercially unattractive. In
addition, there can be no assurance that our competitors will not succeed in obtaining regulatory approval for
these products,.or introduce or commercialize them before we can do so. These developments could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. .

L . N . P + .

Several companies market or have announced. plans to market oral specimen collection devices and tests
both within and outside the United States. We expect the number of devices competing with our Intercept®,
OraQuick® and OraSure® devices to increase as the benefits of oral specimen-based testing become more widely
accepted. . t )

Competition in the market for HIV testing is intense and is expected to increase.. We believe that the
principal competition will come from existing laboratory-based blood tests, point-of-care rapid blood tests,
laboratory-based urine assays, or other oral fluid-based tests that may be developed. Our competitors include
specializcd biotechnology. firms, as well as pharmaceutical companies with blotechnology divisions and medical
diagnostic companies.

r
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Significant competitors for our OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid test, such as the Ortho Diagnostics division of
Johnson & Johnson, Bio-Rad Laboratories,, Abbott and BMX, sell laboratory-based HIV-1/2 ElAs, and Maxim
Biomedical (formerly Calypte Inc.) sells an HIV-| screening test for urine, in the United States. MedMira and
Trinity Biotech each sell competing rapid HIV-1 blood tests, and Bio-Rad Laboratories and Chembio sell
competing rapid HIV-1/2 blood tests in the United States. These tests compete with our OraQuick ADVANCE®
test in hospitals or other laboratory seftings. In addition, Trinity Biotech and Chembio have received CLIA
waivers for their rapid HIV tests, and thése tests compete with our OraQuick ADVANCE® test in the markets
outside of the traditional hospital and laboratory settings. These companies, or others, may continue to expand
the bodily fluids with which a rapid HIV test may be performed, or develop and commercialize new rapid HIV
tests, which would provide further competition for our OraQuick ADVANCE® test. We bellcve other companies
may also seek FDA approval to sell competing rapld HIV tests in the future,

Internationally, our OraQuick ADVANCE® test competes against rapid HIV tests sold by a number of other
entities, and often these competing tests are sold at prices substantially bélow the prices we charge for our
OraQuick ADVANCE® test. Calypte has developed a rapid oral fluid HIV test which is now bemg sold in certain
foreign countries.

The Intercept® drug testing system competes with laboratory-based drug testing products and services using
testing matrices such as urine, hair, sweat and oral fluid. Major competitors include Ansys Technologies, Inc.,
Dade Behring, Psychemedics and Immunalysis.

QOur MICRO-PLATE oral fluid drug assays, which are sold for use with the Intercept® and OraSure®
collection devices, are expected to come under increasing competitive pressure from “home-brew” assays
developed internally by our laboritory customers. Our oral fluid MICRO-PLATE assays also compete with
urine-based homogeneous assays that are run on' fully-automated, random access analyzers. These tests provide
strong competitive pressure because they provide the benefits of automation, including lower costs and short
turn-around times. In addition, we believe our competitors are developing oral fluid tests suitable for use on these
fully automated homogeneous assay systems and these assays, if and when they are developed and
commercialized, will represent a significant competitive threat to our oral fluid MICRO-PLATE business. In
order to meet this competition, we exécuted a letter of intent with' Roche Diagnostics in October 2006 to enter
into an agreement for the joint development and commercialization of fully-automated homogeneous oral fluid
drugs of abuse assays for use with our Intercept® device. We expect final agreements with Roche to be exécuted
during the first half of 2007.

13
.

Our MICRO-PLATE drugs-of-abuse reagents sold in the forensic toxicology market are targeted to forensic
testing laboratories' where sensitivity, automation and “system solutions” are important. In the past, these
laboratories have typically had to rely on radioimmunoassay test methods to provide an adequate level:of
sensitivity. Radioimmunoassays require radioactive materials, which have a short shelf-life and disposal
problems. Our MICRO-PLATE tests meet the laboratories’ sensitivity needs, run on automated equipmient, are
not radioimmunoassays, and are offered to the 'laboratory as a complete system solution of reagents,
instrumentation and software to meet the specific needs of each customer. We compete with both homogeneous
and heterogeneous tests manufactured by many companies. Significant competitors in the market for these assays
include Microgenics, Inc., Roche Diagnostics and Immunalysns

Sales of our AUTO—LYTE® urine assays have declined substantially during the past several years, primarily
due to competition from assays developed internally by our laboratory customers (i.e., “home brews”), which can
be produced at a cost lower than the price typically paid for our products. Many of our customers no longer
purchase our AUTO-LYTE® assays, and we eventually expect to stop selling this product line,

The Histofreezer® product’s delivery system and operating temperature, which is warmer than liguid
nitrogen, provide us with the opportunity to target sales to primary care physicians, such as family practitioners,
pediatricians and podiatrists. We do not generally target sales to dermatologists because they have the volume of
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patients required to support.the capital costs associated with a liquid nitrogen delivery system, which is also used
to remove warts and other benign skin lesions. There is limited competition for convenient cryosurgical products
for wart removal in the primary care physician market. Major competitors for the Histofreezer® product include
Cryosurgery; Inc. in the United States and Wartner in Europe. Wartner may also eventually compete with
Histofreezer® in the physician market in the United States. = - - '

The Freeze Off® product, sold by Prestige under its Compound W® tradename competes with other OTC
wart removal-products in the United States. Schering-Plough sells a competing-cryosurgical wart removal
product under its Dr. Scholl’s brand and another competing cryosurgical wart removal produ¢t is sold in the OTC
market under the Wartner® name. Wartner also sells a product that competes with our cryosurgical product in the
European OTC footcare market. During 2006, Prestige acquired the Wartner® product sold in the United States
and Canada, and we believe this action constitutes a material breach of our agreement with Prestige: For a further
discussion of our dispute with Prestige regarding this matter; see ltem 3, “Legal Proceedmgs in this Annual
Report . . . i . ' :
i 1 ’ * ' ! 4 ' 1
Q.E.D. ) has two direct competltors Ansys Technologres Inc. and Chemaucs These companies offer semi-
quantitative saliva-based alcohol tests and have received DOT approval. Indirect competitors who offer breath
testing equipment include Intoximeters, Driiger and CML. Although there are lower priced tests on the market .
that use oral fluid or breath as a test medium, these tests are qualitative tests that are believed 'to be substantially
lower in quality and provrde fewer benefits than our QED.® test. oo

t . T LIS 1

Patents and Propnetary Information

‘We seek patent and other mtellectual property rights to protect and preserve our propnetary technology and
our right to capitalize on the results of our research and development activities. We also rely on trade secrets,
know-how, continuing technological innovations and licensing opportunities to provide competitive advantages
for our products in our markets and to accelerate new product introductions. We regularly search for third-party
patents in fields related to our business to shape our own patent and product commercialization strategies as
effectively as possible and to identify. licensing opportunities. United States. patents generally have a maximum
term of 20 years from the date an application isfiled.. .

We have 16 United States patents and numerous foreign patents for the OraSure® and Intercept® collecnon
devices and technology relating to oral fluid collection, _containers for oral fluids, methods, to test oral fluid,
formulations for the manufacture of synthetic oral fluid, and methods to control the volume of oral fluid collected
and dispersed. We have also applied for additional patents, in both the United States and certarn forergn
countries, on such products and technology.

We have one issued patent for our OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid HIV-1/2 antibody test in the United States,
and we teceived notice that the claims-of a related patent have been allowed. We'also have several related patent
applications pending for this product in the United States and internationally. We: have® obtained 'licenses to
certain lateral flow patents and to certain HIV-1 and HIV-2 patents ‘held by other parties. We-also have obtained
a license to certain HCV patents which we intend to use to manufacture and sell a rapid HCV test on the
OraQu1ck® or other technology platform. We obtained these licenses through the payment of certain upfront fees
and an agreement o ‘pay ongoing royalties. ‘Wi believe these fees and royaltles are cornparable to those generally
paid by other compames under srmllar arrangements s L ‘ o

[l -’zr... . L '

We may need to obtain licenses or other ‘rights under, or enter into distribution or other business
arrangements in connection with, certain other intellectual property patents in order to manufacture and sell the
OraQuick ADVANCE® (est or other tests that use the same or similar technology platform. See Section 1A,
entitled “‘Risk Factors,” for a further discussion of these issues.

We have five United States patents and numerous foreign patents issued for apparatuses and methods for the
topical removal of skin lesions relating to our cryosurgical wart removal products, and we have a pending patent
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application related to these products. We have also licensed: another patent relating to apparatuses and methods
for the topical removal of skin lesions relating to our cryosurglcal wart: removal products :
1 . .

We have four United States patents and numerous forelgn patents and patent applrcatlons for the technology
used in the Q.E.D.® test. These patents are related to the analog-to-digital technology color control systems and
methods, systems and devices for the test, and detection of biochemical molecules.

. We have one United Slates patent re]atmg to the method for deteetmg bloed in urine specrmens using our
AUTO-LYTE® products . R ; . o : L

We requ1re our employees, consultants, cutside collaborators -and. other advisors 1o execute confidentiality
agreements upon the commencement of employment or consulting relationships with us, These agreements
provide that all confidential information developed by or made known to the individual during the course of.the
individual’s relationship with us, is to be kept confidential and not disclosed to third parties except in specific
circumstances. In the case of employees, the agreements provide that all inventions conceived by the individual
dunng his or her tenure with' us will be our exclusive property. . ;
. We own rights 1o trademarks and service marks that'we believe are necessary-to ¢onduct our business as

currently operated. In the United States, we own the OraSure®, Intercept®, OraQuick®, OraQuick ADVANCE®,
Histofreezer®, Q.E.D.® and AUTO-LYTE® trademarks. We also own many of these marks and others in several
foreign countries. The Compound W® and Freeze Off® trademarks are owned by Prestige, or its affiliates, in the
United States and Canada, the Scholl and Dr. Scholl tradenames are owned by SSL in Europe, Australia, New
Zealand and other countries outside North and South Amenca and the POINTTS tradename is owned by
Genomma Labs in Mex1co S ' . '

h ' L.
+ ' N

Although important, the issuance of a patent or existence of trademark or trade secret protection does not in
itself ensure the success of our business. Competitors’may be able to produce products competing "with oir
patented products- without infringing our patent-rights.” Issuancé of a patent in one countiy generally ‘does not
prevent manufacture or sale of the patented product‘ in other ¢ountries. -The-issuance of a patent is not conclusive
as to validity or as to the enforceable. scope of the patent. The " validity or enforceability of a’ patent can be
challenged by litigation after its issuance. If the outcome of such litigation is adverse to the owner of the patent,
the owner’s rights could be diminished or withdrawn.' Trade secret protectron does not prevent mdependent
dlscovery and explo1tat10n of the secret product or techmque :

O k
LN

Government Regulation

General

. . L . _
Most of our products are regulated by the FDA, certain state and local agencles and comparable regu]atory
bodies in.other countries. This regulated environment governs almost all aspects of development, production, and
marketing, including product .testing, authorizations to market, labeling, promotion, manufacturing and
recordkeeping, - - - e - ' . S _ .

All of our FDA-regulated prod_ucts.requi.re some form of action. by.the FDA before they can be marketed in
the United States. After approval or clearance by the FDA, we must continue to comply.with other FDA
requirements applicable to marketed products. Both before and after approval or clearance, failure to comply
with the FDA’s requirements can lead to-significant penalties or.could disrupt our ability to sell these products.
In addition, the FDA could refuse permission to obtain cert1ﬁcates needed to export cur products if the agency
determines that we are not in compliance. T 0 -

Domestic Regui’anon

Most of our products are regulated in the Un1ted States as med1cal dev1ces '

16




There are two mechanisms by which regulated medicat devices can be placed on the market in the
United States. Some products may qualify for clearance under Section 510(k) of the Federal Food, Drug and
Cosmetic Act. To obtain this clearance from the FDA, the manufacturer must provide a premarket notification
that it intends to begin marketing the product, and show that the product is substantially equwalem to another
legally marketed product (i.e., that it has the same intended use and is as safe and effective as a legally marketed
device and does not raise different questions of safely and effectiveness). I some cases, the submission must
include data from human clinical studies. Marketing may commence when'the FDA issues a clearance letter
finding substantial equivalence. An applicant must submit a 510(k) application at least 90 days before marketing
of the affected product commences. Although FDA clearance may be granted within that 90-day period, in some
cases as much as a year or more may be required before clearance is obtained, if at ail.

If the medicé] device does not qualify for the 510(k) pfocedure (eithér because it is not substantially
equivalent to a legally marketed device or because it is required by statute and the FDA's regulations to have an
approved premarket appllcauon) the FDA must approve a premarket appli¢ation, or PMA, before rnarketmg can
begin. PMAs must demonstrate, among other matters, that the medical device provides a reasonable assurance of
safety and effecuveness A PMA is typically a comp]ex submission, including the results of preclinical ‘and
clinical studies. Preparing a PMA is a detailed and time-consuming process. Once a PMA has been submitted,
the FDA is required to review the submission within 180 days. However, the FDA's review may, and often is,
much longer, often requlrmg one_year or more, and may include requests for addntlona] data and facnhty
inspections before approval is granted ‘if at all.

O o

“Somme of our products are used for non-medical purposes and many of our drugs-of-abuse products sold to
state crime labs are for forensic use. The FDA does not currently regulate products used for thesé purposes.

Every company that manufactures medical devices distributed in the United States must comply with the
FDA’s Quality System Regulations (“QSRs”). These regulations govern the manufacturing process, including
design, manufacture, testing, release, packaging, distribution, documentation and purchasing.-In complying with
QSRs, manufacturers must continue to expend timé, monéy and effort in the area of production and quality
assurance to ensure full technical compliance. Companies are also subject to other post-market and general
requirements, including restrictions imposed on marketed products, promotional standards and requirements for
recordkeeping and reporting of certain adverse reactions, If there are any modifications made to our marketed
devices, a premarket nonﬁcauon or PMA may be required to be submitted to, and cleared or approved by, the
FDA, before the modified device may be marketed. The FDA regularly inspects ‘companies to determine
compliance with QSRs and other post-market requirements. Failure to comply with statutory requirements and
the FDA’s regulations can result in warning letters, monetary penalties, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory
approvals, operating restrictions, total or partial suspensnon of produclmn injunctions, product recalls, seizure of
products and criminal prosecution.

' . .
' [ . .

The Clinical Laboratory. Improvements Amendments of 1988, or CLIA, prohibit laboratories -from
performing tests- for the purpose of providing information for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of any
disease or impairment of, or the assessment of, the health of human beings, unless there is in effect for such
laboratories a certificate issued by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services applicable to the category
of examination or procedure performed. We consider the applicability of. the requirements of CLIA in the design
and development of our products. We have obtained a waiver of the CLIA requirements for both our OraQuick
ADVANCFE® rapid HIV-1/2 antibody test and our Q.E.D.® alcohol saliva test and may seek similar waivers for
certain other products. A:CLIA waiver allows certain customers to use the waived products that may not have
been able to use them without complying with certain quality contro} and other requirements.

Certain of our products may also be affected by state regulations in the United States. For example, there are
several states that restrict or do not currently permit oral fluid drug testing in the workplace or other markets. In
addition, several states prohibit or limit the use of rapid, point-of-careiHIV testing..We are presently working
with legislators or regulators in certain of these states in an effort to modify or remove any restrictions affecting
our ability to sell producis. :
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International .

. We are also subject to regulations in foreign countries governing products, human clinical trials and
marketmg, and may need to obtain approval from mtemauonal public health agencies, such as the World Health
Organization, in order to sell products in certain countries. Approval processes vary from country to country, and
the length of time required for approval or to obtain other clearances may in some cases be l(mger than that
requ1red for U.S. governmental approvals. We generally pursue approvai only in those countncs that we belleve
have a significant market opportunity. _

The International Organization for Standardization (“I$O”) is a worldwide federation of national standards
bodies from some 130 countries, established in 1947. The mission of the 1SO is to promote the development of
standardization and related activities in the world with a view to facilitating the international exchange of goods
and services. ISO certification is a pre-requisite to use of the CE mark and indicates that our quality system
complies with standards applicable to activities ranging from initial product design and development through
production and distribution. The CE mark is a European Union (“EU”) requirement to sell products that fall
under the scope of the Medical Devices Directive (“MDD”) and the In Vitro Diagnostic Directive (“IVDD”). The
CE mark is evidence that the manufacturer and the product meet the requirements of all applicable directives,
mcludmg the MDD and IVDD. 0

We received authorization to use the CE mark for thc OraSure® and lntercept® collection devices And’our
Histofreezer® product line, and SSL International has obtained authorization to use the CE mark for our
cryosurgical wart removal product in the QTC European footcare market. In addition, we are currently in the
process of obtaining authorization to affix a CE mark to our OraQuick ADVANCE® HIV-1/2 test.

We must also comply with certain registration requirements as dictated by Health Canada, prior to
commencing sales in Canada. We have completed this process for several of our current products and may do so
with respect to other products in the future. In addition, Canadian law requires manufacturers of medical devices
to_have a quality management system that meets various [SO requirements in order to obtain a license to sell
their devices in Canada. ‘ o

Anti-Kickback Laws

The Federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits the knowmg and willful offer, payment, solicitation, or receipt
of any form of remuneration in return for, or to induce:

*  The referral of a person;

"+ The furnishing or arrangmg for the furnishing of items or services re1mbursable under Medicare,
Medicaid or other governmental programs; or

» The purchase, lease, or order. of, or the arrangement or recommendation of the purchasing, leasing, or
ordering of any item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid, or other govemmental
programs. - .. , ' .

Our products are or may be purchased by customers that will seek or receive reimbursement under
Medicare, Medicaid or other governmental programs. Noncompliance with the federal anti-kickback legislation
can result in exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid, or other governmental programs, restrictions on our ability to
operate in certain jurisdictions, as well as civil and criminal pena}tles any of which could have an adverse effect
on our business and results of operations. "

The Federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law prohibits the offering or transferring of remuneration to a
Medicare or Medicaid beneficiary that the person knows or should know is likely to influence the beneficiary's
selection of a particular supplier of Medicare or Medicaid payable items or services. Noncompliance can result in
civil money penalties of up to $10,000 for each wrongful act, assessment of three times the amount claimed for
each item or service and exclusion from the Federal healthcare programs.
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Many states have also adopted some form of anti-kickback laws. A determination of liability under such
laws could result in fines and penalties and restrictions on our ability to operate in these jurisdictions. :

We believe that we are operating in compliance with these laws.

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

The U S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA™) proh:blts corporations and individuals from engaging in
certam activities to obtain or retain business or to influence a person working in an official capacity. It is illegal
o’ pay, offer to pay or authorize the payment of anythmg of value to any foreign government official, government
staff member, political party or political candidate in an attempt to obtam or retain business or to otherwise
influence a person working in an official capacity. Our present and future ‘business has and will continue to be
subject to the FCPA and varjous other laws, rules and/or regulations applicable to us as a result of our
international sales. o N ' '

_ Environmental Regulation

Because of the nature of our current and proposed research, development, and manufacturing processes, we
are subject to stringent federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations and policies governing the use, generation,
manufacture, storage, air emission, effluent discharge and handling and disposal of materials and wastes. We
believe that we have comphed with these laws and regulanons in all matenal respects.

The foregoing discussion of our business should be read in conjunction with the Fmanmal Statements and
accompanying notes included in Item 15 of this Annual Report.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors ' ¢

The'i’ollowing is é’dis_cussion of certain signiﬂcantl risk factors that could pofentihlly negatively impact our
financial condition, performance and prospects.

- I Ll M
Regulatory Risks o '

The Need to Obtain Regulatory Approvals and Respond to Changes in Regulatory Requirements Could
Adversely Aﬁ‘ect Our Business.

Many of our proposed and exnstmg products are subject to regulation by the FDA and other governmental or
public health agencies. In particular, we are _subject to strict governmental controls on the development,
manufacture, labeling, distribution and marketing of our products..In addition, we are often required to.obtain
approval or registration with foreign governments or regulatory bodies before we can import and sell our

products in foreign countries. \

» T . . .

The process of obtaining required approvals or clearances from governmental or public health agencies can -
involve lengthy and detailed laboratory testing, human clinical trials, sampling activities and other costly, time-
consuming procedures. These approvals can require the submission of a large amount of clinical data which may
require significant time to ‘obtain, It is also possible that a product will not perform at a level neéeded to generate
the clinical data required to obtain an approval or clearance. The submission of an application to the FDA or
other regulatory authority does not guaranice that an approval or clearance to market the product will be
received. Each authority may impose its own requirements and delay or refuse to grant approval or ¢learance,
even though a product has been approved in another country or by another agency.

Fa

Moreover, the approval or clearance process for a new product can be complex and lengthy. This time span
increases our costs 1o develop new products as well as the risk that-we. will not succeed in mtroducmg or selling
them in the United States or other countries, : - '
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We are in the process,of conducting clinical studies to support an application for FDA. approval of our
OraQuick ADVANCE® HIV-1/2 test for. sale in-the United States, OTC market. We also-expect to conduct clinical
trials in support of our application for FDA approval of our OraQuick® HCV test for professional use. There can
be no assurance that these clinical trials will generate sufficient data to support FDA approval of eithér product or
that FDA approval will be obtained. Failure to obtain or any delay in obtaining FDA approval for either product
could significantly reduce future revenues and could adversely affect our financial performance.

Newly promulgated or changed regulanons could also require us to undergo additional trials or procedures
or could make it impractical or impossible for'us to market our products for certain uses, in certain markets, or. at
all. For example, during 2004 SAMHSA, which is part of 'the U,S. Depdnment of Health and Hamari Services,
issued proposed regulations for the use of oral fluid drug testing for federal' workers. Although the SAMHSA
regulations have been withdrawn, if and when they are issued in final form, they could permit us to marKet and
sell our oral fluid drug tests for use with federal workers only if certain modifications are made to our products.
If we are unable to make these modifications, or if the modifications require significant time to develop, our
ability to sell our oral fluid drug testing products in that market could be limited. In addition, the extent to which
the final SAMHSA regulations permit the sale of our oral fluid drug tests for use with federal workers may
influence whether customers in the workplace, criminal justice or other unregulated markets use our products.

The regulations in some states may restrict our ability to sell products in those states. For example, certain
states restrict or do not allow the testing of oral fluid for drugs of abuse or the rapid, point-of-care testing for
HIV., While we intend to work with state legislators and regulators to remove or modify any applicable
restrictions, there is no guarantee we will be successful in these efforts. T

L . P

In addition, all in vitre diagnostic products that are to be sold in the EU must bear the CE mark indicating
conformance with the essential requirements of the IVDD. We are not permitted to sell our-products in the EU
without a CE mark, which could lead to the termination of strategic alliances and agreements for sales of those
products in the EU. We have obtained the CE mark for several of our existing _products and we intend to CE
mark our OraQuick ADVANCE® test and certain of our future products and are not aware of any material réason
why we will be unable to do so. However, there can be no assurance that compliance with all provisions of the
IVDD will be demonstrated and the CE mark will be obtained for all products that we desire to sell in the EU.

The Inability to-Extend the Shelf Life of Our OraQuick ADVANCE® Test Could Adversely Affect Qur Business.

The shelf life of a product is the period of time from the date of manufacture during which the product is
expected to perform in accordance with its specifications and labelinig. In'order to successfully sell cur products,
they néed to have a shelf life that is long enough to cover the time required to distribute the product to a customer
and provide the customer witha reasonable period to use that product. ) :

Where a product has a short shelf life, our ability to sell that product may be adversely affected.’In order to
. extend the shelf life, we may be required to submit real time stablllty data supportmg such an extensnon to the
FDA for approval o

Our OraQuick ADVANCE® HIV-1/2 test has a shelf life of six months. While this shelf life has not
prevented us from selling into the public health and hospital markets in the United States, it has limited our
ability to sell that fest internationally. We also believe a shelf life of at least 12 months ‘will be required to sell the
OraQuick ADVANCE® test successfully into the United States OTC market.

We are workjng to extend the shelf life of our OraQuick ADVANCE‘® test. However, there can be no
assurance that we will be successful in obtaining such an extensien or its approval by the FDA, If we are
unsuccessful in obtaining a shelf life extension, our ability to sell the. OranCk® test may be adversely affected
and we may not be able to sell it successfully into the United States OTC market. ' _ .
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Failure to Comply With FDA or Other Regulatory Requirements May Require Us to Suspend Production of
Qur Products or Institute a Recall Which Could Result in Higher Costs and a Loss of Revenues.

We can manufacture and sell many of our products, both in the United States and inlemationaliy, oniy if we
comply with regulations of government agencies such as the FDA! We have lmplemented quality assurance and
other systems Lhat are intended to comp]y with applicable regulauom

© Although we believe that we have adequate processes in place to ensure compliance with these
requirements, the FDA or other regulatory bodies could force us to stop manufacturing or setling our products if
it concludes that we are out of compliance with applicable regulations. The FDA and -other regulatory bodies
could also require us to recall products if we fail to comply with applicable regulations, which could force us to
stop manufacturing such products. Such actions by the FDA could adversely affect our revenues. See the Section
entitled “Government Regulation™ in Item | of this Annual Report for a further discussion of applicable
regulatory requirements.

L . R R e . . K - 3
Risks Relating to Our Industry, Business and Strategy
Our Ability o Sell Products Could be Affected by Competition From New and Extsrmg Dtagnosnc Producrv
and by Treatments or Other Non Dragnosuc Products Whtch May be Developed 4

The diagnostic industry is “focused on the testmg of blologlcal specnmens in a laboratory or at the point of
care and is highly compétitive and rapidly. changing. Many of our principal competitors have considerably
greater financial, technical and marketing resources. As new products enter the market, our products may become
obsolete or a compeutor s products may be more effective or more effectively marketed and sold than ours. If we
fail to maintain and enhance our competitive position, our customers may dec1de to use producls developed by
competitors which could result in a loss of revenues,

We also face competition from products which may be sold at'a lower price. To the extent this competition
arises, customers may choose to buy lower cost products from third parties or we may be forced to sell our
products at a lower price, both of which could result in a loss of revenues or a lower gross margin contribution
from the sale of our products. . .

In addition, the development and commercialization of products outside of the diagnostics industry could
adversely affect sales of our product. For example, the development of a safe and effective vaccine to prevent
HIV or preventatwe treatments for other diseases or conditions that our producls are designed to detect, could
reduce, or eventually eliminate, the demand for our HIV or other diagnostic products and thereby result in a loss
of revenues,

Our Research, Developmem and Commercmhzanon E_ffons May Not Succeed and Our Compemors May
Develop and Commercralrze More Effecuve or Successful Diagnostic Products.

In order to remain competitive, we must reguiarly commit substantial resources o research and
development and the commercialization of new products.

The research and development process generally takes a significant amount of time from inception to
commercial product launch. This process is conducted in various stages. During each stage there is a substantial
risk that, we will not.achieve our goals on a timely basis, or at all, and we may have to abandon a product in
which we have invested substantial amounts..

During 2006, 2005 and 2004, we incurred $86 million, $5.3 million and $6.1 million, respectively, in
research and development expenses. We expect to continue to incur significant costs from our research and
development activities. - e '
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Successful products require significant development and investment, including testing, to demonstrate their
cost-effectiveness or other benefits prior to commercialization, In addition, regulatory approval must be obtained
before most products may be sold. Additional development efforts on these products will be required before any
regulatory authority will review them. Regulatory authorities may not approve these products for commercial
sale. In addition, even if a product is developed and all applicable regulatory approvals are obtained, there may
be little or no market for the product. Accordingly, if we fail to develop commercially successful products, or if
competitors develop more effective products or a greater number of successful new products, customers may
decide to use products developed by our competitors. This would result in a loss of revenues and adversely affect
our results of operations, cash flows and business. )

If We Lose Our Key Personnel or Are Unable to Attract and Retain Quahf ed Personnel as Necessary, Our
Business Could be Harmed. : )

Our success will depend to a large extent upon the contributions of our executive officers, management and
sales, marketing, operations and scientific staff. We may not be able to attract or retain qualified employees in
the future due to the intense competition for qualified personnel among medical products businesses.

If we are not able to attract and retain the necessary personnel to accomplish our business objectives, we
may experience constraints that will adversely affect our ability to effectively manufacture, sell and market our
products, to meet the demands of our strategic partners in a timely fashion, or to supporl internal research and
development programs. Although we believe we will be successful in attracting and retaining qualified
personnel, competition for experienced scientists and other personnel from numerous compamcs and academic
and other research institutions may limit our ability to do so on acceptable terms. N

Future Acquisitions or Investments Could Disrupt Our Ongoing Business, Distract Our Muanagement, Increase
Our Expenses and Adversely Affect Our Business.

We may consider strategic acquisitions or investments as a way to expand our busmess in the future. These
activities, and their impact on our business, are subject to the following risk factors:

* Suitable acquisitions or investments may not be found or consummated on terms that are satisfactory to
us; : '

* We may be unable to successfully integrate an acquired company’s personnel, assets, management
systems and technology into our business; .

+  Acquisitions may require substantial expense and management time and could disrupt our business;

* An acquisition and subscquenl integration : actiwtles may require greater capital resources than ongmally
anticipated at the time of acquisition;

= An acquisition may result in the incurrence of unexpected expenses, the dilution of our earnings or our
existing stockholders’ percentage ownership, or potential losses from undiscovered liabilities not
covered by an indemniﬁcation from the scller(s) of the acquired business;

« An acquls:uon may result in the toss of existing key personnel or customers or the loss of the acquired
company’s key personnel or customers;

= The benefits expected to be derived from an acquisition may not materialize and could be affected by
numerous factors, such as regulatory developments, general economic conditions and increased
competition: and

= An acquisition of a foreign business may involve additional risks, including, but not limited to, foreign
currency exposure, liability under foreign laws or regulations and not being able to successfully
assimilate differences in foreign business practices or overcome language or cultural barriers.

The occurrence of one or more of the above or other factors may prevent us from achieving all or a
significant part of the benefits expected from an acquisition or investment. This may adversely affect our
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financial condition, results of operations and ability to grow our business or otherwise achieve our financial or

\

strateglc objectives. . t . o o

Our Revenues Could be Affected by Third-Party Reimbursement Policies and Potential Cost Constraints.

The end-users of our products are expected to increasingly include hospitals, physicians and other healthcare
providers. Use of our products could be adversely impacted if these end-users do not receive reimbursement for
the cost of our products by their patients’ healthcare insurers or payors. Our net sales could also be adversely
affecied by changes in reimbursement policies of governmental or private healthcare payors,.including in
particular the level of reimbursement for our products. In the United States, healthcare providers such as
hospitals and physicians who purchase diagnostic products generally rely .on third-party payors, principally
private health insurance plans, Medicare and Medicaid, to reimburse all or part of the cost of the product and
procedure. We believe that the overall escalating cost of medical products and services has led to, and will
continue to lead to, increased pressures on the healthcare industry, both foreign and domestic, .to reduce the cost
of products and services. Given the efforts to control and reduce healthcare costs in the United States in recent
years, currently available levels of reimbursement may not continue to be available in the future for our existing
products or products under development: Third-party reimbursement and coverage may not be available or
adequate in either the United States or foreign markets, current reimbursement amounts may be decreased in the
future and future legislation, and regulation or. reimbursement.policies of* third-party payors may reduce the
demand for our products or our ability to sell our products ona proﬁtable basis. X

Increases in Demand for Our Products Could Require Us to Erpend Considerable Resources 1o Meet the
Deimand or Harm Our Customer Relationships 'if We are Unable to Meet Demand

TS o

If we experience significant or unexpected increases in the demand for our products, we and our supphers
may .not be able to meet that demand without expending, additional capital resources.-These capital resources
could involve the cost of new machinery or even the cost of new manufacturing facilities. This would increase
our capital costs, which could adversely affect our eamnings. Qur suppliers may be unable or unwilling to expend
the necessary capital resources or otherwise expand their capacity. In addition, new manufacturing equipment or
facilities may require FDA approval before they can be used to manufacture our products. To the extent we are
unable to obtain or are delayed in obtaining such approvals, our ability to meet the demand for our products
could be adversely affected. ' . t -

If we or our suppliers are unable to develop necessary manufacturing capabilities in a timely manner, our
net sales could be adversely affected. Failure to cost-effectively tincrease production volumes, if required, or
lower than anticipated yields or production problems encountered as a result of changes that we or our suppliers
make in our manufacturing processes to meet increased demand, could result in shipment delays or interruptions
and increased manufacturing costs Wthh could also have a material adverse effect on our revenues and
profitability. - v

QOur inability to meet customer demand for our products: could also harm our customer relationships and
impair our reputation within the industry. This, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our business and
prospects.

Risks Relating to Collaborators o L
S

Qur Failure to Maintain Existing Distribution Channels, or Develop New Distribution Channels, May Result
in Lower Revenues . . . P .

We have marketed many of our products by collaborating with laboratories, diagnostic companies and
distributors. Qur sales depend to a substantial degree on our ability to sell products to these customers and on the
marketing abilities of the companies with which we collaborate. - . : ) .
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We currently sell our OraQuick -ADVANCE® rapid HIV-1/2 antibody test to thé:diagnostics division of
Abbott Laboratories for distribution into the United States hospital market on an exclusive basis. Abbott recently
announced that it will sell a portion of its diagnostics business to General Electric (“GE”), inciuding its rights to
the OraQuick ADVANCE® product. This sale has not yet closed, and it is unclear what, if any, effect it may have
on sales of our Oi'aQuick A.DVANCE,@ test ih the hospital market.

Some of our distributors or other customers may not fulfill their contractual obligations to us. Although we
will try to maintain and expand our business w:th our distributors and customers and require that they fulftll their
contractual obligations, there can be no assurance that such companies will continte to purchase or distribute our
products,” maintain historic order volumes or otherwise meet their purchase or othér obligations, or that new
distribution channels will be available on satisfactory terms. The failure of these d:smbutors or other customers
to purchase our products could adversely affect our revenues. o :

In. September 2006, Prestige Brands, Inc., the domestic dmtnbutor of the Freeze Off® cryosurglcal wart
removal product, announced that it had acquired the Wartner® cryosurgical product, which directly competes
with .the Freeze Off® product in the United States and Canadian.OTC markets. We believe: this acquisition
constitutes a material breach of our agreemem with Prestige, and we are pursuing arbitration to resolve this
matter. We believe we have already: suffered significant damages from this breach and Prestige’s actions may
continue to impact future sales of the Freeze Off® product. If we are unable to successfully resolve this matter
with Prestige or find an alternative arrangement for distributing our cryosurgical product into the United States
and Canada OTC markets, our revenues could be negatlvely affected.

Some of our distributors have also conso]ndaled in recent years and such consolidation has had, and may
continue to have, an adverse impact on the level of orders for our products. In addition, some distributors have
experienced, and may continue to experience, pressure from their customers to reduce the price of their products
and testing services. For example, several of our insurance testing laboratories are facing this pressure and are
using lower.cost “home brew” insurance testing assays that they have developed internally or purchased from our
competitors. This has reduced our assay sales and is expected to lower sales of these products in 2007 and
beyond. . o -

The Use of Sole Supply Sources or Third Party Suppliers For Critical Components of Cur Producrs Could
Adversely Affect Our Business.

We currently purchase-certain critical components of our products from sole:supply sources or other third
party suppliers. For.example, all of.the HIV antigen and nitrocellulose required to make our OraQuick
ADVANCE® rapid HIV-1/2 antibody test is purchased from sole source suppliers. In addition, the conjugates
used in our MICROPLATE oral fluid drugs of abuse assays are obtained from third party suppliers.

If these suppliers are unable or unwilling to supply the required componem or if they make changes in the
component or do not supply materials meeting our specifications, we may need to find another source and
perform additional development work. We may also need to obtain FDA or other regulatory approvals for the use
of the alternative component for our products. Completing that development and obtaining such approvals could
require significant time to complete and may not occur at all. The availability of critical components from sole
supply sources or other third parties could also reduce our control over pricing, quality and timely delivery.
These events could either disrupt our ability to manufacture and sell certain of our preducts, or completely
prevent us from doing so or increase our costs. Any such event could have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations, cash flows and business.

Bl L

The Unavailability of Cermm Products Dzsmbmed by a Third Party Could Adversely Aﬂecr Sales of Our
. .OraSure® Oral Fluid Collection Device, . . -

In testing an oral fluid sample collected -with .an OraSure® device for HIV-1 in the Umted States, our
customers must use an HIV-1 EIA screening test approved by the FDA for use with our OraSure® device. Where
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an oral fluid sample ‘screens positive for HIV-1, our customers must then use our-oral fluid Western blot HIV-1
confirmatory test, which has also been approved by the FDA for use with our OraSure® device, to confirm that
positive indication.

BMX currently manufactures and sells the.only oral fluid HIV-1 EIA screemng test that has received FDA
approval for use in detecting HIV-1 in an oral fluid specimen collécted with our OraSure® collection device.
BMX also supplies the HIV-1 antigen used to manufacture our oral fluid Western blot HIV-1 conﬁrmatory test
and is the exclusive world-wide distributor of that product.

t .

In late 2006, BMX announced that it will discontinue mdnufacturmg the HIV-1 EIA sereemng test durmg
2007 and that, due to quahty problems it may | have dlfﬁculty supplying this screenmg test prlor to the time it
ceases manufacturmg As a result, we are working with BMX, the FDA and CDC, our major laboratory
customers and other potential suppliers to find or develop an alternative: HIV- 1 EIA screening test that can be

used with oral fluid samples collected with our OraSure® device. '
I ) | e

. In March 2007, BMX notified us that it will-not renew the agreement under which it supplies the HIV-1|
antigen used to manufacture our oral fluid Western blot HIV-1 confirmatory test or.the agreement under which it
distributes that product on an exclusive, world-wide basis. As a result, these agreements will terminate on
December 31, 2007. Pursuant to the terms of the antigen supply agreement, we have the right to purchase an
additional two-year supply of the antigen following termination so that we can continue to manufacture and sell
our oral fluid Western blot test. When this additional two-year supply is combined with our existing inventory of
the HIV-1 antigen, we believe we will have a suffucient supply of HIV-1 antigen to meet the demand for our
Western blot test for three to four years after the agreement terminates. We also intend to pursue a long-term
supply agreement directly with the vendor (a former affiliate of BMX) used by BMX to manufacture the HIV-1
antigen. During 2006, sales of our oral fluid Western blot HIV-1 conﬁrmatory test totaled apprommately
$330,000. . '

If at some point in the future our customers cannot obtain either an HIV: l EIA screemng test or a Western
blot or other HIV-1 confirmatory test that has been approved by the FDA for use wtth our OraSure® collection
device, sales of our OraSure® device could be negatlvely affected.

.

-

We May Need Strategic Partners to Assist in Developing and Commercializing -Some of Our Diagnostic
Products. v e L

Although we intend to pursue some product opportunities independently, opportunities that require a
significant level of investment for development and commercialization or a distribution network beyond our
existing sales force may necessitate involving one or more strategic partners. Our strategy for development and
commercialization of products may entail entering into arrangements with distributors or other corporate
partners, universities, research laboratories, licensees and others. We may be requlred to transfer material rights
to such strategic partners, licensees and others. While we expect that our current and future partners, licensees
and others have and will have an economic motivation to succeed in performing their contractual responsibilities,
there is no assurance that they will do $0 and the amount and timing of resources to be devoted to these activities
will be controlled by others. Consequently, there can be no assurance that any revenues or proﬁls will be derived

[

from such arrangements. - . ' S '

We may need to coliaborate with one or more third parties or find new product distribution channels in
order to.commercialize our OraQuick ADVANCE® HIV-1/2 test should we receive approval from the FDA for
use in the United States OTC market. In order to successfully commercialize our OraQuick ADVANCE® test in
the OTC market, we may need to invest significantly in advertising and promotion and obtain distribution
channels to the OTC market. If we are unabie to collaborate with a third party having sufficient resources to
assist in these efforts or find alternative distribution channels to access the OTC market, we may need to incur
significant costs for advertising and promotion, and our ab:ltty to maximize our future revenues for this
opportunity could be adversely affected. . ' :
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Risks Relating to Our Financial Results, Structure and Need for Financing -

ot

We Have a History af Losses Prior to 2005.

We achieved our first full years of profitability in 2005 and 2006. However, as of December 31, 2006 the
Company had an accumulated deficit of $98.4 million. .

-

QOur ability to achieve continued proﬁtébility in the future will be dependent upon a number of factors
including, without limitation, the following:

Credting market acceptance for and selling inclreasing volumes of our OraQui(:k‘z‘lDVM\J’CE® rapid
HIV-1/2 antibody test, Intercept® drug testing product and OraSure® collection device;

The degree to which certain of our new products may replace sales of our existing products. and the
financial impact of that change, including the degree to which our OraQuick ADVANCE® test will
replace our OraSure® collection device for HIV-1 testing or sales of our cryosurgical wart removal
products in the OTC market will replace sales of our Histofreezer® product to physicians’ offices or
other professional markets; . : . . u

The degree to -which our major dlstnbutors comply with their contractual obligations, mcludmg
minimum purchase commltments

Whether we are ab]e to extend the shelf life of our OraQuick ADVANCE® HIV-1/2 test,

Our ability to successfully resolve clalms or litigation, including patent mfrmgement litigation;
1

The level of expendltures we are required to make in order to develop and obtain regulatory approvals
for our new products, including our OraQuick ADVANCE®= HIV-1/2 test for use in the OTC market and
an OraQuick® HCV test for professional use;

Achieving growlh in sales of our wart removal products in the OTC market and selling other products,
such as our OraQulck ADVANCE® HIV-1/2 test, in the OTC market;

Whether we are able to ﬁnd a replacemem for the BMX HIV- l EIA screening test for use in connection
with oral fluid samples collected with our OraSure® device;

Achieving growth in international markets with our OraQuick ADVANCE® HIV-1/2 test, cryosurgical
wart removal products and other products;

Changes in the level of competition, such as would occur if larger and financially stronger competitors

" introduced new or lower priced products to compete with our products;

Changes in economic conditions in domestic or mtematlona] markets such as economic downturns
reduced demand, inflation and currency ﬂuctuanons

Failure to achieve our targets for growth in revenues; .- . .

Changes in dlsmbulor buying patterns or a buildup of mgmﬁcam quantltles in our distributors’

" inventories or dlS[l"lbullOl] channels; and

Commercml]y developing, and obtammg regulatory approvals and creating market acceptance. for new
products in a time frame consistent with our cbjectives.

Even though we achieved profitability for 2005 and 2006, there can be no assurance that we will be able to
sustain such profitability in the future. . . ‘ :

Utilization of Our Deferred Ta_} Asfets May Be Limited and is Dependent on Future Taxable Income.

As of December 31, 2006, we had federal net operating loss (“*NOL”) carryforwards of $53.0 million for
federal income tax purposes. The Tax Reform Act of 1986 contains provisions under Section 382 of the Internal
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Revenue Code that limit the NOLs that may be used in any given year in the event of specified occurrences,
including significant ownership changes. If these specified events occur, we may lose some or all of the tax
benefits of these carryforwards.

. . ' - ]

During 2003, we determined, based on our assessment of both positive and negative evidence, which takes
into consideration our forecasted taxable income, that it was more likely than not that we will benefit from the
use of a significant portion of our deferred tax assets, and therefore we reduced our valuation allowance on our
deferred tax assets related to these NOLs. If in the future we determine, based on our assessment of both- positive
and negative evidence, that it is more likely than not that we will not realize all or a portion of the deferred tax
assets, we: will record a valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets which would result in recognition of
income tax expense.

We May Require Future Additional Capital. ‘ " '

L 4 - "
Our future liguidity and ability to meet our future capitat requirements, will depend on numerous factors,
including, but not limited to, the following:

= The costs and timing of the expansion of our ma‘nufar:luring ‘capacityl; ..

* The success of our research and product development efforts; |

* The magnitude of capital expenditures; ,

. Changes in ex1st1ng and potential relationships with distributors and other busmess partners

*  The time and cost of obtammg regulatory approvals;

. The costs involved in obtaining and enforcing patents, proprictary ﬁghts and necessary licenses;
* The costs and liability associated with patent infringement or other types of litigation;

* The costs and timing of expansion of sales and marketing a.cgivities;

*  The timing of the commercial launch of new products;

* The extent to which existing and new products gain market acceptance;
¢ The scope and results of clinical testing;

* Competing technological and market developments; and

* The scope and timing of strategic acquisitions.

if additional financing is needed, we may seek to raise funds through the sale of equity or other securities or

through bank borrowings. There can be no assurance that financing through the sale of securities, bank
borrowings or otherwise, will be available to us on satisfactory terms, if at all.

13

An Economic Downturn, Terror:st Arracks or Natronal D:sasters May Adversely Affect Qur Business.

- Changes in economic conditions could adversely affect our business. For example, in a difficult economic
environment, customers may be unwilling or unable 10 invest in new diagnostic products, may elect to reduce the
amcunt of their purchases or may perform less drug testing because of declining employment levels or the
issuance of fewer life insurance policies. A weakening business climate could also cause longer sales cycles and
stower growth, and could expose us to increased business or credit risk in dealing with customers or suppliers
adversely affected by economic conditions.

Terrorist.attacks such as those occurring on Septembe} 11, 2001, or national disasters such as Hurricane
Katrina, and subsequent governmental responses to these events could cause economic instability. These actions
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could adversely affect economic conditions both within and outside the United States and reduce demand for our
products’ Terronst attacks and natural disasters could cause governments -and regulatory agencies, such as the
FDA or agencies that perform similar functions outside the United States, to focus their resources on other
matters, such as relief efforts or vaccines or other products intended to address the threat of biological or
chemical warfare. This diversion of resources could eliminate or delay the bulk procurement of-our products by
government agencies or delay our ability t& obtain regulatory. approvals required-to manufacture, market or sell
our products in the United States and other countries. These events could also disrupt the operations of our
customers and suppliers and eliminate, reduce or delay our customers’ ablhty to purchase and use our products
and our qupphers ability to provide raw materials and ﬁmshed products. :

Our Stock Price Could Continue to be Volatile.

Our stock price has been volatile, has fluctuated subslantlally in the past and may be volatile in the future
and could experience substantial declines. The followmg factors among others could have a SIgmﬁcant impact
on the market for our Commeon Stock: B -

* Future announcements concemmg us or our products
* Future announcements concemmg our competitors or 1ndustry,
« Developments in patent or other proprictary rights;

»  Litigation or threatened litigation;

.

*  Public concern as to the performance or safety of products that we or others have developed or sold;

+ Failure to achieve, or changes in, financial estimates by securities ana}ysts and comments or opinions
about us by securities analysts or major stockholders; -

* Governmental regulation;
«  Clinical results with respect to our products in development or'those of our competitors;
» Changes in the level of competition;

* Lossofor declinos in sales to major distribuiors or customers;
»  The relatively low trading volume for cur Common Stock;

*  Period to period fluctuations in our operating results;

*  General market and economic conditions; and

* Terronst attacks, civil unrest, war and national disasters.

‘Future Sales of Our Common Stock by Exidring Stackholders, Executive Officers or Directors Could Depress
the Market Price of Our Common Stock and Make It More Difficult For Us to Sell Stock in the Future.

Sales of our Common Stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could
negatively impact the market price of our Commeoen Stock. We are unable to estimate the number of shares of our
Common Stock that may actually be resold in the public market since this will depend on [he market price for our
Common Stock, the individual circumstances of the sellers and other factors. :

We have a number of institutional stockholders that own significant blocks of our Common Stock. If one or
more of these stockholders sell large portions of their holdings in a relatively short time, for liquidity or other
reasons, the prevailing market price of our Commeon Stock could be negatively affected. In addition, it is possible
that one or more of our executive officers or non-employee members of our Board of Directors could sell shares
of our Common Stock during an open trading window under our Insider Trading Policy. These transactions and
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the perceived reasons for these transactions could have a negative effect on the prevailing market price of our
Common Stock. e e ‘ '

Our Reported Financial Remlts May be Adverseiy A ﬁecred by Changes in Accounrmg Prmc:pfes Generaliy
Accepte d in the Umted Smtes

We prepare our ﬁnanc1al statemcms in confonmty with.accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. These accounting principles are subject to creation or interpretation by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, the SEC and various bodies formed to interpret and create appropriate accounting principles. A
change in these principles or interpretations could have a significant ‘effect on our-reported financial results, and
could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement of a change.

T ' - -

Risks Relating to Intellectual Property

Our Success Depends on Our Ability to Protect _Our‘Propriem::j:’Technology..

The diagnostics industry places considerable importance on obtaining- patent, trademark and trade secret
protection, as well as other intellectual property rights, for new technologies, products and processes. Our
success depends, in part, on our ability to develop and maintain a strong intellectual property portfollo or obtain
l:censes to patents for products and technologies both in the United Stales and in other counmes

As appropriate, we intend to file patent applications and obtain patém protection for our proprietary
technology. These patent applications and patents will cover, as applicable, compositions of matter for our
products, methods of making those products, methods of using those products and apparatus relating to the use or
manufacture of those products. We will also rely on trade secrets, know- how and continuing technological
advancements to protect our proprietary technology. ar '

"We have entered, and will continue to enter, into- confidentiality agreements with our employees,
consultants, advisors and collaborators. However, these ‘parties may not honor these ‘agreements and we may not
be able to successfully protect our rights to, unpatented trade secrets and know-how. Others may independently
develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade
secrets and know-how.

Many of our employees, including scientific and management personnel, were previously employed by
competing companies:-Although we encourage and expect all of our employees to abide by any confidentiality
agreement with a prior employer, competing companies may al]ege -trade secret violations and similar claims
against us, .

We may collaborate with universities and governmental research organizations which, as a result, may
acquire part of the rights to any inventions or tcc'hniclal information derived from collaboration with them.

+ To facilitate development and commercialization of a proprietary technology base, we may need to obtain
licenses to patents or other proprietary rights from.other' parties. '‘Obtaining and maintaining such licenses may
require the payment of substantial amounts. In addition, if we are unable to obtain these types of llCCﬂSES our
producl dev elopmenl and commercialization efforts may be delayed or precluded

+
i

We may incur substantial costs and be required to expend subslantial resources in asserting or protecting our
intellectual property rights, or in defending suits against us-related to intellectual property rights. Disputes
regarding intellectual property rights could substantially delay product development or commercialization
activities. Disputes regarding intellectual property rights might.include state, federal or foreign court litigation, as
well as patznt interference, patent reexamination, patent réissue, or trademark opposition proceedings in the
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United States Patent and Trademark Office. Opposition or revocation proceedings could be instituted in a foreign
patent office. An adverse decision in any proceeding regarding inteliectual property rights could result in the loss
or limitation of our rights to a patent, an invention or trademark.

We are Involved in Pending, and May Become Involved in Future, Intellectual Property Infringemem
Disputes, Which are Costly and Could Limit or Eliminate Our Ability to Sell Qur Products or Use Certain of
Our Technologres in the Future

From time to tlme, we may seek o enforcc our patents or .other intellectual property rights through
litigation. In addition, there are a large number of patents and patent applications in our product areas, and
additional patents may be issued to third parties relating to our product areas. We may be sued for infringement
of patents or misappropriation of other intellectual property rights with respect to one or more of our products.
Litigation in our industry regardmg patent and other intellectual property rights is prevalem and is expected to
continue. -

Our involvement in litigation with respect to patents or other intellectual property or to determine rights in
proprietary technology, either as a plaintiff or defendant, could adversely affect our revenues, market share,
results of operations and business because: . E .

« As'is common with major litigation, it could consume a substantial portion of managerial and financial
. A A
resources; . . .

* Its outcome would be uncertain and a court may find that our patents‘ are invalid or unenforceable in
response to claims by another party or that the third-party patent claims are valid and infringed by our
. products; . :

*  An adverse outcome could-subject us to the loss ‘of the protection of our patents or to liability-in the
form of past royalty payments, penalties, special and punltlve damages or future royalty payments
significantly affecting our future earnings; v

-« Failure to obtain a necessary license upon an adverse outcome could prevent us from selling our current
" products or other products we may develop or acqmre and

* A court could award a preliminary andlor permanent m]uncuon which would prevent us from selling our
current or future products. - S . .

We have sued Schering-Plough for infringement of several of our patents related to the technology for the
cryosurgical removal of warts and other benign skin lesions. This litigation has been costly to prosecute, and
there is no assurance that we will be successful in our obtaining either injunctive relief or an award of damages in
this matter. It is also possible, based on the defenses asserted by Schering-Plough, that one or more of our patents
could be found to be invalid or unenforceable. For a further description of the Schering-Plough litigation, see
Item 3, “Legal Proceedings,” in this Annual Report,

: ‘ o
The Sales Potential for OraQuick ADVANCE® Could be Affected by Our Ability to Obtain Certain Licenses.

Qur OraQuick ADVANCE® test is a lateral flow assay device that tests for specific antibodies; or other
substances. The term “lateral -flow™ generally refers to a test strip through which a sample flows and which
provides a test result on a portion of the strip downstream from where the sample is applied. There are numerous
patents in the United States and-other.countfies which claim lateral flow. assay methods and devices. Some of
these patents may broadly cover the technology used in the OraQuick ADVANCE® test and are in force in the
United States and other countries. We may not be able to make or sell the Oranck ADVANCE® test in the
United States or other countries where these patents are in force.

.+ We have obtained licenses under several lateral flow patents, which we. believe-should be sufficient to
permit the manufacturing and sale of the OraQuick ADVANCE® device as currently contemplated. However,

30




licenses under additional patents may be required and it is possible that a third party could seek to enforce one or
more lateral flow patents against us. In the event that we are unable to successfully. defend against such litigation
or it is determined that a license is required and it is not possible to negotiate or otherwise obtain- a license
agreement on- reasonable terms under a necessary patent, our ability to. manufacture and sell the OraQuick
ADVANCE® device could be limited. In such case, we may be able to modify the OraQuick ADVANCE® test
such that a license would not be necessary. However, this alternative could delay or limit our ability to sell the
OraQuick ADVANCES® test in the United States and other markets, which would adversely affect our results of

operations, cash flows and business.
L S . . : . ' : : v LS

Risks Relating to Products, Marketing and Sales .

A Market for Our Products May Not Develop.

' P -4

Our future success will depend, in part, on the market acceptance, and the timing of such acceptance, of our
products such as the OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid HIV-1/2 antibody test, the Intercept® drug test and other new
products or technologies that may be developed or acquired. To achieve market -acceptance, we must make
substantial marketing efforts and spend significant funds to inform potenual customers and the public of the
perceived benefits of these products. There may be limited evidence on which to evaluate the market reaction to
products that may be developed, and there can be no assurance that any products wnll obtain market acceptance
and fiil the market need that is perceived to exist.

If Acceprance and Adoption of Our Oral Fluid Testing Does Not Continue, Our Future Results May Suffer.

We have made significant progress in gaining acceptance of ora{ljﬂuid testing for HIV in the‘insurgmce,
public health and other markets. We have also made significant progress in gaining acceptance of oral fluid
testing for drugs of abuse in the workplace and criminal justice testing markets. However, the ultimate degree of
acceptance in these markets is uncertain, and other markets may resist the adoption of oral fluid testing as a
replacement for other testing methods in use today. In addition, certain state laws prohibit or restrict the use of
oral fluid testing for drugs of abuse in certain markets or the rapid, point-of-care te'sting for HIV. As a result,
there can be no assurance that we will be abIe to expand the use of our ora] ﬂu1d testmg products in these or other
markets. : -

A

- We May be Sued for Product Liabilities for Injuries Resulting From the Use of Qur Products. -

We may be held liable if any of our products, or any product which is made with the use drjincorporalion of
any of our technologies, causes injury of ‘any type or is found otherwise unsuitable during product testing,
manufacturing, marketing, sale or usage. Although we have obtained product liability insurance, this insurance
may not fully cover potential liabilities. As we brmg new products to market we may need to increase our
product liability coverage. .

"We are selling cryosurgical wart removal products in the consumer or OTC market in the United States,
Canada, and . Europe. We expect to expand the OTC sales of these products to other countries and to eventually
distribute other types of products in the domestic and international OTC markets, such as our OraQuick
ADVANCE® HIV-1/2 test. We believe the sale of products in the OTC market increases the risk of potential
product llablhty exposure and possibly the required level of insurance coverage that we will need to maintain.
Inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage at an acceptable cost or otherwise to protect against potential
product liability claims could affect our decnsmn to commercmllze new products and our resulls of opcratlons

Performance of Our Products May Affect Our Revenues and Stock Price.”

* - Our products are generally sold with labeling that contains performance claims approved or cleared by the
FDA or -other regulators, If our products fail to perform in accordance with the applicable label claims or
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otherwise:in accordance with the expéctations or needs of our customers, customers may switch to a competing
product or otherwise stop using our products, and our revenues could’be adversely affected. In addition, poor
performance by one or more of our products and publicity surrounding such performance could have an adverse
effect on our reputation, our-continuing ability to sell products and the prevallmg market price of our Common
Stock. . S . S . o

Our Increasing International Presence May be Affected by Regulatory, Cultural or Other Restraints.

We intend to increase revenue derived from international sales of our products. Our international sales
accounted for $11.4 million or 17% of total revenues for 2006, $9.5 million or 14% of total revenues for 2005,
and $6.2 million or 11% of total revenues for 2004, :

A number of factors can slow or prevent international sales, or substantially increase the cost of

international sales, including those set forth below:
R . L .- L

.. * Regulatory requirements (inchuding cdmpliance with applicatzle‘custouis fegu]atigns) may slow, limit, or
prevent the offering of producls in foreign countries; ) .

¢ The unavailability‘of licenses to certain patents in force in a forelgn country which-cover our producls
v mady restrict our ability to sell into that country; ' i v '

* The inability to ‘maintain ISO cemﬁcauon for our or our suppllers manufacturmg facnlmes cou]d
preclude interrupt or delay our ability to manufacture products for sale in Europe or other international
territories; -

* OQur mabrllty to obtain the CE mark on our products in a timely manner may preclude or delay our
abllny to sell products in the European Union;_ "

1

. Our inability to. ldentlfy 1nternat10nal dlstnbutors and negouate acceptable terms for distribution
agreements may delay or reduce our sales; ‘ _ P

+  Cultural and’ political differences may maké it dlfﬁcult to effectively market, sell and gam acceptance of
products in forexgn countries; s

* Inexperience in mtemauonal markets may slow or hmlt our ablllty to sell products in forelgn counmes

« Exchange rates, currency fluctuations, tariffs and other barriers, extended payment terms and
dependence on,and difficulties in managing international distributors or representatives may affect our
revenues even when product sales occur;

'

= The credltwonhmess of forelgn distributors may be less. certain and forelgn accounts recewable
collection may be more difficult; . -

»  Economic conditions, the absencé of available funding sources, terronsm civil unrest, war and natural
disasters may slow or limit our ability to sell our products in foreign countries;

» _Our exposure to liability under the.Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and various other laws, rules and/or
regulations applicable to us as a-result of our,international sales may affect our ability to sell into
international markets; S R oo . . EI .

« International markets often havé long sales cycles, especially for sales to foreign governments, quasi-
governmental agencies and mtemauonal pubhc health agencies, thereby delaymg or hmmng our abllny
to sell our products and

* Wemaybeata d:sadvantage if competitors in foreign countries sell competing products at pnces at or
below such competitors’ or our cost.

4

In addition, we have entered into a contract for the manufacture and supply of our OraQuick® HIV-1/2 test
in Thailand, and the Histofreezer® and Freeze Off® cryosurgical products are currently manufactured inThe
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Netherlands: We may enter into agreements to manufacture other products in foreign countries as well. However,
factors such as economic and political conditions and foreign regulatory-requirements may slow or prevent the
manufacture of our products in countries other than the United States. Interruption of the supply of our products
could reduce revenues or cause us 'to incur significant additional expenses in finding an alternative source of
supply. In addition, foreign currency fluctuations and economic condmons in forelgn counmes could increase the
costs of manufactunng our products in foreign countries. '

ITEM 1B. ; _gnresolved Staff Comments. ‘ _
Not Applicable. . - TR : - .

ITEM 2. Properties.

We own a 48,000 square-foot fac111ty, which is our primary corporate office and manufactunng fac1hty, and
a second 31,700 square foot facility that houses our'sales and marketing and research and.development offices.
Both of these facilities are located in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania. These facilities were,previously leased until we
exercised our opnon o purchasc them on June 30, 2006.

We also own an additionai 33, 500 square foot bmldmg in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, whlch is used for
manufactunng activities.

We rent additional warehouse space on an"as-neéded basis. We also lease space for a small sales office in
Reeuwijk, The Netherlands.

We believe that the facilities described above are adequate for our current requirements.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings.
Schering-Plough Patent Infringement Litigation

On July 23, 2004, we filed a lawsuit against Schering-Plough for infringement of several of our patents
relating to technology for the cryosurgical removal (i.e., freezing) of warts and other benign skin lesions. The suit
was commenced in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, and alleges that
Schering-Plough’s manufacture and sale of its Dr. Scholls® Freeze Away® cryosurgical wart removal product in
the United States OTC market infringes the following United States patents: Nos. 5,738,682; 6,092,527 and
4,865,028, We are requesting permanent injunctive relief and the payment of damages. Schering-Plough has
asserted various defenses in this matter, including that its Dr. Scholls® Freeze Away® product does not infringe
our patents and that one or more of our patents are invalid and unenforceable.

On November 2, 2003, an initial pretrial conference was held on this matter, at which the Court heard oral
argument on motions for summary judgment and certain evidentiary and other motions filed by the parties. Those
motions rernain pending. We expect the Court to set a final trial schedule once a decision on the motions has
been rendered. ‘ .

Prestige Brands Dispute

Prestigé, through an affiliate, is the exclusive distributor of our cryosurgical wart removal product in the
OTC market in the United States and Canada. Prestige distributes this product under its Compound W Freeze
Off® trade name. In September 2006, Prestige announced that it had acquired the Wartner® cryosurgical wart
removal product line, which directly competes with the Freeze Off® product in the OTC market.

Our distribution agreement with Prestige contains a covenant not to compete which precludes Prestige from
acquiring, manufacturing, distributing or selling a cryosurgical product that directly competes with the Freeze
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Off® product. We notified Prestige that its acquisition of the Wartner product constitutes a material breach of the
distribution agreement and that certain of its other actions constitute additional breaches under the agreement

On September 27, 2006, we filed a special petmon and application with the Supreme Court of the State of
New York, New York County, for a preliminary injunction against Prestige pursuant to New York Civil Practice
Law and Rules § 7502(c) in support of the arbitration to be commenced between the parties. On November 8,
2006, the Court issued a decision dated October 30, 2006 finding that Prestige had breached the covenant not to
compete, but denied our application. By decision dated December 20, 2006, the Court denied our motion for
reargument and reconsideration of its October 30 decision. We have since filed an appeal of the Court’s denial of
our request for a preliminary injunction with the Appetlate Division—First Department of the New York
Supreme Court and that appeal remains pending.

We have also initiated the alternative dispute resolution procedures required under our agreement with
Prestige, which include mediation and binding arbitration. The parties’- efforts to resolve this matter through
mediation were not successful, and' an arbitration pursuant to the rules of the Amerlcan Arbitration Association
has been commenced, pursuant to the terms of the agreement.

Unless we are able to resolve this matter with Prestige, we intend to vigorously enforce our rights and
remedies under the agreement, including seeking specific performance of the covenant not to compete.

T

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matters were submitted to a vole of security holders during the fourth quarter of the year ended
December 31, 2006.

L

e
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PARTII

ITEM 5 Market for Reglstrant’s Common Equ1ty, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuex; Purchases of
Equlty Securities. L

Market Information ... . ) ’ .- .. ; . '

Our Common Stock is listed for trading on the Global Market tier of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
(“NASDAQ”) under the symbol OSUR. ngh and low sales prices reported by NASDAQ dunng the periods
mdlcated are shown below

* ' -
LY -t »

" Year ended December 31,

. . 2006 2005

L o ' “ " - THigh low' High Low

First QUarter ..., .eoe e eeiieeeiio... SILET $8.80 § 745 $5.35
Second Quarter .. ... S PO 10.89° 7.89 1023 691
Third Quarter . 7. ... 00 .. . PR ‘10016 615 1183 842

FourlhQuarter ............. ... ... il U870 727 1414 7.4

On March 1, 2007, there were 578 holders of record and approximately 16,000 holders in street name of the
Common Stock, and the closing price of the Common Stock was $7.76 per share.

Dividends . B . : ;

We have never paid any cash dividends and our Board of Directors. does not anticipate paj;ring cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. We are geflera]_ly not permitted to pay dividends or make other distributions
to our stockholders under the terms of our credit facilities with Comerica Bank, without first obtaining
Comerica’s consent. We mlend to retain any future earnings to provide funds for the operation and expansion of
our business. -
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total returns to investors in the Company’s Common Stock,
the NASDAQ Composnte Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index for the period from December 31, 2001
through December 31, 2006, The graph assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2001 in the Company s
Common Stock and in each of the above-mentioned indices, and that ali dividends were reinvested. ‘

' The NASDAQ Composne Index was chosen because it is a broad index of compames whose equity
securities are traded on the NASDAQ Stock Market. The NASDAQ Biotechnology Index was chosen because it
includes a number of our competitors. Stockholders are cautioned that the graph shows the returns to investors
only as of the dates noted and may not be representative of the returns for any other past or future period.

»
W

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

AMONG ORASURE TECHNOLOGIES, INC., THE NASDAQ COMPOSITE INDEX

AND THE NASDAQ BIOTECHNOLOGY INDEX
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0 1 1 L 1 ] - 1
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31
—f— ORASURE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. — -k — NASDAQ COMPOSITE - - @ - - NASDAQ BIOTECHNOLOGY
. 12/2001 12,2002 1272003 1272004  12/2005  12/2006

OraSure Technologies, Inc. . . . .. JS 100.00 44.86 6551 5531 7259 67.98
NASDAQ CompositeIndex . ...................... 100,00 7197 107.18 117.07 120.50 137.02
NASDAQ BiotechnologyIndex . .. ................. 100.00 6208 90.27 99.08 111.81 110.06

The performance graph set forth above shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or “filed” for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act"), or otherwise subject to
liability under that Section. This graph will not be deemed “incorporated by reference” into any filing under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, whether such filing occurs before or after the date
hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data. FEP Co e S

The following table sets forth selected financial data of the Company. This information should be read in
conjunction with the Financial Statements and notes thereto inclided in Item 15 and the information set forth in:

Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condmon and Results of Operations.” - - S
. T T T
. v . . . C g, N
N e Selected Financial Data . -
(In thousands, except per share data) i
; . — . _ i - Year ended December 31,. .
. . 2006 . .2005 . 2004 2003 | 2002
Operating Results: A .
REVEOUES . .o vt ve e e enae e aaannnns $ 68,155 $ 69366 $ 54,008 $ 40451 § 32,010
Costs and eXpenses .........ccooooiniivennn 62,692 61,793 55,365 41,737 35,550
Operating.income-(loss)- ........ RN D 5463 L7573 (1,357) .. (1,286) .(3,540)
Other income (expense), fiet ............ L. 3,599 . .2,146° - 797 U A 198
Income tax provision (benefit) ............... 3,794 - (17,720 — 0 20 27 —
Netincome (loss} ................ S 5268 27,448l - (560) - (1 136) (3,342)
Earnings (loss) per. share ‘ . L . . .
Basic ....... e e RN L. 8o $' 061 8 (0.0]) $ '_Q'(O_.03) $ (0.09)
Diluted ........, T Lo 8 0118 0359.8 (00D ST (003§ (0.09)
Shares used in computmg earnings (loss) per share ' ) A T ' 1' _ '
Basic ......... g epede.. 45910 45,110, 44464 35,794 '37 583
Diluted................. e e 46,580 46,147 44,464 39,794 37,583
Cash Flow: - e . : Cl
Cash flow provided by (used in) operatmg : o et e g’
TACHVILIES "L . il e e -$ 16,886 -5 10,392. $+ 3438 § 2,702 § (518)
' ' ‘| oo o : . ;
- - _ ) _ December 31, L . . )
2006 ., 2005 " . 2004 , 2003 . 2002
Financial Position: ,
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term - N ot PR .
INVESIMENtS .. vvveveneenn.ns e e '. $ 91, 001 $ 77, 620 $ 66,723 $ 64,024 -$ 14,908
~.Working capital . . ...... e e < 95979 ,-90,670r , 68,910 .67,171.. . 18931
Deférfed tax asset ................... e - . 23,522 26,708 - — = e
Total assets ....... R S ... 156,565 130,747 - 88,064~ 86,151 - 35737
Long-term debt, excluding current pomon ...... 10,031 884 1,334 ' 2,456 3,409
. Accnmulated deficit ... .. .. A Lo, (98,414) . (103,682) '(131,130) . (130,570) (129,435)
- Stockholders’ eguity. .......... S 129 504+ 118919 75577, 73 509 - 26,019

1 Includes an income tax beneﬁt of $18 165 resultmg from the ehmmatlon of a sngmficant pomon of the,
valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets (see Note 9 to the Notes to Financial Statements).
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"ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Statements below regarding future events or performance dre “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Our actual results could be quite different from
those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Factors that could affect results are discussed
more fully under the ltem 1A, entitled “Risk Factors,” and elsewhere in this Annual Report. Although forward-
looking statements help to provide complete information about us, readers should keep in mind that forward-
looking statements may not be reliable. Readers are cauttoned not to place undue reliance on the forward-
looking statements. ‘

The following discussion shouid be read in conjunction with the financial statements contained herein and
the notes thereto, along with the Section entitled “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates,” set forth below.

+ E . i

Overview

..

.We operate ‘primarily in the worldwide $22 billion ir vitro diagnostics business. We develop, manufacture
and market oral fluid specimen collection devices using proprietary oral fluid technologies, diagnostic products
including imriiuncassays, and other in vitro diagnostic tests. We also manufacture and sell medical devices for
the removai of wans and other benign skin lesions by cryosurgery, or freezing, - '

.Our diagnostic product offenngs primarily . target the infectious disease and substance abuse testmg
segments of the larger in vitro diagnostic market, and are used in both laboratories s well as the emerging, and
rapidly growmg, point-of-care marketplace. OQur OraSure® and Intercept® oral fluid collection devices, and their
related assays, are processed in a laboratory, while the OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid HIV- 122 antlbody test is
desngned for use at the point- of-care Our cryosurgical products are also used at the point-of-care.

In vitre diagnostics have traditionally used blood or urine as the bodily fluids upon which tests are
conducted. However, we have targeted the use of oral fluid in our products as a differentiating factor and believe
that it provides a significant competitive advantage over blood and urine. Our oral fluid tests have sensitivity and
specificity comparable to blood and/or urine tests. When combined with their ease of use, non-invasive and
dignified nature, and cost effectiveness, our oral fluid tests represent a very competitive alternative to the more
traditional testing methods in the diagnostic space. .. ..

During the year ended December 31, 2000, our total revenues were $68.2 million, which represents a 2%
decrease from 2005. Our net income for 2006 was $5.3 million and includes a pre-tax charge of:$3.4 million for
stock options which are nowrequired to be expensed under the new accounting rules. Qur liquidity continued to
improve, as we reported $16.9 million 'in cash flow from operating activities in 2006 and a balance of
$91.0 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments as of December 31, 2006..

Sales into the infectious disease testing market segment increased significantly in 2006 due to the continued
market acceptance of our OraQuick ADVANCE® HIV-1/2 test. This increase resulted largely from sales directly
to various public health organizations and sales through Abbott into the hospital market. These increases were
offset by the absence of government bulk purchases by SAMHSA and the CDC B

In February 2005, we entered into an agreement for the distribution of OraQuick ADVANCE® with Abbott.
Under this agreement, Abbott was appointed as our exclusive distributor in the U.S. hospital market and as a
non-exclusive distributor in the U.S. physicians’ office marketplace. As our exclusive distributor to hospitals,
Abbott sells OraQuick ADVANCE® to federal hospitals under the terms and conditions of our Federal Supply
Schedule that is on file with the U.S. General Services Administration. We have retained exclusive rights to all
other markets, including the public health and criminal justice markets, the military, the CDC, SAMHSA and
other government agencies. We utilize a small internal sales force to support Abbott and work together with them
to maximize the penetration of OraQuick ADVANCE® in the hospital market.
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Competition in the market for HIV testing is intense and is expected to increase. We believe that the
principal competition will come from existing laboratory-based blood tests, point-of-care rapid blood tests,
laboratory-based urine assays or other oral fluid-based tests that may be developed. Our competitors include
specialized biotechnology firms, as well as pharmaceuucal companies with biotechnology divisions and medlcal
dlagnostu companies. . '

Significant competitors for our OraQuick AD‘VANCE® rapid test, such as lhe Orlho Diagnostics division of
Johnson & Johnson, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Abbott and BMX, seil laboratory-based HIV-1/2 ElAs, and Maxim
Biomedical (formerly Calypte, Inc.) sells an HIV-1 screening test for urine, in the United States. MedMira and
Trinity Biotech each sell competing rapid HIV-1 blood tests, and Bio-Rad Laboratories and Chembio sell
competing rapid HIV-1/2 blood tests in the: United States. These tests compete with our OraQuick ADVANCE®
test in hospitals or other laboratory settings. In addition, Trinity Biotech and Chembio have received CLIA
waivers for their rapid HIV tests and these tests compete with our OraQuick ADVANCE® test in the markets
outside of the traditional hospital and laboratory settings. These companies, or others; may continue to expand
the bodily fluids with which a rapid HIV test may be performed, or develop and commercialize new rapid HIV
tests, which would provide further competition for our OraQuick ADVANCE® test. We believe other compames
may also seek FDA approval to sell competing rapid HIV tests in the future: '

¥

Sales to the substance abuse testing market also mcreased during 2006, reflecting the growing acceptance of
our Intercept® collection device and related oral fluid drug assays, as both domestic and international corporate
customers continued to adopt oral fluid based drug testing and shift away from traditional urine-based drug
testing. We expect continued growth in the utilization of our Intercept® product line, primarily in the
United States.

In April 2004, SAMHSA published proposed guidelines that would, if adopted, include oral fluid testing as

an accepted drug testing method for federal employees. During the summer of 2006, these proposed guidelines
were withdrawn with no action taken "and-it is unclear when further action, if any, will be taken to permit the use
of oral fluid as an accepted drug testing method in this market.

Sales to the cryosurglcal systems market declined during 2006 The cryosurglcal systems market represents
sales of Histofreezer® into both the domestic. and international physicians’ office markets and sales of the OTC
formulation of this product to our domestic distributor, Prestige, and our international distributor, SSL. Prestige
distributes ‘our cryosurgical wart removal product under its Compound W Freeze Off® tradenames in the OTC
market in the. United States and Canada. SSL distributes a similar product under its Scholl’ s and Dr. Scholl
trademarks in the OTC footcare market in several European countries. Sales in the U.S. OTC cryosurgery
marketplace declined pnmanly as a result of the disappointing performance by Prestige. Sales to Prestige for
2006 were $5.2 mllllon or more than 50% less than the $11.6 million in sales recorded for 2005.

,In September 2006 Prestige announced that it had acqulred the Wartner® cryosurgical wart removal product
11ne which directly competes w:th the Freeze Off® product in the OTC market. Our distribution agreement with
Presuge contain$ a covenant not to compete which precludes Prestige from acquiring, manufacturmg, distributing
or selling a cryosurgical product that directly competes with the Freeze Off® product. We nouﬁed Prestige that
its acquisition of the Wartner product constitutes a material breach of the distribution agreement and that certain
of its other actions constitute additional breaches under the agreement. We initiated the alternative dispute
resolution procedures requnred under the’ agreement which include mediation and binding arbitration. The
parties’ efforts to resolve this matter through mediation were not successful and an arbitration’ pursuant to the
rules of the American Arbitration Association has been commenced, pursuant to the terms of the agreement. We
are evaluating alternative arrangements for distributing this product in the event a resolution with Prestige cannot
be reached. As a result of this ongoing dispute, it is not possible to predict at this time the potential impact this
matter may have on sales of Freeze Off® in 2007 or beyond.

In July 2004, we' filed a lawsuit against Schering-Plough for infringement of several of our patents relating
to the technology for the cryosurgical removal (i.e., freezing) of warts and other benign skin lesions. The suit was
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commenced in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and alleges that Schering-
Plough’s manufacture and sale of its Dr. Scholl’s® Freeze Away® cryosurgical wart removal product in the OTC
market infringes three of our patents. We are seeking injunctive relief and the payment of damages and Schering-
Plough has raised several defenses; including that their Freeze Away® device does not infringe our patents and
that one or more of our patents are either invalid or unenforceable. On November 2, 2005, a pretrial conference
was held in this matter, at which the Court heard oral argument on motions for summary judgment filed by the
parties. These motions remain pending. We expect a new trial schedule to be set after ihe Court rules on these
motions. :

Sales to the insurance risk assessment market continued to decline in 2006, primarily because of a reduction
in the number of applications for life insurance and changes in underwriting requirements. For higher face-value
policies, it appears insurance companies are more likely to use a blood test for multiple risk factors, rather than
an oral-fluid test. We currently expect that our 2007 revenues in-this market will decline, or at best; remain .at
approximately the levels attained in 2006. :

Because of the regulatory approvals needed for. most of our products, we often are required to rely on sole
source providers for critical components and materials and on related products supplied by third parties. This is
particularly true for our OraQuick ADVANCE® test, our OraSure® oral fluid collection device and our oral fluid
Western blot HIV-1 confirmatory product. If we are unable to obtain necessary components or materials from
these sole sources, the time required to develop replacements and obtam the requlred FDA approvals could
disrupt our ability to sell the affected products. . - : o

. ' i

BMX currently manufactures and sells the only oral fluid HIV-1 screening test that has received FDA
approval for use in detecting HIV-1 in an oral fluid specimen collected with our OraSure® collection device.
BMX also supplies the HIV-1 antigen used to manufacture our oral fluid Western blot HIV-1 confirmatory test
and is the exclusive world-wide distributor of that product. BMX recently notified us that they intend 'to
discontinue manufacturing their HIV-1-EIA screening test during 2007. BMX also notified us that it has elected
not to renew the Western blot agreements beyond Décember 31, 2007. We are working closely with BMX, the
FDA and CDC, our main laboratory customers and other potential suppliers to find or develop an alternative
HIV-1 EIA screening test and confirmatory test for use with our OraSure® collection device. If our customers
cannot obtain an HIV-1 EIA screening test or a confirmatory test that has been approved by the FDA for use in
connection with our OraSure® collection device, these customers would likely stop purchasing our QraSure®
device and our revenues would be adversely affected.

We also rely heavily on distributors to purchase and resell many of our products. For example, Prestige has
exclusive distribution rights to the Freeze Off® product in the OTC markets in United States and Canada and SSL
has exclusive rights to a similar product in the OTC footcare market in-Europe, Australia and New Zealand,
Similarly, Abbott has exclusive rights to distribute our OraQuick ADVANCE® test to hospitals in the U.S. We
expect to enter into additional distribution agreements for new and future products for distribution in the U.S.
and internationally. If our distributors are unable or unwilling to meet the minimum purchase commitments set
forth in their agreements or otherwise substantially reduce the volume of their purchases our revenues and
results of operations could be adversely affected. ’

We generated 83% of our 2006 revenues in the U.S. marketplace. Consequently, we are evaluating
strategies to increase our sales penetration in markets outside thé U.S. As our business in foreign countries
increases, we could be exposed to other economic, political, exchange rate, regulatory and cultural risks.

Results of Operations : . ' '
Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to December 31, 2005

Total revenues decreased by 2% to $68.2 million in 2006 from $69.4 million in 2005, primarily as a result
of declines in domestic OTC cryosurgical product revenues and insurance risk assessment revenues, partially
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offset by increased sales of our OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid HIV-1/2 antibody test, our Intercept® oral fluid
collection device and related drug assays, and our international. cryosurgical products. Revenues derived from
products- sold in countries outside the U:S.-were $11.4 million and $9.5 million, or 17% and.14% of total
revenues, for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. : [ :

The table below shows the amount of our total revenues (in thousands, except %) generated in each of our
principal markets and by licensing and product development activities.

; . . . ., '

- o ! " Yeur ended December 31,

" .. . I ‘ | '

0 "Percentage of

Dollars : 7' Total Revenues

Market B : . : Lo 006 2005 Change 2006 2005
Infectious disease testing . ... .. o R . A ;. . $29,180 $25988 - ' 12% 43% 3%

Substance abuse teStNg ... .....eeeein PR 15752 13519 17 237 19

Cryosurgical systems . ................ e 17333 22744 (24) 25 kK]

[nsurance risk assessment e e . 5565 6815 (18) 8 10

Product revenues . ............ el oo 61830 69066 (2 99 9

Licensing and product development R - 325 300 8 R |
Totalrevenues ... t.. . il i ioiiiiii $68,155 -$69,366 @)% 100% 100%

Sales to the infectious discase testing market increased 12% to $29.2 million in 2006, prlmanly as a result of
higher sales of our OraQuick® HIV-1/2 test in both the public health and hospital markets through our
dlqtnbutor Abbot. OraQuick® and OraSure® sales dunng 2006 totaled $25.6 l'nl“lOI'l and $3.6 million, as
compared to $21.6 million and $4.4 million in 2005, respectlvely

The table below shows a breakdown of our total OraQulck® revenues (in thousandq except %) during 2006

and 2003,
Years ended

. . December 31, o
Customers L ' 2006 2005 Change
Direct to U.S. Public Hea!th H TS D $ 15268 S 8202  84%
Abbott .. .... A A e e PN 6,897 4929 < 40
SAMH S A . . 406 3,741 ' (89)
G . e e T e 1,291 2,322 (44)
INtErNational . .. ..ttt e e e e 1,694 1,530 11
Directto Hospitals ...... ... .. . o e — T 40 —

TotalOraQuick®revenues..................................‘ ...... $25,556 $21,554 19%

Durmg 2006, OraQulck® revenue derived from direct sales to the U.S. public health market increased by
84% as compared to 2005. This increase is the result of continued growth in usage of the OraQuick ADVANCE@
rapid HI\/ 172 anttbody test in public health’ settmgs mcludmg city-wide testmg programs

For the year ended December-31, 2006, sales to our hospital distributor, Abbott grew 40%.10 $6. 9 million,
as compared to $4.9 million in-2005. This increase is a result of continued penetration of the hospital market by
Abbott. Abbott recently announced that it Wwill sell part of its diagnostics’ business, including its rights to
distribute OraQuick ADVANCE®, to General Electric (“GE"). This transaction is expected to close during the
first half of 2007. We intend to meet with executives from GE to dlscuss their - plans” for the OraQuick

" ADVANCE® product

*

During 2006 we. shlpped a total of $1.7 million in OraQu1ck ADVANCE® HIV-1/2 tests to the CDC and’
SAMHSA, as compared to $6.1 million in 2005. We believe that federal, state and other governmental agencies
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may make future bulk purchases of OraQuick ADVANCE® for further distribution to the public health and other
markets throughout the United States. There is no assurance, however, that comparable-size bulk purchase orders
from these governmental entities or others will be received in the future. Likewise, any delay in receiving or
deploying such bulk orders could adversely affect our financial performance.

We believe that our OraQuick ADVANCE® device, which is FDA-approved for detecting antibedies to both
HIV-1 and HIV-2 in oral fluid, finger-stick and venous whole blood,:and plasma samples, and is CLIA-waived
for use with all sample types except plasma, provides a significant competitive advantage, thereby enabling us to
fully implement a strategy for selling OraQuick® internationally. We recently received notification that our
OraQuick ADVANCE® product will be recommended to receive a CE mark, pending successful completion of a
facility inspection. CE-marking will allow us to sell our product in Europe. QOur goal is to complete the facility
inspection in the immediate future, secure a CE mark for OraQuick ADVANCE®, and then obtain several
country-specific registrations in order to permit the launch of this product in Europe as soon as possible.

We are begmmng to see evidence that sales of OraQuick ADVANCE® are negatively lmpactmg sales of our
OraSure® oral fluid collection -device in the infectious disease testing market. Some customers who have
purchased'our OraSure® device for laboratory HIV-1 testing in the past are now electing instead to purchase our
OraQuick ADVANCE® test. It is not possible at this time to estimate the extent of such change in purchasing
patterns or the financial impact of replacing OraSure® sales with sales of our OraQuick ADVANCE® test.

Sales to the substance abuse testing market increased 17% to $15.8 million in 2006, as a result of increased
salés of both our Intercepl® oral fluid drug testing service and our Q.E.D.® rapld oral ‘fluid alcohol test.
Intercept® sales increased as ‘a result of continued growth for this product, especially in the workplace” and
international markets. Increased sales of our Q.E.D.® test are atmbuted to a change in government reguiations,
which increased demand for this product.

The table below shows a breakdown of our total Interccpt® revenues (in thousands, except %) generated in
each market during 2006 and 2003.

‘ Years ended

. ) December 31, %

" Market 2006 2005 Change
WOrKpIace teSHNg ... .........ooemmo oo $ 6616 $ 5661 17%
Criminal JUStiCe . ...t e 2,398 2,269 6
International . ..., ... 2,314 1,956 18
Dlrect .............. 728 563 29

Total [Ntercept® [eVENUES . .. ... .eueneenneeeennnennnnns, $12,056 $10,449  15%

We cxpect continued growth in Intercept® sales in 2007 as customers continue to shift from urine-based to
oral-fluid based testing methods. However, our microplate oral fluid drug assays, which are sold for use with the
Intercept® collection .device, are expected to come under increasing competitive pressure in the future from
“home-brew” assays developed internally by our laboratory customers. In addition, cur oral fluid microplate
assays compete with urine-based homogeneous assays that are run on fully-automated, random access analyzers.
We believe our competitors are developing oral fluid tests suitable for use on these fully automated homogeneous
assay systems and these assays, if and when they are developed and commercialized, could represent a
significant competitive threat to our oral fluid microplate business. In order to meet this competition, we recently
signed a letter of intent to negotiate an agreement with Roche Diagnostics to jointly develop and commercialize
fully-automated homogeneous oral fluid drugs of abuse assays for use with our Intercept® device. '

Sales of our products in the cryosurgica] systems market (which includes both the physicians’ office and

OTC markets) decreased 24% to $17.3 million in 2006. This decrease was primarily the result of lower sales of
our domestic'OTC and professional cryosurgical products when compared to 2005.
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The table below shows a breakdown 'of our total cryosurgery revenues (in thousands, except %) generated in
each market dunng 2006 and 2005. : : .

Years unded

December 31, %
Market Cv 2006 2005  Change
Professional domestic .. .....ovoiei i $ 5,360 §$.5,888 (9%
Professmnalmtemauonal e e el 02,284 2,018 13
OTC domestic . . e e e e 5, 174 , 10,560 (5))
OTC international . ... .. e e e e 4, 515 . 4,278 6

o Total cryosurgery revenues . .. .. ... e S P $17,,333 : ;$22,744 (24Y%

Our (lomestlc OoTC cryosurgrcal product, called Freeze Off® is dlstnbuted in the United States and Canada
by Prestige, owner of the Compound W® line of wart removal products. In. September 2006, Prestlge announced
that it had acquired the Wartner® cryosurgical wart removal product line, which directly competes with the
Freeze Off® product in the OTC market. Our distribution agreement with Prestige contains a covenant not to
compete which precludes Prestige from acquiring, manufacturing, distributing or selling a cryosurgical product
that directly competes with the Freeze Off® product. We notified Prestige that its acqursrtron of the Wartner
product constitutes a material breach of the distribution agreement and that certain of its other actions constitute
additional breaches under the agreement. Efforts to resolve this matter through mediation were not successful and
an arbrtratron pursuant to the rules of the Amencan Arbitration Assocratron has been commenced, pursuant to the
terms of the agreement. Sales to Prestige were $5.2 million and $11.6 million, in 2006 and 2005, respectively.
We are evaluating alternative arrangements for distributing this product in the event a resolution with Prestige
cannot be reached. As a result of this ongoing dispute, it is not possrble to predict at this time the potenual rmpact
this matter may have on sales of Freeze Off® in 2007 or beyond.

.
-

In June 2005, we entered ‘into an agreement with SSL under which we manufacture and supply, and SSL
distributes on an exclusive basis, the Company's cryosurgical wart removal product in the OTCrfootcare market
in Europe, Australia and New Zealand. The product is manufactured and sold under SSL’s Scholl and Dr Scholl
trademarks and initially was made available for retail purchase in pharmacies and other outlets in' several
European countries during.the fourth quarter of 2005. Sales to SSL under the distribution agreement were
$4 5 million and $3. 2 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively. SSL continues 'to build distribution ‘networks i in
pharmacre< and mass merchandisers throughout Europe and expects to launch the OTC product in additional
countries during 2007 ‘We expect revenues from SSL to increase significantly in 2007. Dunng 2007, we have
agreed to co-invest in §SL s marketing activities and will reimburse SSL for certain out- of-pocket costs of
advertising and promolmg this product in the international OTC market

~ We have also launchéd our OTC cryosurgical wart removal product in Mexrco and mtend 1o establish
distributor relatronshrps for similar products in OTC markets in other Latin American countries. ;

Sales of our Hlstofreczer® product to physicians’ offices in the United States decreased 9% to $5.4 million
in 2006, as compared to $5.9 millien in 2005. Sales of Hlstofreezer® in the international market increased 13% to
$2.3 million in 2006, as compared to $2.0 million in 2005. We believe these changes were due to fluctuations in
distributor ordering patterns and inventory levels durmg 2006 and in the case of domestic Hrstofreezer® sales,
increased competition.

k1
We are begmmng to'see some evidence that sales of our OTC cryosurgical products may reduce the number
of individuals that will seek to obtain treatment of their warts by a physician, which in turn could negatively
affect sales of our Histofreezer® product in the professional market. However, it is not possrblc at this time to
estimate the magnitude of the financial impact of this change.

3
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Sales to the insurance risk assessment market.declined by, 18%.to $5.6 million in 2006 from $6.8 million in
2005, primarily because of a reduction in the number of applications for life insurance .and changes in
underwriting requirements. For higher face-value policies, it appears insurance companies are more likely to use
a blood test for multiple risK factors, rather than an oral fluid test. We currently expect that our 2007 revenues in
this market will decline, or at best, remain at approxnmately the levels attained in 2006, \

Licensing and product development revenues increased 8% to $325,000 in 2006, from $300,000 in 2005,
Licensing and product development revenues in both years were primarily related to our collaborative oral fluid
research project with the’ University of Pennsylvania and New York University; under a grant awarded by the
National Institutes of Health, This grant expired in June 2006. In January 2007, the Company entered into a
collaboration agreement with Schering-Plough Corporation, for the development and promotion of a rapid oral
fluid test for the detection of antibodies to the hepatitis C virus (HCV). As a result of this agreement, licensing
and product development revenues are expected to'increase 1o approxnmately $2.0 million during 2007.

-

Quest'and At;tiott aecolmté'd for‘l_'4% andl I‘Q% of total revenues for 2006, respe(':'ti’vely.- ‘

The Company’s gross margm was 64% in 2006, compared to 60% in 2005. Qur 2006 gross margin was
positively impacted by the absence of a $1 .5 millién charge related to the Company s Ulek® assets, which was
recorded in 2005, and mcreased efﬁc:enc:es in manufaclunng operations.

it

Research and development éxpenses increased 64% to $8.6 million in 2006, frorn $5.3 million in 2005,
primarily as a result of costs associated with the de\relopment of an OraQuick® HCV test preparatlon for OTC
clinical trials for our OraQutck ADVANCE® HIV- 1/2 test, a $1,0 million charge for acquired in- process research
and developmem related to future HIV- related products, costs related to additional research personnel hired
durmg 2006 and charges for stock-based compensation expense. Research and development costs are expected to
increase by approximately $8.0 million in 2007. The vast majority of this expected increase is related to the
clinical trial work associated with the development of our OraQulck ADVANCE® HIV-1/2 QTC test and our
OraQumk® HCV tesl Thls amount also mcludes costs expected to be incurred for FDA approval of new
cryosurglcal offermgs product reg1strat10ns in foreign countries and development of fully- automated‘
homogeneous oral fluid drugs of abuse assays.

Sales and marketing expenses’ decreased 1% to $15.9 million in 2006 from $16.1 ‘million in 2005. This
decrease was pnmanly the result of lower market research, commission, consultmg and advemsmg expenses,
partially offset by higher staffing costs and charges for stock-based compensauon expense Included in
advertising expense, was $540,000 and $1.8 million for 2006 and 2005, respectively, paid to Prestlge as
reimbursement for marketmg expenses mcurred for the Compound W® Freeze Off® product. We expect that
sales and marketing expenses will increase in 2007 as we add sales pérsonnel for the infectious disease market in
order to drive OraQuick ADVANCE® sales in,the publlc health, hospital and international markets. During 2007,
we also expect to co-invest in SSL's marketmg activities and reimburse SSL for certain out-of- pocket costs of
advertising and promoting our cryosurgical product in the international OTC market.

General and admlmstrauve expenses mcreased 7% to $13.4 million in 2006 from $12 S million in 2005,
This increase was prlmarlly attributable to charges for stock- based compensatlon expense, higher stafﬁng costs
and certain consulting costs related to tmp]ementanon of a new enterprise resource planning system. This
increase was partially offset by a reduction in lega! fees associated with delays in the Schering-Plough litigation
and a reduction in rent expense due to the purchase of two of our Bethlehem, PA facilities in June 2006. General
and administrative expenses are expected to increase-in 2007, as a result of increased legal expense related to
both the Presttge dlspute and the Schenng Plough patent lnfnngement matter, as well as increased costs related
to full-year staffing levels, )

Interest expense increased to $405,000 in 2006 from $97,000 in 2005, as a result of higher outstanding debt
balances during the second half of the year, resulting from the financing for our purchase of two previously
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leased facilities in Bethlehem, PA in June 2006. Interest expense will increase in 2007, as our borrowings for the
building purchase will be outstanding for a full year. Interest income increased to $4.1 million in 2006 from $2.2
million in 2005, as a result of higher yields on our investment portfolio and larger balances available for
investment.

We purchase some of our cryosurgical products from, or utilize the services of, vendors located in The
Netherlands. As a'result of the decline in the exchange rate between the United States doltar'and the Euro, we
recorded a $94,000 loss on foreign currency transactions for the year ended December 31, 2006, versus a $57,000
gain on foreign currency lransactions recorded for the year ended December 31, 2005. "

During 2006, we provided for income taxes at a rate equivalent to our estimated combined federal and state
effective rates. As such, we recorded a $3.8 million provision for income taxes in 2006, ‘which represents a
41.9% effective tax rate. During 2005, a net income tax benefit of $17.7 million was recorded, which reflected
the release of a significant portion of the previous valuation allowance on our deferred tax asset. At
December 31, 2005, the Company had federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of $66.6 million. Prior
to December 31, 2005, a valuation allowance had been established “for the full amount of the deferred tax asset
created by these carryfomards and other items. Baséd on taxable income in 2005 and future forecaqted taxable
earnings, a significant portion of the valuation allowance was released in the fourth quarter of 2005. This resuited
in the recognition of $26.7 million of the deferred tax asset, of which $18.2 million was recorded as an income
tax benefit in the statement of operations and $8.5 million was 'recorded directly as an mcrease in stockholders’
equity. Partially offsetting this benefit was an income tax provision of $436,000 that was recorded for the year
ended December 31, 200%

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to December 31, 2004

Total revenues increased 28% to $69.4 million in 2005 from $54.0 million in 2004, primarily as a result of
increased sales of our OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid HIV-1/2 antibody test, our Intercept® oral fluid collection
device and related drug assays, and our international OTC cryosurgical product, partially offset by declines in
domestic OTC cryosurgical product revenues and revenues in the insurance risk assessment market. Revenues
derived from products sold in countries outside the U.S. were $9.5 million and $6.2 miilion, or 14% and 11% of
total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively,

The table below shows the amount of our total revenues (in thousands, except %) generated in each of our

principal markets and by licensing and product development activities.
Lo ’ R . ! ' : - .
Years ended December 31, '

Percentage of
L Dollars _ %; Total Revenues
Market” e o o 2005 2004 Change 2005 2004
Iﬁfectiousdiséasetesting...........::...'...............'... $25988 $15526. 61% . 31% 29%
Substance abusetesting ... ... ... il 13,519 10,108 . 34 .19 19
Cryosurgical systems.. . . . . P s e 2 J44 20,193 1333 37
Insurance risk assessment .. ......... e 6 815 7,977 (1 _19 _ﬁ
Productrevenues ..................... e e 69,066 - 53,604 29 .99 99
Licensing and product development ............... ... .. ... 300 404 (260 1 1
" Totalrévenues ... ....0.. ... U S $69,366. $54,008." 28% 100% 100%

Sales to the infectious disease testing market increased 67% to $26.0 million in 2005, primarily as a result of
higher sales of our OraQuick® rapid HIV-1/2 antibody test. OraQuick® and OraSure® sales during 2005 totaled
$21.6 million and $4.4 million, respectively, as compared to $10.2 million and $3.3 million, respectively, for
2004.
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The table below shows a breakdown of our total OraQuick® revenues (in thousands, except %) during 2005
and 2004,

Years ended
December 31, 9
. M 2005 2004 ‘ Change
Directto US. PublicHealth .. ........... ... ... .......... L $ 8292 $ 4,093 103%
Abbott .......... ... ... e e e 4,929 1,983 149
SAMHSA .......! JUT D 3,741 — NA
O e e e e e 2,322 2327 —
International ...................... e 1,530 1,178 30
Direct to Hospitals - .. .......ooovininnaenn... e 740 649 14
Total OraQuick® revenues ............ccoun.. e $21,554 $10,230 111%

During 2004, we received a total of $6.3 million in’ purchase ordeis from the CDC and SAMHSA for
OraQuick ADVANCE® rapid HIV-172 antibody tests, of Wl’llCh 36. 1 million and $72,000 were shipped in 2005
and 2004, respectively.

Sales to the substance abuse testmg market increased 34% to $13.5 million in 2005, as a result of hlgher
sales of our Intercept® oral fluid collection device and related drug assays in all marketplaces.

The 1able below shows a breakdown of our total Intercept® revenues {in thousands, excepi %) generated in
each market during 2005 and 2004,

v

Years ended

) . . : December 31, o
Market . . ' . 2003 2004  Change
Workplace testing ...........cocoieaaii.ns e $ 5661 $3030 8%
Criminal Justice ......... ... ... ... i i B 2,269 1,566 45
International . ....... e e e e 1,956 ° 1,684 16
Direct .........cveeiia.n.. e e e e e - 563 378 49

Total Intercept® revenues . . ............ooouriviriaeeneeann. - $10,449 $6,658  57%

Revenues from our UPlink® rapid point-of-care oral fluid drug detection system were $286,000 and
$564,000 in 2005 and 2004, respectively. As part of a strategic business review we completed in late 2004, we
concluded that the roadside drugs-of-abuse testing market for UPlink® may not be as attractive as a number of
other opportunities we are pursuing, During the first half of 2005, we explored our options with respect to the
UPlink® product, including transitioning the manufacturing of the product to our distribution partner, Driiger
Safety. Throughout this period, we were not able to reach an agreement with Driger Safety or determine an
alternative outlet for this product. In addition, we were advised that Driiger will no longer promote the sale of the
UP{ink® product. As a result, we recorded a $1.5 million charge in June 2005 to reflect a provision on inventory
and fixed assets related to our UP/ink® product. We subsequently terminated our existing research, development
and distribution agreements with Driiger for the UPlink® product.

Sales of our products in the cryosurgical systems market (which includes both the physicians’ office and
OTC markets) increased 13% to $22.7 million in 2005.
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© . The table below shows a breakdown of our total cryosurgery révenues (in thousands, except %) generated in
each market during 2005 and 2004. .

Years ended

) o © December 31, %
Market 2005 2004  Change
Professional domestic . ........ . Toooo.., $5888 $5225  13%
Professional international . ... ..... ..o, e 2,018 . 1634 24
O_T‘C domestic ....... A 10,560 13,334 21
OTC international ... ........ ... ..o iine. PR 4278 — N/A
Total CryoSUrgery reVEeNUES . ..« ovvv e vunrnnecnnn s . $22,744  $20,193 13%

The increase in total cryosurgery revenues was primarily due to the! international launch of our OTC
cryosurgical product pursuant to our agreement with SSL, the:laurich of the Freeze Off® product by Prestige in
Canada, and an increase in sales of Histofreezer® to both United States and international physicians’ offices. This
increase was partially offset by a reduction in sales of the Freeze Off® product to Prestige for dlsmbutlon in'the
United States, to $10.6 million in*2005, compared to $13. 3 mlillon clurmg 2004. :

The Freeze Off® product is being sold under Presuge 8 Compound we trademark The dlS[l‘lbU[lOl‘l
agreement with Prestige, which was. initiated in 2003; require$ minimum purchases of at least $2.0 million each
year over the life of the contract in order for Prestige to maintain its exclusive distribution rights to the OTC
market in the United States. During the second half of 2005, Prestige also launched our OTC cryosurgical
product in Canada. Sales of our cryosurgical product to Prestige for dlSll’lbll[lOﬂ in Canada were $1.0 million in
2005. o . . . S o T :

T LI e .

In june 2005, we entered into an agreement with SSL under which we manufacture and' supply, and SSL
distributes on an exclusive basis, the Company’s cryosurgical wart removal product in the OTC footcare market
in Europe, Australia and New Zealand. The product is manufactured and sold under SSL’s Scholl and Dr. Scholl
trademarks, and was made initially available for retail purchase in pharmacies and retail outlets in several
European countries during the fourth quarter of 2005. Sales to SSL under the distribution agreement were
$3.2 million in 2005. '

A

) Sale‘ of our Histofreezer® product to phymcmns offices in the U. S and mtemauonal markets increased
13% and 24% to $5.9 million and $2. 0 mllhon respecuvely, in 20035, when’ compared to 2004, primarily as a
resull of hl gher distributor purchases.

+

Sales to the i 1nsurance risk assessment market declined by 12% to $6.8 million in 2005 from $7 8 million in
2004, primarily as a result of decreased OraSure® device purchases by our insurance lab teslmg pariners. We
believe this decrease was a result-of an overall reductlon in life'insurance appltcanon acuvny in lhe United Stale-;
and changes in underwntmg requirements.

Licensing and product development revenues'decreased 26% to $300,000 in 2005, from $404,000 in the
comparable period in 2004. Licensing and producl development revenues in both years were primarily related to
our collaborative oral fiuid research project with the Umversuy of Penmylvama and New York: Umversny under
a grant awarded by the Nallonal Institutes of Health. " - . ‘

.

We had two customers, Presuge and Quest, which aecounted for 17% and '13% of total revenues for 2005,
respectively. ' Co A

The Company’s gross margin was 60% in 2003, compared to 59% in 2004. Our 2005 gross margin was
positively impacted by more efficient utilization of the Company's manufacturing capacity and renegotiated
terms for the assembly and supply of the U.S. OTC cryosurgical product, offset by a less favorable product sales
mix and the $1.5 million charge related to the Company’s UPlink® assets.
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Research and development expenses decreased 13% to $5.3 million in 2005, from $6.1 million in 2004,
primarily as a resuit of lower overall staffing costs and lower expenses for clinical trials, partially offset by fees
paid and restricted stock granted to recruit and relocate the Company’s new Chief Science Officer and Senior
Vice President, Regulatory Affairs/Quality Assurance.

Sales and marketing expenses increased 6% to $16.1 million in 2005 from $15.2 million in 2004. This
increase was primarily the result of increased levels of staffing, market research, travel and commission
expenses, partially offset by lower advertising expenses. Included in advertising expenses was $1. 8 million and
$2.9 million for 2005 and 2004, respectively, paid to Prestige as reimbursement for marketing expenses incurred
for the Compound W® Freeze Off® product.

-General and administrative expenses increased 4% to $12.5 million in 2005 from $12.0 million in 2004,
This increase was primarily attributable to legal fees associated with the Schering-Plough litigation, increased
amortization of restricted stock grants to management, and increased staffing related expenses. This increase was
partially offset by a reduction in consulting.expenses, a reduction in transition expenses related to the Company’s,
former Chief Executive Officer, and a reduction in rent expense due to the expiration of the lease for our Oregon
facilities in January 2005. Legal fees associated with the Schering-Plough patent infringement lmgatlon were
$2.4 million and $1. 2 mlllron in 2005 and 2004 respecuvely

Interest expense decreased 1o $97,000 in 2005 from $134,000 in 2004, as a result of lower outstanding debt
balances. Interest income increased to $2.2 million in 2005 from $984,000 in 2004 as a result of higher yields on
our investment portfolio and larger balances available for investment.

A gain on foreign currency transactions of $57,000 was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2005,
versus a loss on foreign currency transactions of $53,000 recorded for the year ended December 31, 2004,

During the year ended December 31, 2005, a net income tax benefit of $17.7 million was recorded, while no
provision or benefit was recorded in 2004. The tax benefit recorded during 2005 reflects the release of a
significant portion of the valuation allowance on our deferred tax asset. At December 31, 2003, the Company had
federal net operating loss (*NOL”) carryforwards of $66.6 million. Qur ability to use the NOLs and tax credit
carryforwards to offset future income tax obligations could be limited by changes in the ownership of the
Company’s capital stock. Internal Revenue Code Section 382 (“Section 382”) contains provisions that limit the
amount of NOLs and tax credit carryforwards that cin be used in any given year, in the event of a significant
ownership change. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company engaged in an analysis, with the assistance of
independent tax specialists, to determine if any Section 382 ownership changes have occurred that would limit
the amount of NOLs that could be utilized to offset future taxable income. As a result of this analysis, the
Company concluded that prior period ownership changes may impose 2 limitation on the amount of NOLs that
can be utilized in a given year. The Company does not believe, however, that this limitation will impair our
future abrhty to utilize NOLs to offset our forecasted taxable income or to realrze the related deferred tax asset.

Prior to December 31, 20035, a valuation allowance had been established for the full amount of the deferred
tax asset created by these carryforwards and other items. Based on the 2005 and forecasted taxable earnings, a
significant portion of the valuation allowance was released in the fourth .quarter of 2003, resu]ting in the
recognition of $26.7 million of the deferred tax asset of which $18.2 million was recorded as an income tax
benefit in the statement of operations and $8.5 million was recorded directly as an increase in stockholders’
equity. Partially offsetting this benefit was an income tax provision of $436,000 that was recorded for the year
ended December 31, 2005 related to certain state income taxes and federal alternative minimum tax.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

December 31, December 31,

. 2006 ' 2005

: ' ' o : : " *(In thousands) -
- Cash and cash equivalents .............. Fe e PR $19,950 $32;827
Short-term investments ........ e T T © 71,051 44,793
Workmgcapltal Ce e R PN S . 95979' g 90670

Our cash cash equivalents andrshort-term investments mcreased $13.4 million durmg 2006 to $91.0 million
at'Decerber 31, 2006, primarily-as-a result'of $16.9 million inpositive cash flow from operating activities,
$10.0 million in borrowings of long-term debt, and $457,000 in.proceeds from the-exercise of stock options,
partially offset by $701,000 of ‘debt repayments, $12.6 million of property and equipment purchases, and
$632,000 associated with the retirement .of common stock.to pay minimum tax withholding obligations on the

vesting of restncted shares. At December 31, 2006, our working capltal was $96.0 million.

Net cash prov1ded by operatmg actmues was $16 9'million in 2006, pnmanly generatediby our net mcome
of $5.3 million for the year, non-cash charges for depreciation and amortization of $1.9 mllllon stock-based
compensation expense of $5.6 million, and a deferred income tax provision of $3.1 million resulting from
utilization of our NOL carryforwards. Other factors which contributed to the $16.9 million in net cash provided
by operating activities at December 31, 2006, also included a non-cash provision for excess and obso]ete
inventories of $750,000, $1.0 million in acquired in-process technology, an increase of $600,000 in accounts
payable and accrued expenses primarily related to increased accruals, for royalties, legal fees and . customer
" prepayments, and a decrease in accounts receivable of $1.3 million resulting from increased collection efforts
~ and lower outstanding balances due from Prestige and SSL. Offsetting these sources of operating cash were a
$2 2 million increase in inventories primarily related to higher levels of raw material purchases associated with
our OTC cryosurgical product for SSL and our. Oranck ADVANCE® test, and a $453,000 jncrease in prepaid
expenses resulting from the timing of prepayments for insurance and real estate taxes. ,

. Net cash used in investing activities durmg 2{)06 was $38. 9 mllllon of Wthh $26.1 mﬂhon was for the
purchase of short-term investments. We invested $12 6 million in additions to property and equipment, of which
$9.1 million related to the purchase of our two prev1ously leased facilities in Bethlehem ‘'PA. We also paid
$200, 000 for certam acqulred in-process, technology

Durmg the y'ear'endm'g December 31, 2007 we expect to invest '$7.5 million in capital expehditures,
primarily to purchase additional equipment, upgrade certain older equlpment and make improvements to our
fac1lmes .

Nel cash provided by financing activities was $9.1 million for the year ended December 31 2006, reﬂectmg
the $10.0 mitlion in new borrowings from Comerica Bank to finance the purchase of our two previously leased
facilities and $457,000 received from the exercise of stock options. Partially offsetting these'sources of cash were
$701,000 of loan principal repayments and $632,000 used for the purchase and retirement of commou stock.’

During 2006, we had in place an $11.9 million credit facility (the “Credlt Facility”) with Comerica Bank,
which is comprised of an $887,000 mortgage loan, a $3.0 million term loan, a $4.0 million non-revolving line of
credit for the purchase of both capital equipment and software, and a $4.0 million revolving working capital line
of credil. Interest on outstanding borrowings undér the non-révolving line of credit accrues at a rate, selected at
our option, equal to the bank’s prime rate, 180-day or 360-day LIBOR plus 2.625%, or the 4-year Treasury Note
rate plus 2.30%, determined at the time of ‘initial borrowing. Interest ‘on outstanding borrowmgs under the
revolving working capital line of credit accrues at a rate, selected at our option, equal to thé bank’s pnme rate
less 0. 2""%, or 30-day LIBOR plus 2.55%, determined at the time-of mmal borrowmg

On June 27, 2006 we: executed an amendment to our Credit Facﬂlty, pursuant to which we are permrtted to
borrow up to an additional $15.0 million in’ advances in order to fundithe purchase and future expansion of two
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! ‘previously leased facilities in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania. On June 29, 2006, we borrowed $10.0:million under the
terms of this Credit Facility, as amended, and purchased our two Bethlehem facilities. We can borrow the
remaining $5.0 million at any time before June 30, 2007. At our option, interest on outstanding borrowings is .
payable monthly at either a fixed rate equal to the five-year U.S. Treasury Note rate plus 1.03% to 1.73%, or a
variable rate equal to the 30, 180, or 360-day LIBOR rate plus 0.55% to 1.25%. In each case, the interest rate is
determined at the date of the advance and is based upon the amount of cash and cash equivalents we invest and
retain at Comerica Securities, Inc. We can also choose the fixed rate option, without penalty, at the expiration of
a previously elected LIBOR period. Principal is repayable in periodic installments, based upon the rate option
that we elect, with the remaining balance.of unpaid principal due-on June 27, 2011. This amendment also
extended the maturity date of our $4.0 million revolving working capital line of credit to June 29, 2007. All other
terms of the Credit Facility,.as previously amended, remain in effect, except for our financial covenant related to
liquidity, which was modified to'require a:minimum liquidity, as: defined by Comerica,’ of not. less than
$25.0.million, of Wthh at least $ 15 0 mllhon must be held by Comenca or its affiliates.«, -~ . « .
At December 31, 2006, interest on the new $10 0 mn]hon borrowmg was payable monthly, at the 360-day
LIBOR rate plus 0.9%, or 6.1894%. Principal is repayable 'in installments, due at the end'of each LIBOR rate
period, based upon a twenty-year amortization schedule and' the number of months in the expiring LIBOR rate
périod, Accordmgly on December 27, 2007, we will be required to make a $500,000 principal repayment and the
interest rate on thts Ioan wnll reset. The outstandmg balance of the loan at December 31 2006 was '$9.75 mllhon
. As: of December 31, 2006, we had no outstanding borrowings under the: $30 million term loan, ‘the
4.0 m1"101‘l non- revolvnng line of credtt or the $4 0 million revo]vmg workmg capital line of credit.’ "
. . LI - et e
All borrowings under the Credit Facility are collateralized by a first pnonty security interest in-all of our
assets, including present and future accounts receivable, chattel paper, contracts and contract rights, equipment
and accessories, general intangibles, investments, instruments, inventories; and a mortgage on our three facilities
in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania. Borrowings under the equipment-and software non-revolving line.and the revolving
working capital line are limited to commercially standard percentages of equipment and software purchases and
accounts receivable, respecttvely The Credit Facility contams certain covenants that' sét forth mmlmum
requirements for our quick ratio, liquidity and tangible net worth, We were in full compliance with all covenants
at December 31, 2006 and expect to remain in compliance ‘with‘all covenants during 2007. The Credit Facility
also restricts our ability to pay dividends, to make certain investments, to incur additional indebtedness, to sell or
otherwise dispose of a substantial pornon of assets and to merge or consolidate operations wnh an unaffiliated
enmy, without the consent of Comenca . , L .' P ! :
At December 31, 2006, we had NOL carryforwards of $53.0 million for federal income tax purposes.
During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company retained independent tax specialists.to perform an ownership
change study and analysts to, determine the annual limjtation amount .applicable to utilization of the NOL
carryforwards due to past ownershlp changes, as deﬁned in Section 383 of the Internal Revenue Code. As a result
- of thls study, we do not believe that the, ownershlp change llmltatrons would lmpalr our ablllty to, use ‘our NOLs
against our current forecasted taxable income,

1" . . ¥
‘ ¢ - L

. The combination of our current cash position, cash flow from operations and available borrowings under our
Credit Facility is expected to be sufficient to fund our operating and capital needs for at least the next twelve
months. However, our cash requirements- may. vary materially from those now planned due to many factors,
including, but not limited to, the scope and timing, of strategic acquisitions, the cost and timing of the expansion
of our manufacturing capacity, the progress of our research and development programs, the scope and results of
clinical testing, the magnitude of capital’ expenditures, changes in existing and potential relationships with
business partners, the time and cost of, obtaining; regulatory approvals, the costs involved in obtaining and
enforcing patents, proprietary rights and any necessary licenses, the cost and timing of expansion of sales and
marketing activities; the timing-of market launch of new products, market acceptance of new products,
competmg technological and market developments and other- factors . R . :
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

. . ¢ 1

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board {(“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN™)
No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109,” which
clarifies what criteria must be met prior to recognition of the financial statement benefit of a position taken in a
tax return. FIN No. 48 will require companies to include additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures within
their financial statements. The disclosures will include potential tax benefits from positions recognized for tax
return purposes but not recognized for financial feporting purposes, as well as a tabular presentation of
significant changes in such benefits during each period. The disclosures will also include a discussion of the
nature of uncertainties, factors that could cause a change, and an estimated range of reasonably possible changes
in tax uncertainties. F[N No. 48 will require a company to recognize a financial statement benefit for a position
taken for tax return purposes when it will be more-likely-than-not that the position will be sustained. FIN No. 48
is effective for fiscal years begmnmg after December 15, 2006. We are currently assessing the impact FIN No. 48
will have on our financial statements,

In September 2006, the United Stafes Securities and Exchange Commission {“SEC”) issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB™) No. 108, “Cons:dermg the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.” SAB No. 108 requires companies to evaluate the
materiality of identified unadjusted errors using both the income statement approach and the balance sheet
approach. In the initial year of adoption, if a company determines that an adjustment to prior year financial
statements is required under either approach, SAB No. 108 allows for a one-time cumulative-effect adjustment to
beginning retained earnings. SAB No. 108 is effective for interim periods of the first fiscal year ending after
November 15, 2006. The adeption of SAB No. 108 did not have any impact on our financial statements,

- ]
[

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157,
“Fair Value Measurements.” This Statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value
in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS
No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning: after November 15, 2007, and
interim periods within those fiscal years. We are currently assessmg the 1mpact if any, that SFAS No. 157 will
have on our financial statements. :

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, *“The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115.”” SFAS No. 159 permits entities to
elect to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on
iterns for which the fair value option has been elected will be recognized in earnings at each subsequent reporting
date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are cutrently assessing
the impact SFAS No. 159 will have on our financial statements.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments. The following sets forth our approximate
aggregate obligations at December 31, 2006 for’ future payments under contracts and other contmgent
commitments, for the years 2007 and beyond:

: ' Payments due by December 31, . .
Contractual Obligations Total 2007 2008 2009 2010 PAE{1] ] | " Therealter

Long-term debt! ........ $10 639,136 $ 608,595 § 593,087 $ 597,346 3 552,670 $7,796, 730 $ 490,708
Operating leases® ........ - 161,759 81,866 68,480 11,413 — —
Employment contracts® .. 2,529,425 1,804,625 724,800 — — — ‘o
Purchase obligations* . ... 5,349,799 57349799 _— _ w— — —_
Minimum commitments - : ‘ T Coh
under contracts> ...... 5,791,667 500,000 © 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 3,291,667
Total contractual ' ) ’ . ' o o
obhgauons ..., 1..$24.471,786 $8,344,885 $1,886,367 $1,108,759 $1,052,670 $8,296,730 $3,782,375
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1  Represents principal repayments reqmred under notes payable to our lenders. See Note 8 o the financial
statements included herein. ‘

2 Represents payments required under our operating leases.

3 Represents salary payments payable under the terms of employment agreements executed by us with certain

" executives. See Note || to'the financial statements included herei.

4" Represents payments requnred by non-canceilable purchase orders related to inventory, capital expenduures
and other goods or services. See Note 11 to the financial statements includéd herein.

5  Represents payments required pursuant to certain, licensing agréements executed by the Company. These
agreements are cancellable within a’specified number of days after communication by the Cémpany of its
intent to terminate. See Note 11 to the financial statements included herein. Additional payments of up to
$5,500,000 may be required pursuant to one of these llcensmg agreements for the achlevemem of specific
development and/or commercial milestones.

P . '

.Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as deﬁned in
Item 303(a) {4) (i1} of Regulation S-K under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended.

! At - i +

Critical Accountmg Polncnes and Estimates

This Management s Discussion and Analysis of Fmancnal Condition and Results of Operatlons dlseusses our
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles. generally accepted in
the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires that we make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period.On an on-going basis, we evaluate our judgments and estimates, including those related to bad
debts, inventories, investments; intangible assets, income taxes, revenue recognition, restructuring costs,
contingencies and litigation. We base our judgments and estimates on historical experience and on various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the financial statements included in Item' 15 of
this Annual Report. We corisider the following accounting estimates, which have béen discissed with our Audit
Committee, to' be most critical in understanding the more eomple'x judgments that are involved in preparing our
financial statements and the uncertainties that could impact our results of operations, fihancial condition and cash
flows.

Revenue Recognition. We follow SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition.” This bullelm draws on existing
accounting rules and provides specific guldance on revenue recognition for up-front non- refundab]e licensing and
development fees. We license certain products or technology to outside third parties, in return for which we
receive up-front licensing fees. Some of these fees can be significant. In accordance with SAB No. 104, we
recognize this revenue ratably over the related license period. : -

. -

] : E . . .
We also enter into research and development contracts with corporate, government and/or private entities.
These contracts generally provide for payments to us upon achievement of certain research or development
milestones. Product development revenues from these contracts are recognized only if the specified milestone is
achieved and accepted by the customer and payment from the customer is probable. Any amounts received prior
to the performance of product development efforts are recorded as deferred revenues. Recognition of revenue
under these contracts can be sporadic, as it is the result of achieving specific research and development
milestones. Furthermore, revenue from future milestone payments will not be recognized 1f ‘the, underlymg
research and development milestone is not achieved.
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-We recognize product revenues when there is persuasive evidencé that an arrangement exists, the price is
fixed or determinable, title has passed-and collection is reasonably assured. Product revenues are net of
allowances for any discounts or.rebates: We do not grant price protection or product return rights to our
customers, except for warranty returns. Where a product fails to comply with its limited warranty, we can either
replace the product or provide the customer with a refund of the purchase price or credit against future purchases.
Historically; returns arising from warranty issues.have been infrequent and immaterial. Accordingly, we expense
warranty returns as incurred. While such returms have been immaterial in the past, we cannot guarantee that we
will continue to experience the same rate of warranty claims as we have in the past. Any significant increase in
product warranty claims could have a matena] adverse |mpacl on our operaung results for the penod in which the
clarms occur, . . : : .t N

. . . . T

»

Allowance for Unco[!ecnble Accounts Receivable. Accounts receivable are reduced by an estimated
allowance for amounts that may become uncoliectible in the future. On an ongomg basrs we perform credit
cvaluations of our customers and adjust credit llmllS based upon the customer’ s pdyrnent history and
creditworthiness, as determined by, a review_of their current credit information. We also continuously monitor
collections and payments from our customers

P o TN . )

Based upon historical expérience and any specific customer collection issues that are identified, we use our
judgment to establish and evaluate the adequacy of our allowance for -éstimated credit losses, which was
$200,094 at Decembér 31,°2006. While credit losses have been within our expeclations and the allowance
provided, these 'losses can vary from period to p'eriod ($16,022, ($4,771),-and $3,541 in 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively). Furthermore, there is no assurance that we will experience ctedit losses at the same rates as we
have in the past. Also, at December 31, 2006, $4.5 million, or 44% of our accounts receivable, was due from four
major customers. Any significant changes in the liquidity or financial position of these customers, or others,

could have a material ddverse impact on the collectibility of our accounts receivable and future operating results.
.o . o Us . e S : R

Inventories. Our inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, determined on a first-in, first-out
basis, and include the cost of raw materials, labor and overhead. The majority of our inventories are subject to
explratlon dating. We continually evalvate the carrying value of our inventories and when, in the opinion of
management, factors indicate that impairment has occurred, either a reserve is'established against the inventories’
carrying- value or the inventories are completely written off. We base these decisions oit thelevel of inventories
on hand in relationto our estimated forecast of product demand, production requirements over the next twelve
months and the expitation dates of raw materials and finished goods. During 2006, 2005 and 2004, we wrote-off
inventory which had a cost of $751,000, $2.1 millioh and $839,000, respectively, as a result of scrap and product
expiration issues and a $1.3 million provision for loss on our UP/ink® product in 2005. Although we make every
effort to ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of future product demand, any significant unantrcrpated changes in
demand could have-a mgmﬁcant impact on the carrymg value of our mventorles and reported operatmg results.

. . ' ' .o .

Stock-based Compensation. Commencing January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123.(revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment,” which requires us to recognize the fair value of equity-based ‘awards as compensation
expense in’ our statement of operations. The fair value of our stock option awards was-estimated using a Black-
Scholes option valuation model. This valuation model incorporates highly subjective assumptions, such as the
expected stock price volatility and the estimated life of each award, in the model’s computations: The fair value
of awards; after considering the effect of expected forfeitures, is then- amomzed generally on a stralghl -line
basis, over the related vesting period of the award.

. B B
| - L

Long-lived and Intangible Assets. * Our long-lived assets are comprised of property and equipment and an
investment in a nonaffiliated entity, and our intangible asséts primarily consist of patents. and product rights.
Together, these assets have a net book value of $24.0 million, or 15.4% of our total assets, at December 31, 2006.
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Our investment in a privately-held nonaffiliated company is recorded under the cost method of accounting
because we do not have a controlling interest in this company, nor do we have the ability to exert significant
influence over the operating and financial policies of this investee company. Property and equipment, patents and
product rights are depreciated or amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives,-which we determine
based upon our estimate of the period of time over which each asset will generate revenues.-In August 2005, we
recorded a $1.5 million intangible asset related to a payment under a license agreement to certain patents related
to the Hepatitis C Virus. We recorded an additional $3.0 million related to this license in-2006. Management's
intent in executing this license is to provide for various alternatives for use, including uses in the international
market that would not require additional research and development efforts or regulatory approvals.  This
$4.5 million asset was capitalized based on management’s estimate of the cash flows to be received from future
product sales in these international markets. A similar analysis of estimated future cash flows will be prepared
upon payment of additional license fees under this agreement, or upon changes in circumstances, to determine
the appropriate accounting treatment for payments under this license agreement. An impairment of long-lived or
intangible assets could occur whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the net book value of
these assets may not be recoverable. Events which could trigger an asset impairment include significant
underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the
manner of our use of an asset or in our overall business strategy, significant négative industry or economic
trends, shortening of product life-cycles or changes in technology, and negative financial performance of the
nonaffiliated investee company. If we believe impairment of an asset has cccurred, we measure the amount of
such impairment by comparing the net book value of the affected assets to the fair value of these assets, which is
generally determined based upon the present value of the expected cash flows associated with the vse of these
assets. [f the net book value exceeds the fair value of the impaired assets, we would incur an impairment expense
equal to this difference. In June 2005, we recorded a $196,000 provision for loss on our UPlink® fixed assets as a
result of our inability to reach an agreement to transfer these assets to our distribution partner or determine an
alternative outlet for these assets. We currently believe the future cash flows to be received from all other long-
lived and intangible assets will exceed their book value and, as such, we have not recognized any additional
impairment losses through December 31, 2006. Any unanticipated significant impairment in the future, however,
could have a material adverse impact to our balance sheet and future operating results.

. Deferred Tax Assets. At December 31, 2006, we had federal NOL carryforwards of $53.0 million. The net
deferred tax asset associated ,with these NOLs and other temporary. differences was $23.5 million at
December 31, 2006. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be. realized. The ultimate realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the period in which those
temporary differences become deductible or the NOLs and credit carryforwards can be utilized. We consider the
scheduled reversal -of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable .income and tax planning strategies. in
making this assessment. . ‘. -

Our ability to use our NOL carryforwards to offset future federal income tax obligations, could be limited
by changes in the 'ownership of our stock. Internal Revenue Code (“IRC™) Section 382 contains provisions that
limit the amount of federal NOL carryforwards that can be used in any given year in the event of specified
occurrences, including significant ownership changes. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company completed an
analysis, with the assistance of independent tax specialists; to determine if, any IRC Section 382 ownership
changes have occurred that would limnit the amount of NOLs that could be utilized to offset future taxable
income. As a result of this analysis, the Company concluded that prior period ownership changes may impose a
limitation on the amount of NOLs that can be utilized in a given year. The Company does not believe, however,
that this limitation will impair our future ability to utilize NOLs to offset our forecasted taxable income or to
realize the related deferred tax asset. '

Prior to December 31, 2005, a valuation allowance had been established for the full amount of the deferred
tax asset created by these carryforwards and other items. Based on our 2005 results and our projections for future
taxable income over.the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible or the. NOLs and credit
carryforwards can be utilized, we believe a significant portion of the deferred tax asset was realizable at
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December 31, 2005.. As such, we recorded the estimated net realizable value of the deferred tax asset at
December 31, 2005 and have begun providing for income taxes at a rate equal to our combined federal and state
effective rates. Subsequent revisions to the estimated net realizable value of the deferred tax asset could cause
our provision for income taxes to vary significantly from period to period.

Contingencies. In the ordinary course of business, we have entered into various contractual relationships
with strategic corporate partners, customers, distributors, research laboratories and universities, licensors,
licensees, suppliers, vendors and other parties. As such, we could be subject to litigation, claims or assessments
arising from any or all of these relationships, We account for contingencies such as these in accordance with
SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” SFAS No. 5 requires us to record an estimated loss contingency
when information available prior to issuance-of our financial statements indicates that it is probable that an asset
has been impaired or a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the
loss can be reasonably estimated. Accounting for contingencies arising from contractual or legal proceedings
requires that we use our best judgment when estimating an accrual related to such contingencies. As additional
information becomes known, our accrual for a loss contingency could fluctuate, thereby creating variability in
our results of operations from period to period. Likewise, an actual loss arising from a loss contingency which
significantly exceeds the amount accrued for in our financial staternents could have a material adverse impact on
our operating results for the period in which such actual loss becomes known.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. l ) ..

- We do not hold any'amounts of derivative financial instruments or derivativé commodlty mstruments and,
accordmgly, we have no material derivative nsk to report under this ltem. i

A Sigmﬁcant pomon of our assets is compnsed of certificates of deposit, commerc:lal paper, U.S.
govemmem and agency obhganons and U.S. corporate bonds. All such instruments 'are classified as
available-for-sale securities. The primary ob_]ecuve of our investment activities is to preserve principal while
maximizing the related income without significantly increasing risk. Even so, some of the securities in which we
invest may be subject to market risk. Market risk is the risk that a change in prevailing interest rates may cause
the fair value of an investment to fluctuate. As interest rates increase, the fair value of a debt instrument would be
expecled to decrease. Correspondingly, if interest rates decrease the fair value of a debt instriiment would be
expected to increase. To minimize market risk, we have the ability to hold such debt instruments to maturity, at
which time the debt instrument would be redeemed at its stated or face value, We also typically invest in the
shorter end of the maturity spectrum. As such, we do not believe that we have a material exposure to market risk.

At De(.ember 31, 2006, approximately $10.5 million of the Company’s long-term debt bears interest at a
variable or floating rate tied to either the United States prime rate or the London Interbank Offered Rate. A one
percentage point increase in these interest rates would cost the Company approximately $105, 000 in additional
interest expense. * :

As of I)ecember 31 2006, we did not have any foreign currency exchange contracts or purchase currency
opuons to hedge local currency cash flows. We have operations in The Netherlands, which are subject to foreign
currency fluctnations, As currency rates change, translation of revenues and expenses for these operations from
euros to U.5. dollars affects year-to-year comparability of operating results. Sales denominated in a foreign
currency represented approximately $135,000 of our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2006, We
do not expect the risk of foreign currency fluctuations to be material in the near future. _ .

.-

ITEM 8. _ Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Informatlon with respect to this Item is contained in our Fmancnal Statements mcluded in Item 15 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, : .
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

)

. Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures.
(a) Evaluation of Drsc[osure Contmls and Procea'ures . ‘ a

The Company’s management with the participation of the Company s Ch:ef Executwe Off icer and Chief
Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the, Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of December 31, 2006.
Based on that evaluation, the Company’s management, including such officers, concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures are adequate and effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed
by the Company in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is accumulated
and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, to, allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and is recorded, processed, summarized, and

reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(b} Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a(fy and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, mcludmg our principal
execulive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the
framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial repomng was effective to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting pnnc1ples as of December 31, 2006.

Our management s assessment of the effectweness of our internal control over ﬁnanc:lal reporting as of
December 31, 2006 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent reg;stered public accounting firm, as stated
in lhell’ report, which is included below.

Because of its inherent llmnanons mtemal control over ﬁnancral repomng may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in condmons or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may detenorate '

(¢} Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporring_ ‘-

There was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting identified in connection
with the evaluation referred to in paragraph (a) above that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial repomng ' "

)3

(d) Report of Independem Regisrered Public Accounting an
The Beard of Directors and Stockhiolders
OraSure Technelogies, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over. Financial Reporting, that OraSure Technologies, Inc. maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
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Framewcrk issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
OraSure Technologies, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and rfor its assessment of the effectiveness of.internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opmlon on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. .

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
‘Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained .in all material respects. Our
aundit included obtaining an understanding ‘of internal*control over financial reporting, evalvating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating efféctiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the c1rcumstances We believe that our audlt provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion. - . e : n C

. - . i . . "
. A L L

A company’s lntema] control over financial reporting is a process demgned to prov1de reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the mainienance of records that, in.reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and*(3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition; use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

‘Becduse of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial répofting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls' may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compl:ance with the
pohcws or procedures may deteriorate. . - " '

] . fe . . Lt . Lt .

In our opinion, management’s assessment that OraSure Technologies, Inc. maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on
criteriaestablished in Internal Control—Integrated. Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission’ (COS0)." Also, in our opinion, OraSure Technologies, Inc.
maintained, in all material respects, effective.internal. control over financial reporting as of- December 31, 2006,
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsormg
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United Siates), the balance sheets of QraSure Technologies, Inc, as of Decémber 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
related statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006, and our report dated March 16, 2007 expressed
an ungualified opinion on those financial statements.

fs/ KPMG LLP

A Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 16, 2007

ITEM 9B. Other Information. -
Not applicable.
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[ . B .

We have omitted from Part III the information that- w1ll appear in our Deﬁmnve Proxy Statement for our

2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement™), which will be filed within 120 days after the end
of our fiscal year pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Certain information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the captions,
“Corporate Governance-—-Commitiees of the Board—Audit Committee,”. “Election of Directors,” “Executive
Officers,” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” in the Proxy Statement.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer, as well as to the members of our
Board of Directors and our other officers and employees: This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available
on our website at www.orasure.com. We intend to satisfy the amendment ‘and waiver disclosure requirements
under applicable securities.regulations by postmg any amendments of, or waivers to, the Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics on our website, -

ITEM 11. Executwe Compensatlon N ‘ . , .

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the 1nf0rmanon under the caption,
“Executive Compensation;” in-the Proxy Statement. :

ITEM 12. Security Ownershlp of Certain Beneﬁclal Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

*The information requlred by this Item wnh respect to the securities ownership of certain beneficial dOwners
- and management, and equity compensation plan information, is incorporated by reference to the information
under the captions, “Principal Stockholders” and “Equity Compensanon Plan Information,” respectively, in the
Proxy Statement. S g . . .

ITEM 13 Certain Relatlonshlps and Related Transactlons, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the captlons,
“Transactions with Related Persons” and “Corporate Governance—Director Independence,” in -the Proxy
Statement. ’ o

ITEM 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Serv:ces

‘The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the capuon
- “Audit Fees; Audit-Related Fees; Tax Fees; All Other Fees,” in the Proxy Statement.
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« PARTIV

ITEM 15. Exhibits. and Financial Statement Schedules. - . o _—

) (5)(1) and (a)(2). Financial Statements and Schedules. For a list of the "Financial ,Statements filed
herewith, see the Index to Financial Statements following the signature page to this Anhual Report. No schedules
are included with the Financial Statements because the reqmred information is inapplicable or is presented in the
Financial Statements or related notes thereto.

@3). Ez.chibits. See Index to Exhibits following the Financial Statements in this Annual Repbrt.

g
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d).of the Securities Exchange ‘Act of 1934,.the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf ‘ll)y the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorjzed, on March 16, 2007. o . o

. oo . . 1

ORASURE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ DouGLAS A. MICHELS

Douglés A. Michels
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of f934, this report has been signed on
March 16, 2007, by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE
fs/ DOUGLAS A. MICHELS ‘ President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Douglas A, Michels (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ RoONALD H. SPAIR Chief Operating Offacer, Chief Financial Officer and
Ronald H. Spair Director (Principal Financial Officer)
< s/ Mark L. Kuna Senior Vice President, Finance and Controlier
Mark L. Kuna (Principal Accounting Officer)
*MICHAEL CELANO Director

Michael Celano

*JacK GOLDSTEIN, PH.D. Director
Jack Goldstein, Ph.D.

Director
Frank . Hausmann
*RONNY B. LANCASTER Director
Ronny B. Lancaster
*CHARLES W. PATRICK Director
Charles W. Patrick
*ROGER L., PRINGLE Director
Roger L. Pringle
*DoucLAs G. WATSON Director

Douglas G, Watson

*By: /s/ Jack E. JERRETT

Jack E. Jerrett
(Attorney-in-Fact)
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
OraSure Technologies, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of OraSure Technologies, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and
2005, and the related statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006, These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. ' ' a :
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of OraSure Technologies, Inc, as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value
method of accounting for stock-based compensation as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123R, Share-Based Payment.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States), the effectiveness of OraSure Technologies, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 16,
2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal
control over financial reporting.

/st KPMG LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 16, 2007




ORASURE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS
! ] December 31,
2006 2005

ASSETS o

CURRENT ASSETS; - o
-Cash andl cash equivalents ......................... e e .§ 19,949,821 $ -32,826,740
Short-term INVESIMENTS . ..ot e e e et e s e et anenanns - 71,051,482 44,793,046

Accounts receivable, net of aliowance for doubtful accounts of $200,094 ) . .

and B2 78,066 . . e 10,357,287 11,602,127
INVentomES . .ot i e s P 5,534,567 4,128,029
Deferred Income taxes . ...t 3,675,785 . 6,503,946
Prepaid expenses and other ............... ... ... 1,989,882 . 1,553,545

Total CUMTENE ASSEES . ..t v it ittt it ee et et me e e 112,558,824 . 101,407,433

PROPERTY ANDEQUIPMENT, RBL. . -0 vt v cie et eeein e e - 17,374,718 - 5,815,233

PATENTS AND PRODUCTRIGHTS, net ... ...t iiininninnrans 6,328,344 2,879,958

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES ... .. e e 19,845,789 20,204,352

OTHER ASSETS ..o e e e e e e et et 457,788 440,227

' $156,565,463 '$.130,747,203
_ LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ,

CURRENT LIABILITIES: , . . _
Current portion of long-termdebt ......... ... ... ... oo i $ 608595 % 456,541
Accountspayable .......... ... PP 3,311,968 2,546,621
Accruedexpensesandother . ... ... ... .. L iini i . 12,659,149 7,733,941

Total current liabilities . . ... .ot e e e 16,579,712 10,737,103

LONG-TERM DEBT ...ttt ittt S 10,030,541 - 884,021

OTHER LIABILITIES ...... .. i i e s 451,235 ' 207,037

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 11)

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:

Preferred stock, par value $0.000001; 25,000,000 shares authorized, S . i

NONE ISSUE & ottt e e s e e e e e — —
Common stock, par value $0.000001; 120,000,000 shares authorized,

45,994,752 and 45,775,625 shares issued and outstanding . ............. 46 46
Additional paid-in capital ....... .. .. L L 228,069,433 226,218,469
Deferred compensation .. ... ... ... . ittt —_ (3,334,792)
Accumulated other-comprehensiveloss ........... .. ... ... ... . , (151,197) (282,825)
Accumulated deficit ... ... i e e (98,414,307) (103,681,856)

Total stockholders” equity ...... ... it 129,503,975 118,919,042

$156,565,463 § 130,747,203

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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ORASURE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
REVENUES: .
Product ...... ..o 567,830,561 $ 69,066,152 $53,604,124
Licensing and product development ....................... 324,359 300,040 404,140
) ‘ 68,154,920 69,366,192 54,008,264
COSTOFPRODUCTSSOLD ........................ .. 24,756,195 27,973,907 22,143,190
TGTOSS PrOfIl .\ttt e 43,398,725 41,392,285 31,865,074
OPERATING EXPENSES: '
Research and development ......... ... .................. 8,647,484 - 5,269,083 6,062,275
Salesand marketing . ... ... ... ... .. . ... i, 15,921,467 - 16,060,413 - 15,154,174
General and administrative . ........ .. .. 13,367,111 12,490,074 12,005,309
o . 37,936,062 33,819,570 33,221,758
Operating income (loss) . ........ ..o ... 5,462,663 7,572,715 (1,356,684)
INTERESTEXPENSE ........... ..., (404,680) (96,632) (133,652)
INTERESTINCOME ........... ... ittt 4,097,860 2,185,486 983,841
FOREIGN CURRENCY GAIN(LOSS) ........coivinennn. (94,390) 57,329 (53,147
Income (loss) before income taxes ...... I 9,061,453 9,718,898 (559,642}
INCOME TAX PROVISION (BENEFIT) .................... 3,793,904  (17,729,189) —
NET INCOME(LOSS) ..., $ 5267549 $ 27448087 $ (559,642)
EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE : o
BASIC ...., e e e e 3 0il 3 06l $ (0.01)
DILUTED ............ .. .00 ... e e $ o1t 3 059 % (00D
SHARES USED IN COMPUTING EARNINGS (LOSS) PER
SHARE .
BASIC . 45,909,990 * 45,109,580 44,463,861
DILUTED ........... e e b 46,580,266 46,146,612 44,463,861

The accompanying notes are an-integral part of these statements,
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ORASURE TECHNOLOG IES, INC.
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND.COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

. . Accgmulated
- o N P, Additional ther
M Paid-in Deferred  Comprehensive Accumulated
. L Shares Amount Capital Compensation Loss Deficit Total
Balance at January 1, 2004 ........ 44260931 $ 44 $204.867.765 .3 (614.515) $(173,704)  $(130.570,301) § 73,509,289
Common stock: issued upon exercise ’ : o ' o
ofoptions ..................... 370,800 1 1,804,160 — — — 1,904,161
Restricted stock grants to . .
employees ... iiieiiiiins — — 3,176,150 (3,176,150) - . — —
Amortization of deferred v ‘
- COMPENsation expense ............ .- — — 874,162 = — 874,162
Comprehensive loss: i . L
Netloss ..o, - —_ — — , —. (559,642) (559.642)
Currency translation adjustment . .. — — — — (12,983 = (12,983)
Net unrealized loss on marketable : re ‘
SECUMeS .. ... ..viiiaiion. .. — — — — . (137,982), == (137,982)
Total comprehensive’loss ... .. .. ) . (710,607)
Balance at December 31,2004 ... .. 44,631,731 45 209948075  (2.916,503) (324,669) | (131,129,943) .75,577,005
Common stock issued upon exercise
Of GPHONS ..\ ovvvraeriaes 1,009,794 1 6.067,868 —_ ' — e — 6,067,869
-Compensation expense for slock .
Option gramts . ......iT. ... r—_ — 123,916 — v — — 123,916
Vesting of restricted stock .......... 197 180 — — — — — —_
Restricted stock grams to . : e '
employees .........1%. ... ... - — — 1,918,343 (1,918,343) — — —
Purchase and retirement of treasury . '
shares«. ..........iiiiia oL e(63.080) — (601,347) — — - (601,347)
Amortization of deferred e ) - ’ - '
compensation ¢Xpense . .......... —_ —_ — 1,500,054 — — 1,500,054
Deferred taxes related to stock . .
opnons ........................ — — 8,761,614 — — — 8,701,614
Comprehcnswe mcomc .
Netincome .................... — - — — o — 27,448,087 27,448,087
Currency translation adjustment . .. — — — .— ++ (39,095) _ (39,095)
Unrealized gain on marketable
securities, net of tax provision of }
C826268 .. — — — — . 80,939 ‘ = 80,939
Total comprehensive income . . .. ) .- ) RS . 27,48993]
Balance at December 31,2005 ... .. 45,775,625 46 226,218,469  (3,334.792) (282.825) (103,681.856) 118,919,042
Reclassification of deferred
compensation . ................. —_— —_ (3,334,792) 3334792 —_ — —
Reclassification ('fllablllly-cldSSIﬁﬂd
awards ... ... — — (230,659) - — — (230,659)
Common stock issued upon cxerc:se .
ofoptions . ..,... ... it ., 8013 — 457334 — — — 457,334
Vesting of restricted slock .......... 199,633 —_ — — _ - —_
Purchase and retirement of treasury : :
shares ...t (65.519) — (631 509) — — - (631,509)
Compensation cot for restricted ' N M N .
SIOCK -\ vttt — — l 969 178 — —_ 1,969,178
Compensation cost fof stock option
BIAMES oot vrrnnn e — — 3621412 — s T — - 3621412
_Comprehensive income: - n ¢ c ‘ '
Nelincome ....oovvvvvneernnn, — — —_ -, —_ 5,267,549 5 267,549
Currency translation adjustment . .. — — — — T 6,787 — 6,787
‘Unreatized gain on marketable
securities, net of tax provisions of ) .
$72 979 ..... e = — — — “124,841" — 124,841
' Total compnehenswe income . 5,399,177
Balance at December 31, 2006 ... .. 45,994.752 46 $228,069,433 § - $(151,197)  $ (98,414,307) $129,503,975

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements
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ORASURE TECHNOLOG[ES, INC.

: . * STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
OPERATING ACTIVITIES: . .
Netincome (I0SS) .. ... .oooiriiei s '$ 5267549 $27448,087 $ (559,642)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided
by operating activities: -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR ........ $ 19,949,821 $ 32,826,740 $ 10,121,208

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Deferred INCOME LAXES . . .o\ vt e ieearere e 3,113,745 (18,165,068) . —
Stock-based compensation ....... e e 5,590,590 1,623,970 . 874,162
Depreciation and amortization .................o0en.n. 1,923,275 2,346,861 2,487,121
Acquired in-process technology ....................... 1,000,000 —_ —_
~ Provision for loss on property and equipment, net ......... ) - = 196,011 4,339
‘ " Provision for excess and obsolete inventories 750,542 2,062,855 . 839,130
| Changes in assets and liabilities: . .
| Accounts receivable ... ... ... . oo L. R 1,250,552 (4,553,469} 1,159,881
| Inventories . ....... e et e e (2,156,302)  (1,240,049) (1,787,590)
‘ Prepaid expenses andother . ........................ (452,502} (360,945) (272,265)
Accountspayable ............ ... ... .. . il 465,344 457,543 (1,066,064)
| Accrued expenses and other liabilities ................ 133,011 576,540 -1,759,144
| Net cash provided by operating activities ............ 16,885,804 10,392,336 - 3,438,216
| INVESTING ACTIVITIES: S . .
Purchases of property and equipment .. ................... (12,643,266) (2,048,167) (912,144)
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment .., ......... — — 66,427
Purchase of patents, product rights, or acquired in-process _ : .
echnology .. ..o i e (200,000)  (1,800,000) (600,000)
Purchases of short-term investments .. .................... (91,494,215) (54,071,801) (65,638,600)
Proceeds from maturities and redemptions of short-term ' e : .
INVESIMENS ... ...t ie it ii e ea e 65,433,600 65,935,674 42,226,980
(Increase) decrease inotherassets ....................... — - (24,801) 80,160
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities ... (38,903,881) 7,990,905 24,777,177
FINANCING ACTIVITIES: ' ' o .
Borrowings of jong-termdebt ............ e 10,000,000 . —_ =
Repayments of long-termdebt .......................... o {701,426)  (1,116,129)  (1,126,186)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock . ................ 457,334 6,067,869 1,904,161
Purchase and retirement of common stock . ................ {631,509) (601,347) —
Net cash provided by financing activities ............ 9,124,399 4,350,393 777,975
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON
CASH i e e 16,759 (28,102) (12,983)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH o
EQUIVALENTS . ... ... . . .. - (12,876,919  22705,532  (20,573,969)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF ] i -
YEAR - 32,826,740 10,121,208 30,695,177




ORASURE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. .-,
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .

1. THE COMPANY: - ,

- We develop, manufacture and market oral specimen collection devices using -our: proprietary orat fluid
technologies, diagnostic products including in vitro diagnostic tests, and other medical devices. These products
are sold in the United States and internationally to various clinical laboratories, hospitals, clinics, community-
based organizations and other public health organizations, distributors, government agencies, physicians’ offices,
and commeércial and industrial entjties. One of our products is also sold in the over-the-counter or consumer retail
markets in the United States, Canada, Europe and Mexico.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Use of Estimates o : ' C
The preparation of financial statements in confor:mity with accounting principles gcnerall;',accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect. the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date, of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could

differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with a purchased maturity of ninety days or less to be cash
equivalents. ‘As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, cash equivalents consisted of commercial paper, U.S.
_government agency obligations, state and local government agency obligations, corporate bonds, and certificates
of deposit.

H

Short-tern Investments . ‘ . . .

.

We consider all short-term investments to be available-for-sale -securities; in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities.” These securities are comprised of certificates of deposits, commercial paper, U.S. government and
agency obligations, state and local government agency obligations, and corporate bonds, all with purchased
maturities greater than ninety days. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, based upon quoted
market prices, with unrealized gains and losses reported in stockholders’ equity as a component of accumulated
other comprzhensive loss: There were no securities held as of December 31, 2006 in'a continuous unrealized loss
position for twelve or more months. N
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The fbllowing is a summary of our available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

* oo o Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
December 31, 2006 ) o
Certificates of deposit .......................... $ 800000. %3 —, L $§ — % .800,000
Commercial paper.. ... ...................... L. 28079352 165,004 R L 28,244 416
Government and agency bonds .. ... ... ... ..., . 3.331.455 . S— (4.618) ,+ 3,326,837
.Corporatebonds .................. ... . ... ..., 38,713,921 2,264  (35,956) 38,680,229
Total available-for-salé securities . ... ... ........... C. $70,924,728 -$167,328 " $(40,574) -$71,051,482
December 31, 2005 S . o H
Certificates of deposit ... ....................... $10,385,000 $ — $ (464) 510,384,536
Commercial paper .................... cooRoon 1,984,999 — {1,059) - 1,983,940
Government and agencybonds ................... 18,544,871 —_ (43,851) - 18,501,020
State and local government agency obl:gatwns PN 75,000 —_ — 75,000
Corporate bonds ™. . ... . e Lo 13,874,242 7 0 12614 (26,953) 13,848,550
Total d_vallab]e -for-sale securities . .... P | $44,864,112 $ 1,261 $(72,327) $44,793,046
At December 31, 2006, maturities of our available-for-sale T
securities were as follows: ‘ A . .
Lessthanoneyear ..............ccoivuiiennnn.. $67.851,766 $165,064 $(40,574) $67,976,256
OnetotWo YEars ..........o.oovioeeeannneenn... 3,072,962 2,264 — 3075226
Total available-for-sale securities .. .............. RERTr $ 70 024,728 $l67 328  $(40, 574) $71,051,482

e ' t
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
In 2006, 2005, and 2004, we paid interest of $350,535, $99,728, and $137,112, respectively.

In 2006 and 2005, we paid federal and state income taxes of $695,765 and $170,000, respecuvely No
income tax payments were made in 2004. .

For 2006,.2005, and 2004, we recorded,throuéh thé statement of operations a reduétibn in our al‘lowance. for
doubtful accounts of $61,950, $71,962, and $10,360, respectively, We had write-offs/(recoveries) of $16,022,

$(4,771), and $3,541 against the allowance for doubtful accounts in 2006, 2005, and 2004, re%pectwe]y

For 2006, 2005,. and 2004 we recorded accroals for purchases of . property and cqurpment of $346 258,
$57,923, and $72,394, respectively. .

In 2006, we recorded a $4,000,000 accrual related to two licensing agreements. In 2004, we recorded a
$300,000 accrual related to a new license agreement.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable have been reduced by an allowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in the
future. This estimated allowance is based primarily on management’s evaluation of specific balances as the
balances become past due, the financial condition of our customers and our historical experience related to write-
offs. If not reserved through these specific examination procedures, our policy is to reserve for uncollectible
accounts by applying fixed percentages to the aging categories of accounts receivahle,
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Inventortes

Inventories are'stated at-the lower of cost or market determmed on a first-in, first-out basis, and mclude the
cost of raw materials, labor and overhead. The majority of our inventories are subject to expiration dating. We
continually evaluate quantities on hand and the carrying value of our inventories.-to determine the need for
teserves for excess and obsolete inventories, based primarily on the estimated forecast.of product sales. When
factors indicate that impairment has occurred, either a reserve is established against the’ inventories’. carrying
value or the inventories are completely written off, as in the case of lapsing expiration dates. In addition to
reserving for these items identified- through specific identification- procedures, we also reserve for unidentified
scrap or spoilage under a fixed-formula methodology. We currently buy .a portion of our cryosurgical product
line from a foreign vendor, with such purchases payable in Euros. Changes in the exchange raté of the Euro will
impact our product cost. :

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment -are stated at cost. Additions or improvements are capitalized, while repairs and
mamtenam e are charged to expense. Depreciation and amortization are provided usmg the stralght-lme method
over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Buildings are deprecmted over 20-40 years, while computer
equipment, machmery and equipment, and furniture and fixtures are depreciated over three to ten years. Building
improvements are amortized over their estimated useful lives. When assets are sold or otherwise disposed of, the
related property amounts are relieved from the accounts, and any gain or loss is recorded in the statement of
operations. .

-

Patents and Product Rzghls

Patems and product rights consnst of costs associated with the acquisition-of patents hcenses and product
distribution rights. Patents and product rights are amortized usmg the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives of three to ten years.

Other Assets

Included in other assets is a $337,253 investment, representing a 7.7% ownership interest in a privately-held
nonaffiliated company. We do not have a controlling interest in this company, nor do we have an ownership or
voting interest which allows us to exert significant influence over the operating and financial policies of this
investee company. Accordingly, we have accounted for this investment using the cost method of accounting. In
January, 2007, this privately-held nonaffiliated company was sold, and we received approximately $1,750,000
for our ownership interest.

ra

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets .

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” if
indicators of impairment exist, we assess the recoverability of the affected long-lived assets, which include
property and equipment and patents and product rights, by determining whether the carrying value of such assets
can be recovered through the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows from the use and evemual disposition of
the asset. If impairment is indicated, we measure the amount of such 1mpa1rmem by comparmg the carrying
value of the assets to the fair value of these assets, which is generally determlned based on the present value of
the expected future cash flows associated with the use of the’ asset During 2005, we recorded a $196, 01l
impairment 6n certain equipment because its carrying value exceeded the fuiure cash flows to be received from
those assets. We believe the future cash flows to be received from-our long—lwed assets will exceed the assets’
carrying va]ue and accordingly ‘we have not recognized dny addmonal 1mpa|rmem losses through December 31,
2006.




Revenue Recognition

We recognize product revenues when there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, the price is
fixed or determinable, title has passed and collection is reasonably assured. Product revenues are recorded net of
allowances for any. discounts or rebates. We 'do not grant price protection or product return rights to our
customers; except for warranty returns. Historically, returns arising from warranty issues have been infrequent
and immaterial. Accordingly, we expense warranty returns as incurred. :

Up-front licensing fees are deferred and recognized . ratably - over: the related license period. Product
development revenues are recognized over the period in which the related product development efforts are
performed. Amounts received prior to the performance of product development efforts are recorded as deferred
revenues. Grant revenue is recognized as the related work is performed and costs are incurred. We record
shipping and handling charges billed to our customers as product revenue and the related expense as cost of
products sold.

-Significant Customer Concentration

'During 2006, Qu_estiagnostics,' including its wholly-owned subsidiary, LabOne, Inc, (“Quest™, “and
Abbott Laboratories (“Abbott™) accounted for 14 percent and 10 percent of our total revenues, respectively.

‘Additionally, four customers cach accounted for more than 10 percent of our accounts receivable at
December 31, 2006. Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc. (“Prestige™), Quest, SSL International plc, and Abbott
accounted for 12 percent, 11 percent, 10 percent and 11 percent, respectively, of our accounts receivable at
December 31, 2006.

During 2005 and 2004, two of our customers accounted for more than 10 percent of our total revenues.
Prestige accounted for 17% and 25% of total revenues for 2005 and 2004, respectively. Quest accounted for 13%
and 14% of our total revenues for 2005 and 2004, respectively. g

At December 31, 2005, Prestige and SSL International plc accounted for 15% and 20% of our accounts
receivable, respectively.

" Research and Development

Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred.

" Advertising Expenses

Advertising costs are charged to expense as incurred. During 2006, 2005, and 2004, we incurred $805,936‘,
$2,232,945, and $3,512,037, respectively, in advertising expenses. Included in advertising expenses for 2006,
2005 and 2004 were $539,856, $1,820,022 and $2,883,145, respectively, in reimbursement for marketing
expenses incurred for the Compound W® Freeze Off® product.

" Stock-Based Compensation

+ Priér to 2006, we accounted for stock-based compensation to employees and directors using the intrinsic
value method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“*APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees,” and related’ mterpretatlons Under APB Opinion No. 25, no stock- based compensauon
expense was recogmzed for stock options granted to employees or directors, as the exercise price was equal to
the market price of our common stock on the date of grant. We account for stock-based compensation to
nonemployees using the fair value method in accordance with SFAS No. 123 (revised ~2004),
(“*SFAS No. 123R"), “Share-Based Payment,” and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF") Issue No. 96-18,
“Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction
with Selling, Goods or Services.” :

F-10




Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123R, which eliminated the ability to account for stock-
based compensation under APB Opinion No. 25 and requires us to recognize compensation expense based on the
fair value of our stock-based awards. We elected the modified prospective transition method as permitted by
SFAS No. 123R. Accordingly, results from prior periods have not been restated. Under this transition method,
stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 includes:

(a) compensalmn expense for all stock-based awards granted prior to January 1, 2006 but.not yet vested,
based on the grant date fair value previousty estimated in accordance with the original provisions of
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatlo_n and

(b) compensation expense for all stock-based awards granted, modified or settled subsequent to January 1,
2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No 123R.

Upon the adopnon of SFAS No. 123R our dcfcrrcd compensatlon balance of $3,334, 792 was reclassified
against additional paid-in capltal Consistent with’ our past practice under the "disclosure requirements of
SFAS No. 123, _we have elected to recognize compensatlo[n expense for stock option awards issued to ‘employees
and directors on a stralght—lme basis over the requisite service period of the award. To sausfy the exercise of
opuons or to, 1ssue new restricted stock we normally issue new shares rather than purchase shares on the open
market. . . .

Pursuant to the disclosure re&ixirefnents of SFAS No. 123, the table below illustrates the effect on net
income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share had compensation expense for our stock-based awards been
determined based upon the fair value of the awards at the date of grant for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004
Net income (loss): . : o )
As reported e e e e e e $27,448,087 $ 7(559,642)
Add: stock-based employee compensation cxpense included in net ot
Cincome (loss), netoftax ... ... i e . 0945634 + 874,162
Deduct: total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
‘under the fair value-based method for all awards, netof tax . ......... (3,004,813) (5,921,957
o3 2] 1 U $25,388,908 $(5,607,437)
Earnings (loss) per share: . ‘ ' =
Basic : A
As reponed Y e e $ 0.61 $ (0.01)
Proforma ....... N S e e i e -$ . 056 % {0.13)
Diluted o " ; o '
ASTEPOIEd . . oottt e % 059 $% (0.01)

PO FOMMA « v v v e s e e e e e e e et B 055 §  (0.13)

L - el

 Income Tuxes

We follow the asset and liability method for accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and the respective tax basis of assets and liabilities, and operating
loss and credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates that are expected
to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary - differences and operating loss.and- credit
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carryforwards are expected to be recovered, settled or utilized. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

Foreign Currency Translation . -

Pursuant to SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation,” the assets and liabilities of our foreign
operations are translated from Euros into U:S. dollars at current exchange rates as of the balance sheet date, and
revenues and éxpenses are translated at average exchange’ rates for the period. Resulting translation adjustments

are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive loss, which is a separate component of stockholders’ equity.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share t st PO

We have presented basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share pursuant to¢ SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per
Share.” In accordance with SFAS No. 128, basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income
(loss) by the welghted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per share is computed in a manner similar to bas:c earnings per share except that the weighted average
number of shares outstanding is increased to mclude mcremental shares from the assumed vesting or exercise of
dllutnfe securities, such as’ common stock options, warrants and unvested restricted stock The number of
incremental shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options and warrants ‘were exercised and
unvested restricted shares were vested, and the proceeds from such exercises or vesting were used to acquire
shares of common stock at the average market prices during the reporting period.

* The computauons of basu: and dlluted eammgs (loss) pcr share are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Netincome (J0SS) vttt et e et $ 5,267,549 $27,448,087 $ (559,642)
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding: .
Basic, ..... e P 45,909,990 45,109,580 44,463,861
Dilutive effect of stock options, warrants and restricted . . , ’
shares ...... e 670,276 . 1,037,032 —
Diluted ................. e L . 46,580,266 . 46,146,612 © 44,463,861
Earmngs (loss) per share: ' ' s ‘
Basic ............ [ b 011 3 061 % 0.01)
DRlted e e § 011 8 059 - (00D

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, outstanding common stock options, warrants and
unvested restricted stock representing 1,308,809, 1,069,181, and 5,479,504 shares, respectively, were excluded
from the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. .

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

We follow SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income.” This statement requires the classification of
items of other comprehensive income (loss} by their nature and disclosure of the accumulated balance of other
comprehensive income (loss), separately from accumulated deficit and additional paid-in capital, in the
stockholders’ equity section of our balance sheet.

1
" i o R I ot

Fair Value of Financial lnsrruments

As of December 31, 2006, the carrying values .of ¢ash and cash equwalems short-term investments,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, and-accrued expenses approximate their respective fair values based on
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their short-term nature. In addition, we believe the carrying vatue of our’debt instruments, which*do not have
readily ascertainable market values, approximate their fair values, given that the interest rates on outstanding
borrowings approximate market rates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemenrs

In Ju]y 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) 1ssucd FASB lnterpretauon (“FIN™)
No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an Interpretation of FASB Statement No..109,” which
clarifies what criteria must be met prior to recognition of the financial statement benefit of a position taken in a
tax return. FIN No. 48 will require companies to include additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures within
their financial statements. The disclosures will include potential tax benefits from positions recognized for tax
return purposes but not recognized for financial reporting purposes, as well as a tabular presentation of
significant changes in such benefits during each period. The disclosures will also include a discussion of the
nature of uncertainties, factors that could cause a change, and an estimated range of reasonably possible changes
in tax uncertainties. FIN No. 48 will require a company to recognize a financial statement benefit for a position
taken for tax return purposes when it will be more-likely-than-not that the posmon will be sustained. FIN No. 48
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, We are currently asse%smg lhe 1mpacl FIN No. 48
w1ll have on our ﬁnancml statemems . e . e

In September 2006, the United States Secrities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 108 (“SAB No. 108”) “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying
Misstatements in Currem Year Financial Statements.” SAB No. 108 requires companies to évaluate the
materiality of identified unadjusted errors using both the income statement approach and the balance sheet
approach. [n the initial year of adoption, if a company determines that an adjustment (© pnor year financial
statements is required under either approach, SAB No. 108 allows for a one-time cumulative-effect adjustment to
beginning retained‘earmings. SAB No. 108 is-effective for.interim periods of the first fiscal year ending after
November 15, 2006, The adoption of SAB No. 108 did not have any impact on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” This Statement defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and
expands discloSures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for
fiscal years heginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We are currently
assessing the impact, if any, that SFAS No. 157 will have on our ﬁnancnal statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Finandial Assets and
Financial Liabilities—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115.” SFAS No. 159 permits entities to
elect to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on
items for which the fair value option has been elected will be recognized in earnings at each subsequent reporting
date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently assessing
the impact SFAS No. 159 will have on our financial statements,

3. - INVENTORIES:  ~

. . December 31,
. B U ' 2006 . 2005

Raw materials .........0...... i, _ $3,868,301 -$2,625,889
Work in process . ... .. e PR S il 533470 °T718,804
Finished’goods . .. ... A e O 1,132,796 783,336

$5,534,567 $4,128,029

In 2005, we recorded a $1,288,655 provision on our UP/ink® inventory as a result of the inability to
determine an alternative use for this product and the termination of an agreement with our distribution partner.
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT: ‘ :

" December 31,

R 2006 2008

Land ... $ 1,117,788 $ —
Buildings and improvements .......................... 13,454,065 4,895,253
Machinery and equipmenp ........ S 8,623,415 7,855,947
Computer equipment . .............oiiuinriiiiriaain L577.073 - 2,052,741
Furniture and fixtures ... ..................... PR 781,103 847,512
Construction in progress . ............ ........ e 3,672,005 1,966,125

' - ' . 29,225449 17,617,578

Less—Accumqlatec_i depreciation .......... . e o (11,850,731 (11, 802 345)
' $17374718 $ 5,815,233

On June 30, 2006, we exercised purchase options g:ontéined in the commercial leases for two of our facilities
localed in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania and acquired both facilities for an aggregate purchase price of approximately
$9,100,000, including settlement costs. As a result of these purchases, the leases for these facilities, which
required minimum annual rental payments of $1‘,051,000, were terminated.

Depreciation expense was $1,371,400, $1.573,852, and $1,739,733 for 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.
In addition, we retired or disposed of $1,323,014 of fully depreciated assets dunng 2006. No gain or loss was
recogmzed on these dlsposals

é. PATENTS, PRODUCT RIGHTS AND ACQUIRED IN-PROCESS TECHNOLOGY.: :

Patents product rights and licenses were as follows:

December 31,-

I - ‘ 2006 2005
HiV-related ..........ooivieenien... e $ 1,900,000 § 1,900,000
HCV-related .. . ... e, e PR 4,500,000 1,500,000

"Lateral flow-telated ... ... .. .. ... ... . 1,500,000 500,000

. Cryosurgery-related ... ... .. P 2,548,620 2,548,620

. ' . L . 10,488,620 6,448,620
" Less accumulated amortization ... .......ii i, (4,120,276) (3,568 662)

$ 6,328.344 $ 2,879,958

Amortization expense for 2006, 2005, and 20621 was $55;l,614, $700,377, and $705,808, respectively.
Amortization expense for each of the five succeeding fiscal years is estimated at $1,066,565 for 2007, $896,619
for 2008, $789,515 for 2009, $789,515 for 2010, and $789,515 for 201t.

in June 1998, we acquired the patents and exclusive worldwide distribution rights to our cryosurgical
product line. The purchase price of $2,548, 620, including transaction costs, has been recorded as patents and
product rights and is being amortized using the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of ten years. In
connection with this acquisition, we also entered into a product purchase agreement with the manufacturer of the
cryosurgical product line, with a current term extending through 2008.

In June 2004, we entered into a sublicense agreement with a third party, purshant to which we have been
granted a limited, worldwide, non-exclusive sublicense to certain HIV-2 patents held by such party: The

agreement required us to pay the third party a one-time non-refundable license fee of $900,000, which was
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recorded as patent and product rights on our balance sheet and is being amortized through June 30, 2014. This
agreement also contained an option to expand the application of this sublicense to other immunoassay platforms,
in addition to our OraQuick® platform. In June 2006, we exercised this option, which requires us to pay the third
party a non-refundable license fee of $600,000, of which $200,000 was paid in July 2006. Two remaining
contractually obtigated "‘payments of $200,000 each are due in July 2007 and 2008. As of December 31, 2006,
$200,000 of this obligation is included in accrued expenses, with the remaining $200,000 included in other
liabilities. We have recognized this $600,000 license fee as acquired in-process technology, which is included in
research and development-expense in our statement of operations, because other immunoassay platforms for the
detection of. HIV-2 will require additional research and development efforts and subsequent regulatory approvals.

In Augist 2005, we entered into a license agreement with third parties, pursuant to which we have been
granted a limited, personal, non-transferable, non-exclusive license related to certain Hepatitis C Virus (“HCV™)
patents held by such parties. The agreement required us to pay the third parties a one-time non-refundable license
fee of $1,500,000, which was paid in August 2005. In December 2006, an additional milestone payment of
$3,000,000 was due and is included in accrued expenses as of December 31, 2006. We may also be required to
pay additional license fees of up to $5,500,000, upon the achlevement of specnﬁc development and/or
commercm] milestones. :

. ' Do

Management's intent in executing the HCV license agreement is to provide for various alternatives for use
of the licensed patents. Some of these uses require additional research and development efforts and regulatory
approvals, while others, specifically in ‘the international market, do not require additional research and
development efforts or regulatory approvals, Based on management’s estimate of the cash flows to be received
from future product sales in international markets, we capitalized both the' $1,500,000 and $3,000,000 license
fees in the accompanying balance sheet. We are amortizing these amounts to cost of products sold on a straight-
line basis over ten years which represents management s estimate of the remammg useful life’ of the licensed
patents. Co . .

Under the terms of the HCV license agreement, we are also obligated to pay royalties based on our net sales
of certain products, which incorporate the technology covered by the licensed patents. Royalties under the license
agreement vary based upon the geographical territory where the product is sold No sales have been made under
the terms of thls license agreement through December 31, 2006 : v

In Deccmber 2006, we amended a license agreement with third parties, pursuant to which we have been
granted a limited, non-exclusive license to certain lateral flow technology patents held by such parties. The
amendment provides for the renewal of our license to certain lateral flow patents held by these parties, the
expansion of these patents to future product applications to be developed by.our Company, and the settlement of
prior royalty obligations arising prior to the-amendment date. It requires us to'pay the third parties a one-time
non-refundable fee-of $1,750,000. We allocated the $1,750,000 fee based upon' thé Telative fair values of the
items contained in the agreement. Accordingly, at,December 31, 2006, we capitalized $1,000,000 as patent and
product rights and will amortize this amount through December 2011, Of the remaining $750,000, we recognized
$400,000 as acquired in-process technology as such amount was allocated- to royalties' for future product
applications that will require additional research and development efforts and regulatory approvals. “The
remaining $350,000 was recorded as a reduction of the accrued prior royalty obligations, which resulted in the
reversal of $738, 983 of royalty expense durmg 2006. The $1,750,000 fee is included in accrued expenses at
December 31, 2006. © : -
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6. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER: . L ; -

v

' December 31,

R E 2006 . . 2005

Payroll and related benefits . ........................ . $ 2,117,630 $2,510,240 -
Deferred revenue .-, . ............ D, 1,877,546 1,302,791
Professional fees .. ........... ... cccooiiiitiaia.., e 681,850 487.712
Royalties .................. PP - 2,813,102 . 1,925,679

. -Advertising ....... P 201,509 757,906
License fees .. ... .. e 4,200,000 _—
Laboratory testing fees . ............. .. ... o ..+ 155,996 210,604

(0] 1 S B - 611,516 ;539,009
' ' " $12,659,149° $7,733.941 ‘

At December 31, 2006, accrued payroll and related benefits decreased primarily as a result of a decrease in
annual bonuses. Deferred revenue includes customer prepayments of $1,727,546 and $1,012.891 at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Professional fees at December 31, 2006 increased primarily as a
result of legal fees related to current litigation. Accrued royalties and advertising expenses at December 31,2006
and 20035 are primarily related to our OraQuick® and Freeze Off®. products, respectively. License fees at
December 31, 2006 are related to the sublicense agreements, which we entered into in ‘December 2006, as
discussed in Note 5.- ) . : .o Lo :

7. CREDIT FAC]LITIES

On June 27, 2006 we executed an amendment to our existing $ll 900,000 credit facility (the “Credit
Facility”) with Comerica Bank (“Comerica™). This amendment permitted us to borrow up to an additional
~ $15,000,000 in advances in order to fund the purchase and future expansion of two leased facilities in Bethlehem,

Pennsylvania. The original Credit Facility was comprised of an $887,000 mortgage loan; a $3,000,000 term loan,
a $4,000,000 non-revolving line of credit for the purchase of both capital equipment and software, and a
$4,000,000 revolving working capital line of credit. On June 29, 2006, we borrowed $10,000,000 under the terms
of this Credit Facility, as amended, and purchased our two Bethlehem facilities. We can borrow the remaining
$5,000,000 at any time before June 30, 2007. At our option, interest on outstanding borrowings is payable
monthly at either a fixed rate equal to the five-year U.S. Treasury Note rate plus 1.03% to 1.73%, or a variable
rate equal to the 30, 180, or 360- day LIBOR: rate plus 0.55% to 1.25%. In each case, the interest rate is
determined at the date of the advance and is based upon the amount of cash and cash equivalents we invest and
retain at Comerica Securities, Inc. We also can choose the fixed rate option, without penalty, at the expiration of
a previously elected LIBOR period. Principal is repayable in periodic installments, based upon the rate option
that we elect, with the remaining balance of unpaid principal due on June 27, 2011. This amendment also
extended the maturity date of our $4,000,000 revolving working capital line of credit to June 29, 2007. All other
terms of the Credit Facility, as previously amended, remain in effect, except for our financial covenant related to
liquidity, which was modified to.require a- minimum liquidity, as defined by Comerica, of not less than
$25,000,000, of which at least $15,000,000 must be held by Comerica or its affiliates.

As of December 31, 2006, we had no outstanding borrowings under the $3,000,000 term loan,- the
$4,000,000 non-revolving line of credit, or the $4,000,000 revolving working capital line of credit.

At December 31, 2006, interest on the new $10,000,000 borrowing is payable monthly, at the 360-day
LIBOR rate plus 0.9%, or 6.1894%. Principal is repayable in installments, due at the end of each LIBOR rate
period, based upon a twenty-year amortization schedule and the number of months in the expiring LIBOR rate
period. Accordingly, on December 27, 2007, we will be required to make a $500,000 principal repayment and the
interest rate on this loan will reset.
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All borrowings under the Credit Facility are collateralized by a first priority security interest in all of our
assets, including present and future accounts receivable, chattel paper, contracts and contract rights, equipment
and accessories, general intangibles, investments, instruments, inventories, and a mortgage on our three facilities
in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania. Borrowings under the revolving working capital line of credit are limited to
commercially standard percentages of accounts receivable, The Credit Facility contains certain covenants that set
forth minimum requirements for our quick ratio, liquidity, and tangible net worth. We were in full compliance
with all covenants at December 31, 2006. The Credit Facility also restricts our ability to pay di'vidends','to make
certain investments, to incur additional indebtedness, to sell or otherwise dispose of a substantial portion of
assets, and to merge or consolidate operations with an unaffiliated entity, without the consent of Comerica.

8. LONG-TERM DEBT:

December 31,
2006 2005

Note payable to bank, interest payable monthly at the 360-day LIBOR rate plus
0.9%, (6.1894% at December 31, 2006), principal payments due at the end of each
LIBOR rate period through June 2011, at which time the remaining unpaid
prmcnpal balance is payable, secured by a first priority security interest in all of :

OUT BSSEIS. - v v v et et e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 9,750,000 $ —

Mortgage loan payable to bank, interest at an annual floating rate equal to the bank’s
prime rate (8.25% at December 31, 2006), fixed monthly installments ‘of principal
and interest of $7,426 through September 2007, at which time the interest rate and
fixed monthly repayment amount is reset for the remaining sixty monthly
installments, secured by our building. .. ...... ... ... . e 689,442 722,233

Notes payable to bank, matured in2006. ..........:....... e — 311,210

Note payable to bank, interest at an annual floating rate equal to the bank’s prime U
rate (8.25% at December 31, 2006), monthly principal installments of $2,144,
plus intetest, through June 2007, secured-by certain equipment . . ... ............ - 12,863 38,590

Note payable to bank, interest at an annual floating rate equal to the bank’s prime :
rate (8.25% at December 31, 2006), monthly principal installments of $2,264,
plus interest, through March 2007, secured by certain equipment. ............. - 6,793 33,963

Note payable to Pennsylvania Industrial Developmem Authority, mterest at 2%, . '
monthly installments of principal and interest of $4, 893 through March 2010, o

secured by a second lien on our bu11d1ng .................................. 180,0"38 234,566
10,639,136 © 1,340,562
Less—Current portion .. .. ... e e e (608,595) (456,541}

$10,030,541 $ 884,021

Long-term debt maturities as of December 31, 2006 are as follows:

2007 ... e © % 608,595

. 2008 .......... DU 593,087

" 2009 ... ... U o 597,346

- 2000 .. e 552,670
D200 U 7,796,730 !

Thereafter . ... .. e 490,708

$10,639,136

Certain of these notes payable require, among other items, the maintenance of certain financial covenants,
We were in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2006.

F-17




9. INCOME TAXES: i N

Tﬁf; éomponems of lhe.provisioﬁ {benefit) for income ‘taxes' for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004 are as follows: ' :

© 2000 2005 2004
Current N ' .
"Federal .................. e % 2.‘51,074 $ 224153 § 2 —
State G e J PR 429,085 211,726 =
680,159 435,879 —
Deferred . o
Federal . ... e 2,976,992 3,285,740 (123,009
State .. D 136,753 495,298 (18,823)
) 3,113,745 3,781,038 (]_4]_,832)
Change in valuation allowance ........, e . - (21,9_46,106);, 141,832
o . 3,113,745  (18,165,068) ., — .
Total provision (benefit) ........ S P . $3,793,904 $(17,729,189) $ —

A reconciliation of the statutory United States federal tax rate to our effective tax-rate for the year ended
December 31, is as follows: .

i

2006 2008 2004

Statutory U.S. federal tax rate—expense (benefit) ...................... 340% 34.0% (34.0)%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit ...... .. e e L4l 4.8 (2.2)
Nondeductible expenses and other .............. e e e 38 . 46 . 109
Net change in valuation allowance, federal andstate .................... — - (2258) 253.
B CtiVe LAX T8 L.ttt i e ettt ittt m e i 41.9% (1824)% — %

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary'différences between the basis of assets and
liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and tax purposes, and net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards, Significant components of our total deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as
follows: -

2006 2005
Net operating loss carryforwards . .......... ... ... .. ... ........ $18,019,056 $22,827 988
INVeNIOTY .« .o e e 1,315,262 1,165,890
Capitalized research and developmentcosts ..................... ... 352,740 665,353
Accruals and reserves currently not deductible ..................... 573,819 * 579,584
Patent costs .. ..... e e e e 764,311 579,347
Depreciation and amortization ., . ..., 472,586 391,677
Stock-based compensation ... .. .. e e e 1,418,655 359,573
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards ... ................... . 405,145 138,886
Total deferredtax asset ................... e . e ... $23,521,574  $26,708,298
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In assessing™the realizability, of our deferred tax asset, we follow the guidance contained within
SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which requires that deferred income tax assets be reduced by a
valuation-allowance, if after considering all relevant positive and negative evidence, it is more likely than not that
some porlion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. The realization-of the gross deferred tax
assets is dependent on several factors, including the generation of sufficient taxable income prior to the
expiration'of the net operating loss (“NOL") carry forwards. We conclude that it is more likely than not that we
will generate sufficient taxable income to recognize the deferred tax assets. Our federal NOL canyforwards
expire as follows: :

Year of Expiration . ) NOLs
2008 .o P $ 596,830

’ 2000 .. e e 7,053,000
2000 o e 795,394

2001 ......... . S P e ea.. 7,731,587
20017-2021 ..o e e 30,428,371
2022-2025 ... O © 6,383,686

52,988,868

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 contains provisions that limit the annual amount of NOLs available to be used
in any given year in the event of a significant change in ownership. On September 29, 2000, two separate
companies, STC Technologies, Inc. and Epitope, Inc. merged to form our Company. A significant change in
ownership, as defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, occurred in connection with this merger. As
such, the utilization of NOLs generated prior to September 29, 2000 is limited to approximately $13,700,000 per
year. We do not believe that this limitation wilt have a material adverse impact on the utilization of our NOL
carryforwards, _— . i _ |

At the end of 2005, we concluded that it was more liklely than not that the majority of our deferred tax asset
would be recovered. Accordingly, we reduced our valbation allowarice by approximately $26,700,000. Included
in the 2005 reduction of the valuation allowance was approximately $8,500,000 related to prior years’ tax
benefits associated with the exercise of employee stock options. This amount was recognized as an increase to
additional paid-in capital in 2005. A tax benefit of approximately $245,000 associated with employee exercises
of non-qualified stock options and disqualifying dispositions of stock acquired with incentive stock options
during the'year ended December 31, 2005 was also recorded as additional paid-in ca’pital'dun'ng 20035.

L

10. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Stock-based Awards

We grant stock-based awards under the OraSure Technologlcs Inc. 2000 Stock Award Plan as amended
and restated (the “2000 Plan™). The 2000 Plan permits stock-based awards to employees outside directors and
consultants or other third-party advisors. Awards which may be granted under the 2000 Plan include qua]:ﬁed
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted awards, performance
awards and other stock based awards.

Under the terms of the 2000 Plan, qualified incentive stock options for shares of our common stock may be
granted to eligible employees, including our officers. To date, options generally have been granted with ten-year
exercise periods and an exercise price not less than the fair market value on the date of grant. Options generally
vest over four years, with one quarter of the options vesting one year after grant and the remainder vesting on a
monthly basis over the next three years. The 2000 Plan also provides that nonqualified options may be granted at
a price not less than 75 percent of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of grant. The
option term and vesting schedule of such awards may either be unlimited or have a specified period in which to
vest and be exercised.
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|  Asof December 31 2006, 2,749,391 shares were available for future grants under the 2000 Plan,

The'fair value of each stock option was esumated on- the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes opuon-
pricing model using the following welghted average asswmptions:

| . .
ST . . oL . P

Year Ended
i ) o December 31,
Black-'Scholes dl.llliﬂn Valuation Assumptions - - ! ‘ 2006 ‘ 2005 E_QE
Risk-free interest rate(1) ... n e e e e e e 4.53% 372% 3.21%
Expected dividend yield . ... ... ... .. L — — —
Expected stock price volatility(2) ... ... . o it e 56% 58% 65%
Expected life of stock options (inyears)(3) ........... ... i, 5 4 5

(1) Based on the Treasury Securities constant mammy interest rate whose term is consistent wnh the expected
life of our stock options.

(2) Expected stock price volatility is based upon historical experience.

(3) Expected life of stock options is based upon historical expertence.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 was $4.85, $3.17 and $4.60, respectively.

Amounts recognized in the financial statements related to stock options were as follows:. .

- Year Ended
December 31, 2006
" Total compensation cost'during the year .. .....0............... e '$3,621,412
Amounts capitalized into inventory and property and equipment during the year . (468,754)
Amounts recogmzed in cost of products sold for amounts prev:ously capltallzed 264,038
Amounts charged against income, before income tax beneﬁt e e 1$3,416,696
!

Amount of related income tax benefit ... ... .l $ 842,239 -

As a result of adopting SFAS No. 123R, the Company's income before income taxes and net income for the
year ended December 31, 2006 were $3,416,696 and $2,574,457 lower, respectively, than if it had continued to
account for share-based compensation under APB Opinion No. 25. Basic and diluted earnings per share for
the year ended December 31, 2006 would have been $0.06 per share higher if the Company had not adopted
SFAS No. 123R.

As a result of modifying the vesling provisions of two grants made to former members of lhe Company 5
Board of Directors, the Company recognized $123,916 in compensatmn cost related to these modifications in the
year ended December 31, 2005.

The aggregate intrinsic value of optlons {the amount by which the market price of the stock on the date of
exercise exceeded the exercise price) exercised during the years ended December 31, 2006 2005 and 2004 was
$332,261, $4,338,143, and $1,326,796, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the stock option activity under the 2000 Plan:

o

Weighled-A\.rera-ge

i Weigilted-Average N Remaining Aggregate
o : .Exercise Price . Contractual Term *  Intrinsic
o .. Options Per Share (in years) . Value
Outstanding on January 1,2004 ... ... > 3,935,463 -$6742
Granted ..................... 1,629,891 8.07
Exercised ......... A . (370,800) 504 -
Forfeited .................... (320,050} 7.89
Oulsténding on December 31,2004 ... 4,874,504 6.98
Granted ..................... 778,572 6.60
Exercised .. ................ oo (1,009,794} 6.01
Forfeited ..... e (426,497) 7.55
Outstanding on December 31,2005 ... 4,216,785 *- 7.08 '
Granted ...... e 801,900 922
Exercised ... .. S (85,013) . 538" . . -
Forfeited .. ... . ............ (145,254) 7.99- :
Balance, December '3'1, 2006 ........ 4,788 418 $7.44 1.57 $4.409,463
Vested or expected to vest as of . - I
December 31,2006 ......... .. 4,638,197 © §7.44 7.57 $4,271,130
Exercisable on December 31,2006 ... 3,536,575 $7.12 E . '$4.,366,963

As of December 31,2006, there was $4,637,882 of unrecognized compensation expense related to invested
option awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options were $457,334, $6,067,869 and $1,904,161 for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. As a result of the*Company’s net operating loss
carryforward position, no actudl income tax'benefit was realized from stock option exercises for these periods.’”

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2006:
1 ' ' ' - " . ’, L
Options outstanding =~ Options iexercisable -
Weighted- . N R Co,
average Weighted- Weighted-
. remaining  average average
. woo A o . Number . life,in exercise Number = exercise
Range of exercise prices . . outstanding .  years price . exercisable price
S080-85.60 .:....«... . ... ..., . 858,895 1191 $475 679406 % 453
$3576-8684 .. ... .. ... ... ... ..... 486;953 . 5.23 5.96 480,160 . 596
$6.87 ..o ol e e . 63333 ; .539 . 687 63,333 . 6.87
8696 .. .......... SO L, .. 509452 608 . . 696 501,251, -6.96
$698-87.77 ..o . 863,943 591 749 669,359 742
$790-%8.18 ... ... .. e e 106,000 8.23 *8.05 32,603 3.03 -
$820 ... ...l e e 711,448 . 7.04. 8.20 563,156 820 -
$836-89.56 ........... e . 818,184 -, . 8.55 - 9.26 230,643, 9.18 .
$978-81223 ... ... e 365,210 5.54 10.57 311,604 10.63
$12.69 . .., 5,000 4.68 12.69 5,000 12.69

4788418 757 $ 744 3536575 S 7.12
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The 2000 Plan also permits us to grant restricted shares of our common stock to eligible employees,
including officers. Generally, these shares are nontransferable and are subject to three-year vesting requirements
or forfeiture, as determined by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors. The market value of
these shares at the date of grant is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period during which the restrictions
lapse. Compensation cost_of $1,969,178, $1,500,054 and $874,162 related to restricted shares was recogmzed
during the years ended December 31, 2006, 20{)5 and 2004, respectively. .

1

The following table summarizes restricted stock award activity under the 2000 Plan: -

Weighted-Average

Grant Date

] Shares Fair Value
Issued and unvested, January 1,2004 . .« .. ... . ... i, . 75,000 . $8.68
Granted . ... ... e e . 410,000 . 1.5
Vested .. e . = —

Forfeited ...................oooiia... PO - =

Issued and unvested, December 31,2004 . ... ... . . ot meennnns 485,000 7.89
Granted . ... e 332,188 . +6.00
Vested ... N (197,180} 9.26
Forfeited . ... . .. i e e e e (13,563) . 560
Issued and unvested, December 31,2005 ......... N 606,445 I 6.20
Granted . ... ..o e P © 465,313 .16
Vested ... e e e . (199,633) 6.99
Forfeited ... i i i e (65,071) 7.56

.. Issued and unvested, December 31,2006 ............. e e 807,054 $8:13 .

Issued and expected to vest, December 31,2006 .................... 802,242 $8.08

As of December 31, 2006, there was $5,136,029 of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested
restricted stock awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.7 years.

In connection with the vesting of restrieted shares during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we
purchased and immediately retired 65,519 and 63,080 shares with aggregate values of $631,509 and $601,347,
respectively, in satisfaction of minimum tax withholding -obligations. No shares were purchased and retired
during the year ended December 3 l, 2004,

SFAS No. 123R addresses the accounllng for awards issued as part of share-based payment arrangements in
exchange for employee services. Certain of the Company s share-based payment arrangements are outside the
scope of SFAS No. 123R and are subject to EITF Issue No. 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial
Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Cornpany’s Own Stock,” which requires that vested stock *
options held by certain nonemployee consultants be accounted for as liability-classified awards. The fair'value of
these vested and unexercised awards was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and $109,080
was reclassified from equity to other liabilities as of January .1, 2006. An additional $121,579 was reclassified for
options that vested during 2006. The fair value of these awards are remeasured at each financial reporting date
until the awards are settled or expire. As of December 31, 2006, $228,475 was included in other liabilities for
stock options to acquire 63,000 shares of common stock which remained unexercised.

. - r

Common Stock Warrants

As of December 31, 2006, warrants to purchase 120,000 shares of common stock at $6.13 per share were
outstanding. These warrants were issued on September 30, 1998 and expire on September 30, 2008.

F-22




11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES: : !

Sublicense Agreement . .o : v

In June 2004, we entered into a sublicense agreement with a third party, pursuant to which we have been
granted a limited, worldwide, non-exclusive sublicense to certain HIV-2 patents held by such party. Under the
terms of this sublicense agreement, we are obligated to pay royalties based on a percentage of our net sales of
certain products, which incorporate the technology covered by the licensed patents. Future minimum payments
under this agreement are as follows:

2007 ... U $ 500,000

2008 ..., L P 500,000
2000 ... . AP 500,000
2000 . e 500,000 !
1 L 500,000
Thercafter ...... ..o PO e 3,291,667

- o : C : $5,791,667

Royalnes from our commercial sale of products coveréd by the sublicense can bé credited against these
minimum royalty obligations. .

+ *

License Agreement

~ - In August 2003, we entered into a license agreement with third parties, pursuant to which we have been
granted a limited; personal, non-transferable, non-exclusive license related to certain HCV patents held by such
parties. Under the terms of the HCV license agreement, we aré also obligated to pay royalues based on our net
sales of certain prodicts which incorporate the technology covered by the licensed patents. Royalues under the
license agreement vary based upon the geographical territory where the product is sold. No minimum payments
are required under this agreement in 2007 or thereafier. We may, however, be required to pay addltlonal license
fees of up to $5,500,000, upon the’ achievement of specific development and/or commercial milestones.

Leases

We lease office and warehouse facilities under operating lease agreements. Future payments requxred under
these non-cancelable leases are as follows: ‘

2007 .+t $ 81,866
2008 .+ttt 68,480
2000 o 11413

$161,759

Rent expense for 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $624,479, $1,146,697, and $1,690,858, respectively.

Purchase Commitments

As of December 31, 2006, we had outstanding non-cancelable purchase commitments in the amount of
$5,349,799, of which $3,749,692, $198,340 and $1,401,767 are related to inventory, capital expenditures, and
other goods or services, respectively. '
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Employment Agreements . . .o .

Under terms of emp]oymer;t agreements with certain executive officers, extending through 2008, we .are
reqmred to pay each individual a base salary for continuing employment with our Company The agreements
requlre payments of $1,804,625 and $724 800 in 2007 and 2008, respectively.

-

Lin'gation . : o

From time-to-time, we are involved in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In
management’s opinion, based upon the advice of counsel, the outcome of such actions are not expected to have a
material adverse effect on our future financial position or results of .operations.

12. RETIREMENT PLANS:

401(k) Plan (the‘ “401(k) Pian™). The 401(k) Plan permits voluntary employee contributions to be excluded from
an empioyee’s current taxable income under provisions of Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) and the
regulations thereunder. The 401(k) Pian also provides for us to match employee contributions up to $4,000 per
year. Contributions to the 401(k) Plan, net of forfeitures, were $397,970, $361,629, and $330,552 in 2006, 2005,
and 2004, respectively.

"

|

|

|

Substantially all employees of the Company are eligible to participate in the OraSure Technologies, Inc.
|

|

|

| 13. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION:

|

,Based on guidance in SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related -
Informanon " we believe ,we operate within one reportable segment. Our products are sold pnnc1pally in the
United States and Europe Segmematlon of operating income and identifi able assets is not applicable since our
revenues outside the United States are export sales, and we do not have slgmﬁcant operating assets outside the
United States o : v

i B [ i . t Y

The following table represents total revenues by googl_’éphic area, based on the location of the customer
(amounts in thousands):

2006 2005 2004
United Stes ... ovvereeenenennnn . $56780 $59,859 . $47.843
EBurope ....... ... oe.. 9521 7868 4318
Otherregions .............. P N 1,854 1,639 1,847

$68,155 $69,366 $54,008
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14. QUARTERLY DATA (Unaudited):

]

The following tables summarize the quarterly results of operations for each of the quarters in 2006 and
2005. These quarterly results are unaudited, but in the opinion of management, have been prepared on the same
basis as our audited financial information and include all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of the information set forth herein (all amounts in thousands,

except per share amounts).

Revenues
- Costs and expenses

Operating income
Other income {(expense), net

Income before income taxes
Income tax provision

Net income

Earnings per share(i)
Basic

Revenues
Costsand expenses ........covvvveiiiiians

Operating Income
Other income (expense), net

Income before income taxes
Income taxes (benefit)

Net income

Eamings per share(1)
Basic

2006 Results
Three months ended Year ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31, December 31,
2006 2006 2066 2006 2006
$15217 $17,564  $17,639 $17,735°  $68,155
14,331 16,261 . 15,160 16,940 62,692
886 1,303 2,479 795 5,463
791 896 920 992 3,599
1,677 2,199 3,399 1,787 9,062
777 991 1,265 761 3,794
$ 900 $ 1,208 § 2,134 $ 1,06 $ 5268
$ 002 § 003 $ 0.05 $ 0.02 $ 011
$ 002 § 003 $ 005 5 0.02 $ 0.11
2005 Results
Three months ended Year ended
March 31, June30, September30, December 3}, December 31,
2005 2005 2005 2005 2005

315,828 $17,430 $18,077 $ 18,031 $ 69,366
14,613 16,468 14,863 15,849 61,793
1,215 962 3,214 2,182 1,573
346 481 594 725 2,146
1,561 1,443 3,808 2,907 9,719

—_ — — (17,729) (17,729)

$ 1,561 § 1,443 $ 3,808 $ 20,636 $ 27,448
$ 003 § 003 $ 0.08 $ 045 $ 061
$ 003 $ 003 $ 0.08 $ 044 $ 059

(1) The summation of the quarterly amounts may not equal the year-end amounts due to the use of weighted-

average shares for each period.
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